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PART |

The statements contained in this Annual ReportarmFL0-K, including under the section titled “Maeagent’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations” and other sections of this Annual Rgpoclude forward-
looking statements within the meaning of SectioA &7the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, ardi®@e21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, dExisbange Act, including, without limitation, statents regarding our or
our management’s expectations, hopes, beliefjtiotes or strategies regarding the future, suabuagstimates regarding
anticipated operating losses, future revenues anjdqied expenses; our liquidity and our expectatieegarding our needs for
and ability to raise additional capital; our alilib manage our expenses effectively and raiséutihds needed to continue our
business; our belief that there are unmet neetteidiagnosis and treatment of diabetic neuropatityour expectations
surrounding NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS; our glawevelop and commercialize our products; theesgand timing of
our studies; our ability to obtain and maintainulegpry approval of our existing products and amyrfe products we may
develop; regulatory and legislative developmenthi@éUnited States and foreign countries; the perémce of our third-party
manufacturers; our ability to obtain and maintaitellectual property protection for our producte successful development of
our sales and marketing capabilities; the sizegaodith of the potential markets for our productd anr ability to serve those
markets; the rate and degree of market acceptdrasgyduture products; our reliance on key sciéntiianagement or
personnel; the payment and reimbursement methadkhysprivate or governmental third-party payens] ather factors
discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Fd+K br any document incorporated by reference hesetherein. The
words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “contiue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan” andimilar expressions may
identify forward-looking statements, but the abseatthese words does not mean that a statemeat ferward-looking. The
forward-looking statements contained in this anmapbrt are based on our current expectations alefd concerning future
developments and their potential effects on usrdban be no assurance that future developmemtstiafj us will be those that
we have anticipated. These forward-looking statémigwvolve a number of risks, uncertainties (soffmeluch are beyond our
control) or other assumptions that may cause aotsalts or performance to be materially differean those expressed or
implied by these forward-looking statements. Thésles and uncertainties include, but are not lichiie, those factors
described in the section titled “Risk Factors.” Bldoone or more of these risks or uncertaintiesenmltze, or should any of our
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may fram those projected in these forward-lookingesteents. We undertake no
obligation to update or revise any forward-lookstgtements, whether as a result of new informafiganre events or
otherwise, except as may be required under appdicazurities laws. Unless the context otherwiggires, all references to
“we”, “us”, the “Company”, or “NeuroMetrix” in thig\nnual Report on Form 10-K refer to NeuroMetrixg|

” W ” o ” o ” o«

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Our Business — An Overview

We are a medical device company focused on thendgg and treatment of the neurological complicetiof diabetes.
People with diabetes do not effectively regulatgrtblood glucose, or sugar, levels leading to olualy high levels of glucose
in the blood, called hyperglycemia, and occasigniadiuts of low glucose in the blood, called hypagimia. The primary
reason that glucose levels are not effectively laeggd in people with diabetes is that those withdisease do not produce
insulin (Type | diabetes) or are resistant to themal physiological action of insulin (Type Il dietes). Many Type |l diabetics
eventually require insulin because production eftibrmone by their pancreas decreases with timee Tdiabetes usually
affects children and teenagers whereas Type lletisbhas typically been a disease of adults oeeagdle of 50. However, over
the past decade, Type Il diabetes is occurringpimger adults, which can probably be attributekigher levels of obesity in
this age group.

Diabetes is a worldwide epidemic. Recent studiémase the worldwide prevalence of diabetes tover 850 million
people, of which approximately 90% are of the Tiipariety. Within the United States, there are 028 million people with
diabetes and another 80 million people with prdselias, which represents a constellation of contitEuch as obesity and high
triglyceride levels that are likely to progresdtabetes. In the United States, the annual caseafing diabetes is over $100
billion. Although there are dangerous acute matatems of diabetes, the primary burden of theatisas in the long term
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complications of chronic hyperglycemia. These caoapions include among other things cardiovascadisease, nerve disease
and resulting pathological conditions such as tdo¢rs and amputation, eye disease leading torsissl and kidney failure.

The most common long-term complication of diabetdsich affects over 50% of the diabetic populatismerve disease or
diabetic neuropathy. There are different formsiabdtic neuropathy; the most common are diabetiplperal neuropathy, or
DPN, carpal tunnel syndrome, or CTS, and autonomaigopathy. DPN is a systemic nerve disease thadiise in the feet and
lower legs. It may lead to loss of sensation infdet, severe pain in the feet and legs, and isekésk of falling. DPN is the
primary trigger for diabetic foot ulcers which mpsogress to the point where amputation is requiPetple with diabetes have
a 15% to 25% lifetime risk of developing a footed@and 15% of foot ulcers lead to amputation. Fbedrs are among the most
expensive complications of diabetes, with a typazadt of $5,000 to $50,000 per episode. CTS isezhbyg focal damage to the
median nerve as it passes from the forearm intbdinel, through the wrist. When the median nereeispressed it can lead to
symptoms in the hand including pain, numbness J@sglof strength. Autonomic neuropathy is a systefiisease of the
autonomic nerves, which regulate the heart, digessexual function, and other essential bodilycfioms. Damage to these
nerves leads to a host of clinical complicatiorat thclude an increased risk of sudden death, tdwisk of stroke, digestion
difficulties and impotence.

Most people with diabetes receive health care titteim primary care settings where physicians Haw#ed access to
sophisticated diagnostic tools to detect diabegigrapathy early and monitor its progress and resptmtreatment. As a result,
they rely primarily on clinical examination of patits which, although it is an important part of évaluation of a patient with
diabetes, has limited sensitivity and specificitylaan usually only detect later stage diseaseenheatment options and
efficacy are compromised.

Early detection of DPN is particularly importantchese there are no treatment options once thes\baxe degenerated. At
the present time, the most widely used and recordetkdiagnostic method for DPN is the 5.07/10-g nfitaraent test. This
test assesses the patient’s ability to detect foeasure application in the foot. The inabilitydietect a monofilament indicates
that the patient lacks adequate sensation to pribteic feet from mechanical insults that can leatbot ulcers; a condition
known as loss of protection sensation, or LOPSh@lgh the monofilament is an important clinicat tédss insensitive to early
DPN where interventions may slow or even halt fertherve damage. Nerve conduction studies, or N&Sobjective
electrical tests of nerve function. They are comigd the gold standard diagnostic method for DPdNcam detect mild nerve
damage before it is expressed as clinical symptdl@$ have typically been provided by specialistagiexpensive equipment
and therefore access has been limited, particularlgommon conditions such as DPN.

Currently, there are limited treatment optionsd@betic neuropathies. There are no approved diseaslifying treatments
for DPN, although a few pharmacological candidatesin clinical trials. Several large studies halkrewn that reducing
hyperglycemia lowers the risk of developing DPN dedreases its severity. There is also observatitaita that suggests that
reductions in triglyceride levels slows the progies of DPN. Several drugs, such as duloxetinepaadabalin, have been
approved to treat the pain associated with DPNc¢kvis referred to as painful diabetic neuropathyfddtunately, these drugs,
which are also anti-depressants or anti-seizuréaatadns, have systemic effects and are thereftism@ssociated with side
effects. Like DPN, autonomic neuropathies are ditfito manage; however, early identification mégwa physicians to lower
cardiovascular risk. Mild to moderate CTS is efifiealiy treated with conservative measures such gtisyyg and local steroid
injections. More advanced CTS is usually managegiaaily. In either case, it is essential to intame before extensive nerve
degeneration has occurred.

Our Strategy

We believe that there are large and important ummeetis in both the diagnosis and treatment of d@abeuropathies. As a
medical device company with both unique and sulistiegxperience in devices to measure and altéplperal nerve function,
we believe we are in the unique position to additesse unmet needs through the development of mpoeptietary medical
devices. Therefore, we are focused on developidg an
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marketing medical devices for the diagnosis anattnent of diabetic neuropathies. We believe thaakeethe only medical
device company with a strategic focus on the dialmeturopathy market and our goal is to be the dantiplayer in this field.

Our key business strategies for 2013 by which wenith to advance our objectives in the diabetic opathy market
include:

Driving Commercial Adoption of Our Proprietary Pragtts for Diabetic Neuropathy in the United States.

« NC-stat DPNCheck, our diagnostic test for diabetic peripheral npatby has now been on the market for over a year
since launch in late 2011. Revenues in 2012 weaeyn$1.5 million. Importantly, we were able tottesoduct
acceptance in several market segments and havéoeased on the managed care market as the masttatér near-
term revenue opportunity. Within managed care, rgespecifically targeting Medicare Advantage previl Medicare
Advantage providers assume financial responsilality the associated risks for the health care obsteir patients.
For Medicare Advantage providers, we believe th@tdtht DPNCheck presents a compelling clinical eeitie early
detection of neuropathy allowing for earlier claiéntervention to help mitigate the effects of repathy on both
patient quality of life and cost of care. Also, tliagnosis and documentation of neuropathy provimeNC-stat
DPNCheck helps clarify the patient health profileiet, in turn, may have a direct, positive effettbe Medicare
Advantage premium received by the provider. The ikbrg Advantage market encompasses approximatatyillién
covered lives or about 27% of the total Medicarpytation. We believe that this represents an atd@mannual market
in the range of $75 to $150 million. We have a $nsahior level commercial operations team focusedeveloping tr
Medicare Advantage market.

e SENSUS, our therapeutic device for relief of chronicrattable pain was launched in January 2013. We\rethis
product will be attractive to endocrinologists, f@idsts, primary care physicians, and other phgsaithat are
challenged with trying to manage pain in their @at$ with painful diabetic neuropathy. The preveaéeaf painful
diabetic neuropathy is approximately 16% to 26%exdple with diabetes, which represents a 4 to Bamipatient
group. We estimate the attainable market for SENSui#d be approximately 10% of this patient growpich we
believe represents potential annual revenue inahge of $150 to $200 million. SENSUS is a presimipproduct and
our initial challenge will be to obtain broad, matal exposure and acceptance among physiciansniéfedito create
demand by contracting with a number of independearable medical equipment (DME) suppliers employsates
representatives who detail physicians. Physiciasgiptions will be fulfilled by the DME supplievgho will maintain ¢
stock of SENSUS devices and consumables. As ofuaepid5, 2013, we had seven regional DME supplidgtts 30
sales representatives. Our goal is to build natiomeerage and have 100 sales representativesdy20di3 and 250
sales representatives by the end of 2013. Furdlueing 2013, we have set a goal of having 2,00 pt treated with
SENSUS, which would result in approximately $1 ioillin product revenue.

Commercializing NC-stat DPNCheck in Select Interiatal Markets Using a Distribution
Network. We are targeting select international marketsre/aee believe that the combination of a high preneé of diabetes
plus support from the local payer system will suppiC-stat DPNCheck and, eventually, SENSUS. Tinétuides countries in
Western Europe, including Germany and the Nethdglawhere we have both CE marking for NC-stat DP&Rtand
established distribution, as well as East Asiduitiog Japan and South Korea. While our resouroewtted to this effort are
modest, we believe that this approach could camtgilneaningful revenue in 2013 while positioningarsinternational growth
in subsequent years.

Leveraging a More Efficient Operating Structure witFuture Revenue Growth During the course of 2012 we modified
our operating structure to focus more narrowlytemhigh-value opportunities for NC-stat DPNCheclt SENSUS that can be
pursued via independent distributors and a smafinaercial operations team. This has reduced ourtipgrexpenses and,
more significantly, improved our future flexibilitp generate increased sales volume without thieof@slding sales
representatives and field clinical support. Our
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operating expenses during 2012 totaled $14.0 milliod we forecast 2013 operating expenses to the irange of $11 to $12
million, a reduction of 14% to 21%. We believe vamanaintain and leverage this approximate operatipgnse level over the
next several years as our diabetes business grows.

Managing Our Legacy Neurodiagnostics Business totibpze Cash Flow. Our historical neurodiagnostics business
generated $6.1 million in revenue during 2012 witbss margins exceeding 50%. There are few digsit operating expenses
of our neurodiagnostics business. Two years agshifted our strategic focus toward more attractigportunities in diabetes
care and we determined that we would manage thacieneurodiagnostic business for its cash corttobuather than growth.
This decision was primarily due to changes in timbursement environment which were challengingfaedented few
practical alternatives. We see the legacy busio@stnuing to decline as we operate it for castvflSee “— Legacy
Neurodiagnostics Business.”

Our Business Model

We develop and market neurodiagnostic systems wigfiibally consist of a medical device plus sing&ient-use
biosensors or electrodes. Other accessories areffé¢sed to our customers. Our goal for theseesystis to build an installed
base of active customer accounts and distribubatsregularly reorder consumables to meet theidaed/e successfully
implemented this model when we started our busingssthe NC-stat system and applied it to subsetjpeoduct generations
and, more recently, to the ADVANCE NCS/EMG Systdine planning for our diabetes care pipeline, intlgdNC-stat
DPNCheck, SENSUS and other products in developnghgsed on the device plus consumables businedsim

Marketed Products
NC-stat DPNCheck

NC-stat DPNCheck is a fast, accurate, and quaingtaerve conduction test that is used to evalsgggemic neuropathies
such as DPN. It is designed to be used by primary physicians, endocrinologists, podiatrists aheroclinicians at the point-
of-care to objectively detect, stage, and monitBNDThe device measures nerve conduction velopityrasponse amplitude of
the sural nerve, a nerve in the lower leg and aritlese parameters are widely recognized as senaitid specific biomarkers
of DPN.

NC-stat DPNCheck is comprised of: (1) an electrdraind-held device and (2) a single patient useeb®ar. In addition, we
provide users with PC-based software that linkhéodevice via a USB connection. This PC softw#loava physicians to
generate reports and manage their sural nerve ctoduata.

NC-stat DPNCheck is a modified version of our poergly marketed NC-stat nerve testing device, asdira same clinical
indications with respect to DPN. The modified devitas the same functionality with respect to soeave testing as the
original device; however, the cost of the electtdmnd-held unit and the consumable biosensorbdwsreduced by
approximately 50%. More than 1.7 million patientdies have been performed using our NC-stat teoclggand there have
been approximately 6.3 million nerve tests, inahgdinearly 700,000 sural nerve tests. It has beesubject of many published
studies, including several studies specificallyragdding the accuracy and clinical utility of thevide in assessment of DPN.

SENSUS

The SENSUS pain therapy device is a transcutangleatrical nerve stimulator, or TENS, designedrédief of chronic,
intractable pain. We believe that SENSUS will keaative to endocrinologists, podiatrists, and puiyncare physicians that are
challenged with trying to manage pain in their @at$ with painful diabetic neuropathy, or PDN. Wa&daused our unique
expertise in peripheral nerve stimulation in theedepment of SENSUS which incorporates several fetary features for ease
of patient use and physician reporting. SENSUSmprised of: (1) an electronic device with stragttis worn on the upper
calf and (2) an electrode which attaches to thécdeWe provide prescribing physicians with PC-lbsaftware that links to
the device via a USB connection thereby allowirenttto download a record of the patient’s use ofiihdce.

A recent evidence based review by the American Acgdof Neurology determined that TENS was a usefudlality for
managing pain associated with diabetic periphezatopathy. Our assessment of currently
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available TENS devices indicated that the deviceseatly on the market do not meet the needs aépstwith PDN because
they are not optimized for PDN but are insteadetad at low back pain, sports medicine, and retatin applications.
Furthermore, they are difficult to administer aadd to be complicated for clinicians and patients.

Our SENSUS device and electrodes were clearedeblfEA for commercial distribution during 2012. Whaiedically
indicated and supported by proper documentatioNS Bre generally reimbursed by Medicare and mamyneercial insurance
companies under the DME benefit.

ADVANCE System

Our legacy neurodiagnostics business is basedeoABIVANCE NCS/EMG System, or the ADVANCE System,ighhis a
comprehensive platform for the performance of tradal nerve conduction studies and invasive ed@aytography procedures.
The ADVANCE System is comprised of: (1) variousdagf electrodes and needles, (2) the ADVANCE deaitd related
modules, and (3) a communication hub that enahkeghysician's office to network their device teittpersonal computers
and our servers for data archiving, report genematind other network services. The ADVANCE Sysiemost commonly
used with proprietary nerve specific electrodeyard hese electrode arrays combine multiple indigictlectrodes and
embedded microelectronic components into a singliept-use disposable unit. We currently markeesalifferent nerve
specific electrode arrays.

Historically, the ADVANCE System has been marketed broad range of physician specialties inclugiagrologists,
orthopedic surgeons, primary care physicians, adderinologists, and utilized for a variety of difént clinical indications
including assessment of CTS, low back and leg aid,DPN. It is most commonly used in the assessafgliTS. Numerous
papers have been published on the use of thisaéadnin this clinical application.

Products in Development
SENTINEL™

SENTINEL is a device under development that isndesl to provide sensory enhancement in the feisttdrgeted at
patients who have lost sensory perception in thetextremities, likely as a result of diabeteg] are at greater risk of falling
and developing foot ulcers. The objective of teishinology is to relay sensory input from the feebtigh the nervous system to
the brain thereby improving balance and more imatedhwareness of foot insults. SENTINEL is in tbaaeptual stages of
product development and a target launch date hasesm set.
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The following chart summarizes our previously méekieproducts, currently marketed products, and yrtsdin
development.

No. Patients
Product Time on Market Technology Primary Clinical Indications Tested/Treated
NC-stat* Q2 1999 -Q3 201C Nerve Conductiol Diagnosis and evaluation of  nearly 1,700,000
CTS, low back pain, peripheral
neuropathies (including DPN)
ADVANCE Q2 2008 — present Nerve Conductiol Diagnosis and evaluation of >103,000
Invasive Needle  CTS, low back pain, peripheral
EMG neuropathies (including DPN)
NC-stat Q3 2011 - present Nerve Conductiol Diagnosis and evaluation of est. >50,000
DPNCheck peripheral neuropathies, such
as DPN
SENSUS Q1 2013 — present Transcutaneous  Relief for chronic, intractable ~100
Electrical Nerve pain, such as painful diabetic
Stimulation neuropathy
SENTINEL TBD Proprietary Advanced DPN N/A

*  Support was discontinued in the first quarte61.2.

Customers

Our customers include physicians, clinics, hospjtalanaged care organizations, retail health bss&se independent
distributors in the United States and abroad, amdlile medical equipment suppliers. Our NC-stat BR&tk device was
launched in late 2011 and approximately 1,000 d=vitave been placed with customers through Febiifar8013. These
customers include managed care organizations| hetalth businesses, endocrinologists, podiataistsprimary care
physicians. As of February 15, 2013, we had araliest base of approximately 1,800 active custorasiisg our ADVANCE
System. These customers include primary care natenedicine, orthopedic and hand surgeons, padigine physicians,
neurologists, physical medicine and rehabilitatmnPM&R, physicians, and neurosurgeons. Our SEN8&i&ce was launched
in January 2013 and is being sold to DME suppligrs, in turn, distribute the product along with saumables directly to
patients. At December 31, 2012, one customer a¢eduor 11.5% of accounts receivable. For the yeadeed December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010, no single customer accodatadore than 10% of revenue.

Geographic Information

Substantially all of our assets, revenues, andresgeefor the years ended December 31, 2012, 268210 were located
at or derived from operations in the United Staltiesddition, we have had limited sales throughritistors in the United
Kingdom, the Netherlands, India, and various otteemtries. For each of the years ended Decembe&03P, 2011, and 2010,
international revenues accounted for approximatéty 6%, and 2%, respectively, of our total revenues

Sales, Marketing, and Distribution

NC-stat DPNCheck, our diagnostic test for DPN, Veasched late in 2011 into the United States mddeetndocrinology
and podiatry, followed by market evaluations andades efforts in primary care, retail health, armhaged care. While we
believe that all of these segments hold potentialhave narrowed our focus to managed care, arvifisptly Medicare
Advantage providers, which we believe representribst attractive near-term opportunity. The MedicAdvantage market
encompasses approximately 15 million covered lowegbout 27% of the total Medicare population. Véédve that this
represents an attainable market in the range of&$850 million. We have a four person senior leeenmercial operations
team led by our Chief Operating Officer that isUfsed on developing the Medicare Advantage market.
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SENSUS, our therapeutic device for relief of chepimitractable pain, was launched in January 2@d8believe this
product will be attractive to endocrinologists, fadsts, and primary care physicians that arelehgked with trying to manage
pain in their patients with diabetes. The prevadeoicpainful diabetic neuropathy is 16 — 26% ofgdeavith diabetes
representing a 4 — 6 million patient group. Thaiattble market potential for SENSUS, we believejdde 10% of this patient
group representing annual revenue in the rangd®s® $o $200 million. We have seven regional DMErihsitors in place with
30 sales representatives as of February 15, 201r3g@al in building national coverage is 100 satgsesentatives by mid-2013
and 250 sales representatives by the end of 2Qtthd¥, during 2013 we have set a goal of 2,00&pts treated with SENSUS
resulting in $1 million in product revenue.

Our installed base of ADVANCE accounts is suppoligur customer service department which includdsector and
three representatives. We are not actively pursnégvg ADVANCE customers. Interest expressed in né@WANCE systems
by potential customers is handled by our custoresri@e department and our marketing departmergrrationally,
ADVANCE sales and account support is handled bynatwork of independent distributors who are deddby our European
Sales Manager.

Our marketing support for NC-stat DPNCheck and&DivVANCE is provided by our Senior Vice President@mmercial
Operations and two marketing staff.

We invest significant effort in technical, clinicalnd business practices training for our commkogarations team,
marketing staff and independent sales represeagatie also require attendance at periodic sattpr@muct training
programs. Promotion and sales of medical devicesighly regulated not only by the FDA, but alsothg U.S. Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, and théc®f Inspector General, or OIG, and, outsidehded States, by other
international bodies, and are subject to federdlsaate fraud and abuse enforcement activities:-SeeDA and other
Governmental Regulation” below.

Manufacturing and Supply

We perform final assembly and servicing of our né¢@+stat DPNCheck and SENSUS devices at our copteadquarters
facility. We rely on an outside contractor for tin@nufacture and servicing of our ADVANCE device afgb for the
components that we use in the buildup for NC-sRNCheck and SENSUS. We rely on outside contraéborthe manufacture
of our consumable biosensor/electrodes. With thejgxon of the biosensors for use with our NC-BfalNCheck devices,
which we acquire from two manufacturers, we doawtently maintain alternative manufacturing sosrf@ our NC-stat
DPNCheck, SENSUS or ADVANCE devices, communicatiabs, biosensors/electrodes, or any other finigjoedis products.
In outsourcing, we target companies that meet AD#&rnational Organization for Standardization|®®, and other quality
standards supported by internal policies and pnaeesd Supplier performance is maintained and mah#geugh a corrective
action program ensuring all product requiremengsnaget or exceeded. Following the receipt of prosloctproduct components
from our third-party manufacturers, we conductriBeessary inspection, final assembly, kitting, pgakg, and labeling at our
corporate headquarters facility. We believe theaaufacturing relationships minimize our capitaleéstment, provide us with
manufacturing expertise, and help control costs.

Sunburst EMS, Inc., or Sunburst, has been manufagtour NC-stat devices since November 2005. Wered into a
supply agreement with Sunburst during 2006 fomtlamufacturing and supply of our neurodiagnostidaiss Sunburst
manufactures the current generation of our ADVAN{&lzice as well as the NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSIb&ssemblies at
a facility in Massachusetts.

Polymer Flexible Circuits, Inc., or Parlex, hasteganufacturing our nerve specific electrodes searty 1999. In 2011
Parlex began manufacturing the NC-stat DPNChecgdisors. In August 2006, we entered into a muteaityusive
manufacturing and supply agreement with Parlexyamsto which Parlex will manufacture and supply$o and we will
purchase from Parlex, at agreed upon prices péralhof our requirements of nerve conductionitestlectrodes for resale in
the United States. Under the agreement, Parleadra@®d not to manufacture electrodes to be userkésure nerve conduction
for any other company during the term of the ages®mand, in some cases, for a period of one yeaedlfter. This agreement
will continue indefinitely until terminated by eih party upon not less than 18 months prior
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written notice to the other party. Parlex manufeeswour electrodes at a facility in Massachusettsadso has the ability to
perform certain manufacturing steps for our elatgmat a second site located in the United Kingdom.

Katecho, Inc., or Katecho, a full service origieguipment manufacturer (OEM) specializing in meldicad cosmetic
devices manufactures biosensors for use with oustd€CDPNCheck devices in international marketsiaitted
manufacturing SENSUS electrodes during 2012 undenal commercial terms contained in our purchadersr Katecho
manufactures electrodes at its facility in lowa.

We and our third-party manufacturers are registeiigiithe FDA and subject to compliance with FDAatjty system
regulations. We are also ISO registered and undeegoent quality system audits by European agen€er ADVANCE
System and NC-stat DPNCheck are cleared for magketithin the United States, Canada, and the E@mopmion. In
addition, our SENSUS Pain Management System isedifar marketing in the United States. Our fagil# subject to periodic
inspections by regulatory authorities, and may vgaeompliance inspections conducted by the FDA@mtesponding state
agencies. As a registered device manufacturer, Wemndergo regularly scheduled FDA quality systerspections. However,
additional FDA inspections may occur if deemed seagy by the FDA.

Research and Development

We believe that we have research and developméid)Rapability that is unique to the industry. Kenembers of our
R&D management team have worked together for owacade. This team includes the extensive involwemieour founder
and Chief Executive Officer who holds both M.D. @lD. degrees. The R&D group consists of 11 peapttuding two who
hold M.D. degrees and three who hold Ph.D. degiHes. group has extensive experience in neuroplygipobiomedical
instrumentation, signal processing, biomedical sensand information systems. The R&D group wotksely with our
marketing group and our customers to design newnastified products that are focused on improvingical outcomes. Our
clinical programs are led by our Chief Medical ©fi who is a board-certified endocrinologist wikttemsive diabetes
management experience.

Our research and development efforts are priméodysed in the following areas:

« Enhancements to our first generation -stat DPNCheck deviceWe are focused on improving NC-stat DPNCheck’s
clinical utility, enhancing device usability, integing into customer electronic medical recordsl laavering
manufacturing costs. We are also in the procesvalfiating the design of a second generation NEs&lCheck
device.

« Enhancements to our first generation SENSUS pairafly device With the recent launch of our SENSUS device, we
anticipate customer requests to enhance usatflgp, we have begun to identify improvements thatimtend to make
in designing a second generation SENSUS device.

« Development of the SENTINEL sensory enhancemdatt. We are in the product conceptualization stagafo
system which would relay sensory information frofioat lacking physical sensation into the healtbgion of the
nervous system with the objective of promoting ioyad balance, lessening falls and minimizing fdoers.

e Oversee our support to clinical studies that emmloy NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS produdfge presently are
involved in six studies that use NC-stat DPNChecthe evaluation of neuropathy in persons with eliab under
various study conditions. These studies will exp#medclinical foundation for use of NC-stat DPNCk&chich, in turn,
should support future adoption. We are developiag®for clinical studies employing SENSUS.

In addition to these core areas of research andla@wment focus, we are also exploring additionalichl applications
within the diagnosis and treatment of diabetic npathy for our core technology and expertise.

Research and development expenses were approxradtél million, $3.9 million, and $5.9 million fahe years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.
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Clinical Programs

We maintain a clinical program under the directidrour Chief Medical Officer, who is a board cadd endocrinologist
with extensive experience in diabetes. Our clingralgrams are comprised of internal, collaboratire] external clinical
studies. Internal clinical studies are designediamplemented directly by us for the purposes ofipit design and early
clinical validation. Collaborative studies are cantbd together with leading researchers arounavidril to provide clinical
validation and to explore the clinical utility oiloproducts. External studies are entirely indepandf us, although in many
cases the researchers request unrestricted goarfitsancial and/or material support, such as ®rides and consumables.
External studies may examine the clinical perforogaand utility of our products or our products mhayused as outcomes
measures.

We actively seek to publish our clinical study fesin leading peer-reviewed journals while alseamraging our clinical
collaborators and clinical study grant recipietsld the same.

Following is a list of external studies involvingetuse of our products which are currently underway

Institution Initiated Study Focus Product Duration Subjects
Ipswich Diabetes Centre, Fall 2011 Evaluation of small fiber NC-stat 4years 400
Ipswich Hospital (UK) neuropathy in patients with DPNChecl
diabetes
Royal Hallamshire Hospital ~ Mid 2012 Evaluation of DPN based on NC-stat 1 year 120
University of severity of diabetes DPNChecl
Sheffield (UK)
Joslin Diabetes Center Mid 2012 Effect of weight loss on DPN NC-stat 1year 50
DPNCheck
Toronto General Hospital, Mid 2012 Assessment of various NC-stat 6 months 140
University of Toronto neuropathy measurement DPNCheck
modalities
Institute for Clinical Mid 2012 Assessment of DPN in newly NC-stat 6 months 150
Diabetology, Heinrich diagnosed Type 2 diabetes  DPNChecl
Heine University patients
Department of Diabetes, Fall 2012 Comparison of DPNCheck NC-stat 6 months 100
Poole Hospital (UK) with Vibratory Perception DPNCheck
Testing
First Vitals Health Early 201! Effect of aggressive NC-stat 3years 600

intervention on foot disease f DPNCheck
high risk patients

Competition

Other than NC-stat DPNCheck, we believe that tieoairrently no objective and standardized tesDBN widely
available at the point-of-care. The American DiaBeAssociation, or ADA, and other organization®nemend at least annual
evaluation of all people with diabetes for DPN. Roeost and availability, this screen is typicglgrformed with a simple
(5.07/10g) monofilament. This subjective methochiifees late stage neuropathy where interventiageiserally limited to foot
care. Experts in the field have indicated thatdhism large unmet need for a practical, objecting, sensitive test for diabetic
neuropathy that can be widely deployed in the rgedre of all people with diabetes. Monofilamgbt®7/10g) are a
commodity sold by a number of medical supply congean

With respect to SENSUS, there are numerous manurscof transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulaterices. We
believe that the largest company is Empi, Inc. Whécpart of DJO Incorporated. We further belidvattmost of the current
manufacturers are focused on low back pain, spoeetticine, and rehabilitation rather than on paidfabetic neuropathy. As a
result, we are not aware of any devices that aiguely optimized for use in treating painful dialbeteuropathy. There are a
few companies that claim that
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their devices have specific utility for painful bitic neuropathy; however, we do not believe thes¢ claims have been widely
validated through adequate clinical studies.

There are several companies that sell neurodiaigriestices. These companies include Cadwell Labdest, Inc. and
Natus Medical Incorporated. Natus Medical Incorpedehas substantially greater financial resourgas tve do. Natus Medical
Incorporated and Cadwell Laboratories, Inc. havel#ished reputations as having effective worldwddstribution channels for
medical instruments to neurologists and PM&R phgsis.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarkgyrights, trade secrets, and other intellectuaperty laws,
nondisclosure agreements and other measures &cpoatr proprietary technology, intellectual prdpeights, and know-how.
We hold issued utility patents covering a numbengdortant aspects of our NC-stat, SENSUS, ADVAN@EG NC-stat
DPNCheck products. We believe that in order to leaeempetitive advantage, we must develop and miaithe proprietary
aspects of our technologies. We also require oyl@raes, consultants and advisors, whom we expegbtk on our products,
to agree to disclose and assign to us all inveatgamceived, developed using our property, or whétdite to our business.
Despite any measures taken to protect our intelégroperty, unauthorized parties may attempofy@spects of our products
or to obtain and use information that we regargragrietary.

Patents

As of December 31, 2012, we had 38 issued U.Snfmtene issued foreign patent, and 17 pendingpapplications,
including nine U.S. applications, five internatioR&LT applications, and three foreign national eygpions. We have filed a
utility patent application for NC-stat DPNCheck aambther utility patent application for SENSUS.

Our issued design patents begin to expire in 2848,our issued utility patents begin to expireG@i2 In particular, seven
of our issued U.S. utility patents covering vari@aspects of our current products will expire ongame date in 2017. Although
the patent protection for material aspects of aadpcts covered by the claims of the patents weilldst at that time, we have
additional patents and patent applications diretdemther novel inventions that will have patemtrte extending beyond 2017.

The medical device industry is characterized byetkistence of a large number of patents and freditgration based on
allegations of patent infringement. Patent litigatcan involve complex factual and legal questians its outcome is
uncertain. Any claim relating to infringement oft@ats that is successfully asserted against usretpyre us to pay substantial
damages. Even if we were to prevail, any litigattonld be costly and time-consuming and would ditkee attention of our
management and key personnel from our businesatigres. Our success will also depend in part ometiinfringing patents
issued to others, including our competitors an@pidl competitors. If our products are found tvinge the patents of others,
our development, manufacture, and sale of thesnpat products could be severely restricted ohitnited. In addition, our
competitors may independently develop similar tedbgies. Because of the importance of our patertfgm to our business,
we may lose market share to our competitors if ailetd protect our intellectual property rights.

A patent infringement suit brought against us nagd us or any strategic partners or licenseew{o®@ delay developing,
manufacturing, or selling potential products that @aimed to infringe a third-party’s intellectymbperty, unless that party
grants us rights to use its intellectual propdriysuch cases, we may be required to obtain licettspatents or proprietary
rights of others in order to continue to commeizébur products. However, we may not be able tainkany licenses required
under any patents or proprietary rights of thirdtipa on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if weenable to obtain rights to the
third-party’s intellectual property, these rightayrbe non-exclusive, thereby giving our competitarsess to the same
intellectual property. Ultimately, we may be unatiecommercialize some of our potential productmay have to cease some
of our business operations as a result of patémmgement claims, which could severely harm ousibess.
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Trademarks

We hold domestic registrations for the marks NEUREIRIX and NC-stat. We use a trademark for ADVANGE-stat
DPNCheck and SENSUS. We hold certain foreign trad&megistrations for the marks NEUROMETRIX and Ni@&t.

Third-Party Reimbursement

Procedures performed with our neurodiagnostic nadievices including ADVANCE and NC-stat DPNCheciynbe paid
for by third-party payers, including government ltie@rograms, such as Medicare, and private ins@amd managed care
organizations. The 2013 Physicians Fee Scheduliésped by CMS includes CPT 95905 for nerve condurcsitudies
performed with pre-configured electrode arrays saghre used with the NC-stat DPNCheck device rm@DVANCE
System.

We believe that physicians are generally receiv@igmbursement under CPT 95905 from Medicare fovaenepnduction
studies performed using pre-configured electrodayarthat meet the medical necessity requiremarttseir local Medicare
region but that commercial insurers are generatypnoviding reimbursement. Reimbursement by tipiadty payers is an
important element of success for medical devicepanies. We do not foresee a significant near-temprévement in
reimbursement for procedures performed with ADVAN&HE NC-stat DPNCheck.

In the United States, some insured individualsraceiving their medical care through managed cesgrams which
monitor and often require pre-approval of the sEsithat a member will receive. Some managed cagegms are paying their
providers on a per capita basis a predeterminedapayment per member which puts the providefimancial risk for the
services provided to their members. This is gehetiaé case under Medicare Advantage where comiaaisurers receive a
monthly capitated fee from CMS to provide all neszeg medical care to participating members. Thapéated fees are
adjusted under CMS'’s risk-adjustment model whiaksusealth status indicators, or risk scores, tarente adequacy of
payment. Members with higher risk codes generaitjuire more healthcare resources than those witbrlask codes. In turn,
the insurer fully absorbs the risk of patient heafire costs. Insurers may share a portion ofiskenith provider organizations
such as independent practice associations (IPAB)whom they contract to provide medical servigetheir members. Proper
assessment of each member’s health status andatecoding helps to assure that insurers recepitatian fees consistent
with the cost of treating these members. Nerve gotioh testing can provide valuable, early ideaéfion of neuropathy
leading to clinical interventions that can reduealth care costs. Also, these tests provide vaduaplut regarding each
member’s health risk status which can result inerappropriate capitated payments from CMS. We belikat the clinical and
economic proposition for NC-stat DPNCheck is attvacto Medicare Advantage insurers and risk begpirovider
organizations. We are focusing our sales effort\iGrstat DPNCheck on the Medicare Advantage managezimarket
segment.

We believe that the SENSUS pain management thetiafssstem is considered a durable medical equipfizME)
benefit and is reimbursed for chronic pain by Madéicand many commercial insurers under HCPCS cQ#3& for the device
and under HCPCS code A4595 for the consumableretit. These pre-existing codes apply to DME btnefnploying
transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation equiime

We believe that the overall escalating cost of meddiroducts and services has led to, and willinaetto lead to, increased
pressures on the healthcare industry to reducedsts of products and services.

Our success in selling the NC-stat DPNCheck andSEBldevices and the ADVANCE System will depend ypomong
other things, our customers receiving, and ourmitkcustomers' expectation that they will recesuéficient reimbursement or
patient capitated premium adjustments from thircyppayers for procedures or therapies using thesgucts. See Item 1A,
“Risk Factors,™If health care providers are unable to obtain scint reimbursement or other financial incentivesm third-
party health care payers related to the use offgmaducts, the adoption of our products and our ffetproduct sales will be
materially adversely affected.”
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FDA and Other Governmental Regulation
FDA Regulation

Our products are medical devices subject to exterrsigulation by the FDA under the Federal Foodigpand Cosmetic
Act, or FDCA, and the regulations promulgated thader, as well as by other regulatory bodies inthi#ed States and
abroad. The FDA classifies medical devices into @inairee classes on the basis of the amount lofissociated with the
medical device and the controls deemed necessaeasonably ensure their safety and effectiveness:

» Class I, requiring general controls, including lalg device listing, reporting and, for some protiy) adherence to go
manufacturing practices through the FDA’s qualitgtem regulations and pre-market notification;

« Class Il, requiring general controls and speciaitrols, which may include performance standandspst-market
surveillance; and

e Class lll, requiring general controls and pre-seamapproval, or PMA, which may include post-ap@iasonditions and
post-market surveillance.

Before being introduced into the market, our praslusust obtain market clearance or approval thrahgtb10(k) pre-
market notification process, tle novareview process or the PMA process, unless theyifgdal an exemption from these
processes. See Item 1A, “Risk Factof@ye are subject to extensive regulation by the REtich could restrict the sales and
marketing of the NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS desité the ADVANCE System, as well as other prodoictshich we
may seek FDA clearance or approval, and could causst® incur significant costs.”

510(k) Pre-Market Notification Process

To obtain 510(k) clearance, we must submit a preketianotification demonstrating that the proposedick is substantially
equivalent to a legally marketed Class | or Il nsatldevice or to a Class Il device marketed praokay 28, 1976 for which
the FDA has not required the submission of a PMpliagtion. In some cases, we may be required tfoparclinical trials to
support a claim of substantial equivalence. Ifichhtrials are required, we must submit an apgilicefor an investigational
device exemption, or IDE, which must be clearedhgyFDA prior to the start of a clinical investigat, unless the device and
clinical investigation are considered non-significesk by the FDA or are exempt from the IDE regumients. It generally takes
three months from the date of the pre-market ratifon submission to obtain a final 510(k) decisiout it can be significantly
longer.

After a medical device receives 510(k) clearanng,raodification that could significantly affect gsfety or effectiveness,
or that would constitute a major change in itsnied use, requires the submission of a new 510¢kyance or could require
de novcclassification or PMA. The FDA allows each compamynake this determination, but the FDA can revibgvdecision.
If the FDA disagrees with a company’s decisiontocgeek FDA authorization, the FDA may requirecbmpany to seek 510
(k) clearance or PMA. The FDA also can requiredbmpany to cease marketing and/or recall the med@ace in question
until its regulatory status is resolved.

De Novo Review Process

If a previously unclassified new medical device slaet qualify for the 510(k) pre-market notificatiprocess because there
is no predicate device to which it is substantielipivalent, and if the device may be adequatejyleged through general
controls or special controls, the device may bgilgk forde novoclassification through what is called tle novareview
process. In order to use tbe novareview process, a company must receive a letten flee FDA stating that, because the
device has been found not substantially equivadteatlegally marketed Class | or 1| medical devaceao a Class Il device
marketed prior to May 28, 1976 for which the FD/As mt required the submission of a PMA applicatibhas been placed
into Class lll. After receiving this letter, therapany, within 30 days, must submit to the FDA aue for a risk based down
classification of the device from Class Il to Gldsr Il based on the device’s moderate or low piofile which meets the
definition of a Class | or Class Il medical devitde FDA then has 60 days in which to decide wirdihdown classify the
device. If the FDA agrees that a lower classifivatis
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warranted, it will issue a new regulation descigpthe device type and, for a Class Il device, mlibéi Special Controls
guidance document. The Special Controls guidancardent specifies the scope of the device type lamdecommendations
for submission of subsequent devices for the sateaded use. If a product is classified as Clagwdiugh thede novareview
process, then that device may serve as a predieatee for subsequent 510(k) pre-market notifiagtio

PMA Process

If a medical device does not qualify for the 51Qgkg-market notification process and is not eligitdr clearance through
thede novareview process, a company must submit a PMA apdicaThe PMA requires more extensive pre-filingtieg
than is required in the 510(k) and is more costiggthy and uncertain. The FDA will decide withit days of receiving a PMA
whether it is sufficiently complete to permit a stantive review and if the PMA is complete, the F#l notify the applicant
that the PMA has been filed. The PMA process cke tae to three years or longer, from the timeRNEA application is filed
with the FDA. The PMA process requires the compargrove that the medical device is safe and eaffedor its intended
purpose. A PMA typically includes extensive praxidal and clinical trial data, and information abthe device, its design,
manufacture, labeling and components. Before ajppgay PMA, the FDA generally also performs an de-gispection of
manufacturing facilities for the product to ensaoenpliance with the FDA'’s quality system regulation QSR.

If FDA approves the PMA, the approved indicatioresynbe more limited than those originally soughtadigition, FDA’s
approval order may include post-approval condititag the FDA believes necessary to ensure théysaifel effectiveness of
the device, including, among other things, restitt on labeling, promotion, sale and distributao post-market study
requirements. Failure to comply with the post-appt@onditions can result in adverse enforcemeitdoninistrative actions,
including the withdrawal of the approval. Approwdla new PMA application or a PMA supplement maydxguired in the
event of modifications to the device, includingtilabeling, intended use or indication, or itsnuiacturing process that affect
safety and effectiveness.

Post-Approval Obligations
After a device is placed on the market, numerogsalegory requirements continue to apply. Theseuiel

* the FDA’'s QSR, which requires manufacturers,udioig third-party manufacturers, to follow stringelesign, testing,
control, documentation and other good manufactupiagtice and quality assurance procedures dulimgpects of the
manufacturing process;

« labeling regulations and FDA prohibitions agaitimg promotion of products for uncleared or unappdouses (known
as off-label uses), as well as requirements toigeoadequate information on both risks and benefits

« medical device reporting regulations, which reguhat manufacturers report to FDA any device thay have caused
or contributed to a death or serious injury or mattioned in a way that would likely cause or ciimite to a death or
serious injury if the malfunction were to recur;

e correction and removal reporting regulations,shhiequire that manufacturers report to the FDAlferrections and
device recalls or removals if undertaken to redudsk to health posed by the device or to remedgplation of the
FDCA caused by the device which may present atoigiealth;

*  post-market surveillance regulations, which agplglass Il or 11l devices if the FDA has issuegdast-market
surveillance order and the failure of the devicelldde reasonably likely to have serious adversdtineonsequences,
the device is expected to have significant uséénpiediatric population, the device is intendeddgamplanted in the
human body for more than one year, or the deviggénded to be used to support or sustain lifetarize used outside
a user facility;

« regular and for cause inspections by FDA to revdenvanufacturer's facilities and their compliancthwaipplicable FD/
requirements; and
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« the FDA's recall authority, whereby it can askpoder, device manufacturers to recall from thekega product that is
in violation of applicable laws and regulations.

Regulatory Approvals and Clearances

The ADVANCE System received 510(k) clearance asaa<dl medical device in April 2008 for its intesdiuse by
physicians to perform nerve conduction studiesra®tle electromyography procedures.

The NC-stat System is also a Class Il medical a@eaitd has been the subject of several 510(k) cleasathe most recent
in July 2006 (K060584). The NC-stat System is @ddor use to stimulate and measure neuromusdglaals that are useful in
diagnosing and evaluating systemic and entrapmamopathies. We believe our NC-stat DPNCheck desieetechnical
modification to the 510(k) cleared NC-stat deviod &as the same intended use, and therefore dbesismsafety or
effectiveness questions. Under the FDA's publisip@idance on 510(k) requirements for modified devjeee do not believe
that a 510(k) submission is required for NC-staiNOReck.

As a transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulater SENSUS pain therapy device is a Class Il medieaice which received
510(k) clearance from the FDA in August 2012. InvBimber 2012 the FDA provided 510(k) clearanceHlerdisposable
electrode used in conjunction with the SENSUS devite intended use of the SENSUS pain managemenaeutic system
is the symptomatic relief and management of chromractable pain.

Manufacturing Facilities

Our facility, and the facility utilized by Sunburstur contract device manufacturer, have each lmegprected by FDA in the
past, and observations were noted. There werendmfis that involved a significant violation of tégtory requirements. The
responses to these observations have been actsptieel FDA and we believe that we and our contreemufacturer are in
substantial compliance with the QSR. We expectdhafacility will be inspected again as requirgdtbe FDA. If the FDA
finds significant violations, we could be subjezfines, recalls, requirements to halt manufactyror other administrative or
judicial sanctions.

U.S. Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws

In the United States, the federal Anti-Kickbackt&ta, as well as numerous state anti-kickback lgnahibit the offer,
payment, solicitation or receipt of kickbacks, lestor other remuneration, whether direct or indjrexert or covert, in cash or
in kind, intended, among other things, to induaeghrchase or recommendation of healthcare prodndservices. While the
federal law applies only to products and servicesvhich payment may be made by a federal heakhoargram, the state laws
may apply regardless of whether any public heafthfiands are involved. Violations of these laws lead to severe civil and
criminal penalties, including exclusion from paiption in federal healthcare programs. These mEwgotentially applicable
to manufacturers of medical devices, such as ust@hospitals, physicians and other potential lpasers of our products.

Also, the federal False Claims Act, as well as mstaye false claims statutes, provides civil amghical penalties for
presenting, or causing to be presented, to thirtgeyers for reimbursement, claims that are fatsaudulent, or which are
for items or services that were not provided asredd. Under the federal False Claims Act, in additio actions initiated by
federal law enforcement authorities, the statuteaizes “qui tam” actions to be brought on belodlthe federal government
by a private party in certain circumstances anguifcessful, that private party can share in anyeatawy recovery. Any
challenge by federal or state enforcement offiailsthers under these laws, could have a matmisdrse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of opens.

Legacy Neurodiagnostics Business

We were founded in 1996 as a science-based heaktcompany. Our focus had been the developménhotative
products for the detection, diagnosis, and momitpdf peripheral nerve and spinal cord disordersh&s those associated with
carpal tunnel syndrome, lumbosacral disc diseadespimal stenosis, and diabetes. Our NC-stat Sykiethe performance of
nerve conduction studies at the point-of-care vegroercially launched in 1999. The second generdliOrstat was released
in 2002. In 2008, we brought to market the morensiwated ADVANCE System for nerve conductionitegtand
performance of invasive
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needle electromyography. These systems were ggnagadse with broad application in evaluating aredjdosing nerve
disorders. Numerous studies demonstrating thecalimiccuracy and utility of these devices have lwesducted and published
in high quality peer-reviewed journals. Furthermahese devices have been used in FDA sanctiomadadltrials for
pharmacological agents and large scale epidemuabgtudies sponsored by the NIH, Center for Dis€zantrol, or CDC, and
other governmental agencies. The products have deared by the FDA, field tested for over a decai@ highly regarded for
their ease of use, accuracy and reproducibilitsestilts.

Following launch of NC-stat in 1999, we experiencapid revenue growth, which lead to our initiabpa offering in 2004.
The health market, particularly the physician afsegment, embraced the opportunity to performeneownduction tests which
previously had always required referral to spesialiPoint-of-care nerve testing was seen to peo&idombination of improved
patient care and patient convenience. The sucégssri-of-care nerve testing, a market which weated, was met with
resistance in some sectors of the medical commupetrticularly by neurologists and physical medicand rehabilitation
physicians, both of which had traditionally prowideerve testing services. As a consequence of ssittdobbying by these
specialists, physicians using our technology expeed increased denials of coverage by third geayers resulting in their
discontinuing usage and our difficulty in accrumgw customer accounts. In late 2009 CMS includgterPhysician Fee
Schedule a new Category | CPT Code, CPT 9590%eore conduction studies performed using precordigielectrode such
as those employed with our products. During 2018trivtedicare fiscal intermediaries assumed covef@ag€PT 95905 for at
least some clinical indications; however, the Heeltre environment has been such that we haveuresdite to secure broad
coverage among private payers, which is essentihiet success of our ADVANCE System product. TRjgeeience was
reflected in our revenues for the legacy Neurodiatjns business, which peaked in 2006 at $55.3amil\We reported revenue
of $6.1 million, $10.3 million, and $13.9 million 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively, for the lgdéeurodiagnostics
business.

As we managed our general purpose neurodiagnastiodss to improve reimbursement and minimize costa@rosion,
we increasingly became aware of the unmet medued for improved diagnostic tools and therapighénspecific area of
diabetic neuropathy, or nerve damage caused bywdisbDiabetes care is one of the fasted growicipiseof health care as
discussed aboveNe believe that our tools and therapies for adiltgsdiabetic neuropathy represent a significantketar
opportunity. Consequently, in January 2011 we anped a shift to diabetes care as our primary basifaxus. We also
restructured our neurodiagnostics business to ¢idase functions and to eliminate our direct sdt@se. We emphasized our
commitment to supporting our neurodiagnostic préslaad installed base of physician accounts. Ojactise for our legacy
neurodiagnostics business is to maintain a highdsta of product support while managing the busine®ptimize cash flow.

Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we had a total of 39 epmgas, 38 of which were full-time employees. Of themployees, 11
were in research and development, 13 in sales ankieting, five in production/distribution, and niimegeneral and
administrative services. One employee holds both.Mnd Ph.D. degrees, two additional employees Wolal degrees, and
three additional employees hold Ph.D. degrees.

Our employees are not represented by a labor waridrare not subject to a collective bargaining egent. We have never
experienced a work stoppage. We believe that we bawd relations with our employees.

Available Information

Access to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart®&ports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form &#i,
amendments to these reports filed with or furnisioetthe Securities and Exchange Commission, or $&&y, be obtained
through the Investor Relations section of our wiebafwww.neurometrix.com/investas soon as reasonably practical after we
electronically file or furnish these reports. Werdi charge for access to and viewing of theserteplmformation on our
Investor Relations page and on our website is adtqdf this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any of other securities filings
unless specifically incorporated herein by refeesric addition, the public may read and copy anyenigs that we file with the
SEC at the
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SEC'’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NEsHivigton, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain infotioraon the

operation of the Public Reference Room by calllmg $EC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Also, our filings with 8EC may be accessed
through the SEC’s website atvw.sec.govAll statements made in any of our securities fiinopcluding all forward-looking
statements or information, are made as of theafatee document in which the statement is includext] we do not assume or
undertake any obligation to update any of thosestants or documents unless we are required to ty aw.

Corporate Information

NeuroMetrix was founded in June 1996 by our Pregidad Chief Executive Officer, Shai N. Gozani, M.Bh.D. We
originally were incorporated in Massachusetts ii6,%nd we reincorporated in Delaware in 2001. @uncipal offices are
located at 62 Fourth Avenue, Waltham, Massachue2451.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following risk&lall other information contained in this Annuagrt on Form 10-K
and our other public filings before making any istreent decisions with respect to our common stbaky of the following
risks occurs, our business, prospects, reputatiesilts of operations, or financial condition coddd harmed. In that case, the
trading price of our common stock could declined anr stockholders could lose all or part of thigivestment. This Annual
Report also contains forward-looking statements theolve risks and uncertainties. Our actual réswould differ materially
from those anticipated in the forward-looking stats as a result of specific factors, including tisks described below and
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We have incurred significant operating losses sirineeption and cannot assure you that we will againhieve profitability.

We have incurred significant cumulative net lossiase our inception. Our net losses for the yeaded December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010 were approximately $10.0 oni]l$10.0 million, and $16.9 million, respectivaigflecting a decline in
revenues. At December 31, 2012, we had an accueadutgficit of approximately $138.6 million. The emt of our future
operating income or losses is highly uncertain, @ad:annot assure you that we will be able to aghte maintain profitability.

Two years ago, we shifted our business focus tdodtas care. We cannot assure you that we will becsssful in this field or
that our initial commercial products for diabetesae, NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS, or the product®ur development
pipeline, will be successful.

Our strategic focus is diabetes care. Our initiabdtes care product, NC-stat DPNCheck which wasdaed in late 2011,
is a fast, accurate, and quantitative nerve comututgst for systemic neuropathies, such as DPNafary 2013, we launched
SENSUS, our pain management therapeutic devicefief of chronic, intractable pain. We also hateeo products in our
development pipeline. Our future prospects areetyosed to our success with our NC-stat DPNCheuk SENSUS devices
which, in turn, depends upon market acceptancegenwth in future revenues. We cannot assure youotinadiabetes care
strategy, including the commercialization of ourreat products and other products in our develogmipeline, will be
successful. If our diabetes care strategy is notesssful, it could materially affect our revenued gesults of operations.

Our future success could be adversely affectedyneber of factors, including:

« inability to increase adoption of NC-stat DPNChkdthin the Medicare Advantage market;

« inability to secure broad, national distributimn SENSUS among independent DME suppliers;
* decreased rates of patient visits to physicians;

« unfavorable changes to current Medicare and caciaigayer payment policies;

« unfavorable experiences by patients and physaismg SENSUS, and;

« physicians’ reluctance to alter their existinggiices.

If we are unable to expand exposure and penetratmarket for NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS, ouitgld increase
our revenues will be limited and our business peotpwill be adversely affected.

We currently rely on sales of the products that qomse the ADVANCE System to generate a substarmiation of our
revenues. Any factors that negatively impact outesaof these products could significantly reducera@bility to generate
revenues.

We launched the ADVANCE System, our sophisticatey@ conduction testing system, in June 2008. f@year ended
December 31, 2012, $6.1 million of our $7.6 milliortotal revenue was attributed to the ADVANCE t&ys. We continue to
derive a substantial portion of our revenues fratesof the products that comprise this systenticodairly from electrodes.
We expect that sales of ADVANCE System product$ eaihstitute more than half of our sales during2ccordingly, our
ability to generate revenues in the short-termejgethdent on our ability to market and sell the pobslthat comprise the
ADVANCE System, particularly electrodes. Our saléthese products may be negatively impacted byynfiaetors, including:
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e changes in reimbursement rates or policies rejat our products by third-party payers;

e manufacturing problems;

< claims that our products infringe on patent righit other intellectual property rights owned blyestparties;
< adverse regulatory or legal actions relatinguoproducts; and

e clinical trial results relating to our productisaur competitors’ products.

If any of these events occurs, our ability to gateerevenues from the ADVANCE System could be §igamtly reduced.

If health care providers are unable to obtain suffent reimbursement or adjustment to capitated pieam payments from
third-party health care payers related to the udeoar products, the adoption of our products and oluture product sales
will be materially adversely affected.

Widespread adoption of our products by the medioaimunity is unlikely to occur without a financiatentive from third-
party payers for the use of these products. Ifthezlre providers are unable to obtain adequatebrgisement for procedures
performed using our products, if managed care dzgtons do not receive improved capitated paymeunésto more accurate
patient risk assessment using our products, aDMIE suppliers are not adequately reimbursed fopltipg our therapeutic
products, we may be unable to sell our producksvats that are sufficient to allow us to achiend aaintain profitability, and
our business would suffer significantly. Additiolyaleven if these products and procedures are adelyureimbursed by third-
party payers today, adverse changes in payersfptlicies toward payment would harm our abilityrtarket and sell our
products. Third-party payers include those govemtalgrograms such as Medicare and Medicaid, mikaglth insurers,
workers’ compensation programs and other orgaiasti

Future regulatory action by CMS or other governrakagencies or negative clinical results may disfineimbursement
payments to physicians for performing procedurésgusur products. Medicaid reimbursement diffemirstate to state, and
some state Medicaid programs may not cover theepitoes performed with our products or pay phys&cemadequate amount
for performing those procedures, if at all. Additidly, some private payers do not follow the Medicguidelines and may
reimburse for only a portion of these proceduresatrat all. We are unable to predict what changése made in the
reimbursement methods used by private or goverrah#ritd-party payers. Importantly, the effectsttimaplementation of the
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act will Baan CMS, commercial insurers, health care prosiceand ultimately on our
business, cannot be predicted.

We are subject to extensive regulation by the FDAieh could restrict the sales and marketing of theC-stat DPNCheck
and SENSUS devices and the ADVANCE System as vwgetither products for which we may seek FDA cleararar
approval, and could cause us to incur significanbsts.

We sell medical devices that are subject to extensigulation in the United States by the FDA wébard to
manufacturing, labeling, sale, promation, distribnf shipping and ongoing monitoring and follow-B&fore a new medical
device, or a new use of or claim for an existingdaict, can be marketed in the United States, it fings be cleared or
approved by the FDA. Medical devices may be martketdy for the indications for which they are apyd or cleared. The
regulatory review process can be expensive andHgnghe FDA's process for granting 510(k) cleamtypically takes
approximately three to six months, but it can lgmigicantly longer. The process for obtaining a-prarket approval, or PMA,
is much more costly and onerous. By law, the timeon designated for the FDA's review of a PMA &)1days; however, this
time is often extended and it is not uncommon lierPMA review process to take three years or lofrgen the time the
application is filed with the FDA.

The FDA may remove our devices from the marketnjoia them from commercial distribution if safety effectiveness
problems develop. Further, we may not be able tainladditional 510(k) clearances or pre-marketraygs for new products
or for modifications to, or additional indicatiofe, our existing products in a timely fashion,atrall. Delays in obtaining
future clearances or approvals would adverselycaffar ability to introduce new or enhanced producta timely manner,
which in turn would harm our
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revenue and future profitability. We have made rficgliions to our devices in the past and may makiiti@anal modifications

in the future that we believe do not or will notjuére additional clearances or approvals. If thé\Rrllsagrees, and requires new
clearances or approvals for the modifications, veg fve required to recall and to stop marketingntioglified devices. If any of
these events occurs or if the FDA takes other eefoent actions, we may not be able to provide ostotners with the
products they require on a timely basis, our regrecould be harmed, and we could lose customudssaffer reduced
revenues and increased costs.

We also are subject to numerous post-marketingamgy requirements, including the FDA'’s qualityssym regulations,
which relate to the design, manufacture, packadaimgling, storage, installation and servicing of products, labeling
regulations, medical device reporting regulationd eorrection and removal reporting regulationst failure or the failure by
any manufacturer of our products to comply withlaggble regulatory requirements could result inoeoément action by the
FDA. FDA enforcement actions relating to post-mérigeregulatory requirements or other issues, iicig any issues arising
from the not substantially equivalent letter ddsedi above, may include any of the following:

e warning letters, untitled letters, fines, injuocis, product seizures, consent decrees and @nlgies;
e requiring repair, replacement, refunds, custonmtifications or recall of our products;
e imposing operating restrictions, suspension atdtwn of production;

« refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or PAp@roval of new products, new intended uses, dlifications to
existing products;

e requesting voluntary rescission of 510(k) cleaesnor withdrawing PMA approvals that have alrelaggn granted; and
e criminal prosecution.
If any of these events were to occur, they coultnhaur reputation, our ability to generate reveraras our profitability.

Also, from time to time, legislation is introducegdo Congress that could significantly change tia¢usory provisions
governing the approval, manufacturing and marketihgedical devices. FDA regulations and guidarreeadten revised or
reinterpreted by the agency in ways that may sicamtly affect our business and our products. itnigossible to predict
whether legislative changes will be enacted, or FBgulations, guidance or interpretations changed,what the impact of
such changes, if any, may be. The FDA has pubditelied that it is reevaluating its longstanding(klL@eview program. It is
not clear when the program will be modified and tdféect the modified review process will have am ability to bring our
product candidates to market.

We depend on several single source manufacturerprtmduce our products. Any material adverse changesur
relationships with these manufacturers could prevears from delivering products to our customers irtismely manner and
may adversely impact our future revenues or costs.

We rely on third-party manufacturers to manufactiomponents of our NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSU®s)sstand to
fully manufacture the ADVANCE system. In the evérat our manufacturers cease to manufacture seificjuantities of our
products or components in a timely manner and ongecceptable to us, we would be forced to loakiéenate manufacturers.
Additionally, if our manufacturers experience dueg in their production process, are unable taiobs$ufficient quantities of
the components necessary to manufacture our pmducitherwise fail to meet our quality requirensemte may be forced to
delay the manufacture and sale of our productsaaté an alternative manufacturer. We may be uniabtEate suitable
alternative manufacturers for our products or congmds for which the manufacturing process is nedfitispecialized, on terms
acceptable to us, or at all. We have entered ixttusive manufacturing and supply agreements wétteR Polymer Flexible
Circuits, Inc. for the manufacture of the biosesdor nerve conduction testing for our domesticketairKatecho, Inc.
manufactures biosensors for use with our NC-statiOtieck devices in international markets and alsoufactures electrodes
for SENSUS, and Sunburst EMS, Inc. manufacturedreleic boards and other components of our NCBRtiCheck and
SENSUS
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products, which we assemble at our corporate heatiga facility to produce completed devices. SusiEMS, Inc. also
manufactures our ADVANCE System monitors, dockitadisns, and communication hubs.

We have experienced transient inventory shortagesew products during the initial production rampahase. If any
materially adverse changes in our relationshiph thiese manufacturers occur, our ability to sujmpiycustomers will be
severely limited until we are able to engage agratite manufacturer or, if applicable, resolve gquglity issues with our
existing manufacturer. This situation could prevemfrom delivering products to our customers timeely manner, lead to
decreased sales or increased costs, or harm autatiem with our customers.

If our manufacturers are unable to supply us witmaadequate supply of products as we expand our negskwe could lose
customers, our potential future growth could be lited and our business could be harmed.

In order for us to successfully expand our busingtsin the United States and internationally, oantract manufacturers
must be able to provide us with substantial quiastivf our products in compliance with regulataguirements, in accordance
with agreed upon specifications, at acceptableaodton a timely basis. Our potential future groedghld strain the ability of
our manufacturers to deliver products and obtaiterads and components in sufficient quantitiesnifacturers often
experience difficulties in scaling up productiomgluding problems with production yields and quatibntrol and assurance. If
we are unable to obtain sufficient quantities gihhjuality products to meet customer demand omelyi basis, we could lose
customers, our growth may be limited and our bussire®uld be harmed.

If we or the manufacturers of our products fail toomply with the FDA’s quality system regulation,@lmanufacturing and
distribution of our products could be interrupte@nd our product sales and operating results couldfsr.

We and our contract manufacturers are requirednapty with the FDA’s quality system regulation, @SR, which is a
complex regulation that governs the proceduresdaedmentation of the design, testing, productiomtiol, quality assurance,
labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage angbgimg of our devices. The FDA enforces the QSRuf@hoperiodic inspections.
We cannot assure you that our facilities or thdifess of the manufacturers of our products wopdss any future inspection. If
our facilities or any of the facilities of the mdacturers of our products fail an inspection, thennfacturing or distribution of
our products could be interrupted and our operatiisrupted. Failure to take adequate and timelsective action in response
to an adverse inspection could result in a susparai shutdown of our packaging and labeling op@matand the operations of
the manufacturers of our products or a recall ofpyoducts, or other administrative or judicial s@ons. If any of these events
occurs, we may not be able to provide our customvéhsthe quantity of products they require onragly basis, our reputation
could be harmed, and we could lose customers difet seaduced revenues and increased costs.

Our products may be subject to recalls, even aftreiving FDA clearance or approval, which would i our reputation,
business and financial results.

We are subject to the medical device reporting legguns, which require us to report to the FDA uir gproducts may have
caused or contributed to a death or serious inurjpave malfunctioned in a way that would likebuse or contribute to a
death or serious injury if the malfunction wereotur. We are also subject to the correction antbral reporting regulations,
which require us to report to the FDA any fieldreations and device recalls or removals that weettale to reduce a risk to
health posed by the device or to remedy a violatifoihe Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or BD€used by the device
which may present a risk to health. In additior, BDA and similar governmental agencies in othenties have the authority
to require the recall of our products if there i®asonable probability that the products wouldseaserious adverse health
consequences or death. A government-mandated wnteoy recall by us could occur as a result of nfiacturing defects,
labeling deficiencies, packaging defects or othéufes to comply with applicable regulations. Amegall would divert
management attention and financial resources amd bar reputation with customers and could haveaterial adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operagion
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The success of our business depends upon our ghiditadvance our pipeline products to commerciatiaa.

Two years ago we shifted our strategy to focusiabetes care, specifically unmet medical needseelo diabetic
peripheral neuropathy which is the most common dmaton of diabetes. Since then, we have advaiN@dtat DPNCheck
and SENSUS through our product development pipétirtee market. We plan to introduce other new potsirelated to
diabetic neuropathy, such as SENTINEL, in futurgqus. We expect that advancing our pipeline presludll require
significant time and resources. We may not be ssfakin our commercialization efforts for any bétproduct candidates
currently in our pipeline and we may not be sudtgés developing, acquiring, or in-licensing addital product candidates, to
the extent we decide to do so. If we are not sisfakadvancing new products through our developrmpgreline, the regulatory
process and commercial launch, our business, fiaboandition, and results of operations will bevaxbely affected.

The patent rights we rely upon to protect the inggltual property underlying our products may not belequate, which could
enable third parties to use our technology and watlarm our ability to compete in the market.

Our success will depend in part on our ability éwelop or acquire commercially valuable patenttsgind to protect these
rights adequately. The risks and uncertaintieswheatace with respect to our patents and othetag@ldaghts include the
following:

* the pending patent applications we have filetbarhich we have exclusive rights may not resulsgued patents or
may take longer than we expect to result in isqetdnts;

« the claims of any patents that are issued maprmtide meaningful protection;

* we may not be able to develop additional proprietechnologies that are patentable;

» other parties may challenge patents, patent slainpatent applications licensed or issued t@nd,;
» other companies may design around technologieisave patented, licensed or developed.

We also may not be able to protect our patentsigffectively in some foreign countries. For a &riof reasons, we may
decide not to file for patent protection in the tedi States or in particular foreign countries. @atent rights underlying our
products may not be adequate, and our competitargstomers may design around our proprietary telciyies or
independently develop similar or alternative tedbgms or products that are equal or superior tat@chnology and products
without infringing on any of our patent rights.dddition, the patents licensed or issued to us moaprovide a competitive
advantage. If any of these events were to occurability to compete in the market would be harmed.

Other rights and measures we have taken to protaatintellectual property may not be adequate, wiiwould harm our
ability to compete in the market.

In addition to patents, we rely on a combinatiortrafle secrets, copyright and trademark laws, denfiality,
nondisclosure and assignment of invention agreesraamd other contractual provisions and technicasuees to protect our
intellectual property rights. We rely on trade sgsito protect the technology and algorithms weiugeir customer data
processing and warehousing information system. &\ilid currently require employees, consultants anelrdhird parties to
enter into confidentiality, non-disclosure or assigent of invention agreements or a combinationetbfewhere appropriate, any
of the following could still occur:

« the agreements may be breached or not enforcaganticular jurisdiction;
¢ we may have inadequate remedies for any breach;
» trade secrets and other proprietary informatiouna be disclosed to our competitors; or

« others may independently develop substantialiyvedent proprietary information and techniquestirerwise gain
access to our trade secrets or disclose such teclies
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If, for any of the above reasons, our intellectuaperty is disclosed or misappropriated, it woam our ability to protect
our rights and our competitive position.

We may need to initiate lawsuits to protect or emtf® our patents and other intellectual property htg, which could be
expensive and, if we lose, could cause us to lasaesof our intellectual property rights, which wadiharm our ability to
compete in the market.

We rely on patents to protect a portion of ourllatgual property and our competitive position.drataw relating to the
scope of claims in the technology fields in whicé eperate is still evolving and, consequently, piap@sitions in the medical
device industry are generally uncertain. In ordgprbtect or enforce our patent rights, we mayatetpatent litigation against
third parties, such as infringement suits or iegfice proceedings. Litigation may be necessary to:

e assert claims of infringement;

« enforce our patents;

e protect our trade secrets or know-how; or

- determine the enforceability, scope and validityhe proprietary rights of others.

Any lawsuits that we initiate could be expensiadet significant time and divert management’s aib@rfrom other
business concerns. Litigation also puts our pa&ntisk of being invalidated or interpreted narlpand our patent applications
at risk of not issuing. Additionally, we may prowthird parties to assert claims against us. We moayprevail in any lawsuits
that we initiate and the damages or other remediesded, if any, may not be commercially valuablee occurrence of any of
these events could harm our business, our abilippmpete in the market or our reputation.

Claims that our products infringe on the proprietarights of others could adversely affect our abjlito sell our products
and increase our costs.

Substantial litigation over intellectual properights exists in the medical device industry. Weestghat our products
could be increasingly subject to third-party infrsment claims as the number of competitors growlslaa functionality of
products and technology in different industry segta@verlap. Third parties may currently have, ayraventually be issued,
patents on which our products or technologies méinge. Any of these third parties might make a@irdl of infringement
against us. Any litigation regardless of its impaould likely result in the expenditure of signdiat financial resources and the
diversion of management’s time and resources. diitiad, litigation in which we are accused of imigement may cause
negative publicity, adversely impact prospectivstomers, cause product shipment delays or reqsite develop non-
infringing technology, make substantial paymentthiad parties, or enter into royalty or licenseemments, which may not be
available on acceptable terms, or at all. If a sasful claim of infringement were made againstnégwae could not develop
non-infringing technology or license the infringadsimilar technology on a timely and cost-effeethasis, our revenues may
decrease substantially and we could be exposeadniisant liability.

We are subject to federal and state laws prohilgtitkickbacks” and false or fraudulent claims, whighf violated, could
subject us to substantial penalties. Additionalny challenge to or investigation into our practiseinder these laws could
cause adverse publicity and be costly to respondital thus could harm our business.

A federal law commonly known as the federal antikkiack law, and several similar state laws, prahiig# payment of any
remuneration that is intended to induce physic@nsthers either to refer patients or to acquiraroange for or recommend the
acquisition of health care products or servicegsEnaws constrain a medical device company’s salaketing and other
promotional activities by limiting the kinds of biness relationships and financial arrangementéydirng sales programs we
may have with hospitals, physicians or other paaepurchasers of medical devices. Other federdlsiate laws generally
prohibit individuals or entities from knowingly menting, or causing to be presented, claims fomgeay to Medicare,

Medicaid or other third-party payers that are fals&audulent, or for items or services that weoé provided as claimed. From
time to time, we may provide coding and billingdarmhation as product support to purchasers of our
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products. Anti-kickback and false claims laws prigscivil and criminal penalties for noncomplian@aéich can be quite
substantial including exclusion from participatiorfederal health care programs. A number of state® enacted laws that
require pharmaceutical and medical device compdaigsonitor and report payments, gifts and otherueeration made to
physicians and other health care professionalsaatth care organizations. Some state statutels,asuthe one in
Massachusetts, impose an outright ban on gifthysipians. These laws are often referred to as bgifi” or “aggregate spend
laws and carry substantial fines if they are viedatSimilar legislation, known as the PhysicianRagts Sunshine Act, has
been introduced in Congress each year for theggastral years but has not yet been enacted. levina that we are found to
have violated these laws or determine to settlaien¢hat we have done so, our business may beriateadversely affected
as a result of any payments required to be madtiations on our future operations or actions nexflito be taken, damage to
our business reputation or adverse publicity inngmtion with such a finding or settlement or othdverse effects relating
thereto. Additionally, even an unsuccessful chgiéear investigation into our practices could caabeerse publicity, and be
costly to respond to, and thus could harm our lassirand results of operations.

In February 2009, we announced that we had reazhesolution with the United States Departmentstide, or DOJ, and
the OIG of the United States Department of Heatith lluman Services regarding the previously-discloseestigation into
certain of our past sales and marketing practiekleing to our NC-stat System. As part of the nesoh with the DOJ and OIG,
we entered into a three-year Deferred Prosecutgme@ment with the DOJ and a five-year Corporategiity Agreement with
the OIG. The Deferred Prosecution Agreement hasexpired. However, failure to comply with the terofg¢he Corporate
Integrity Agreement could result in substantialiloiv criminal penalties and being excluded fronvgimment health care
programs, which could materially reduce our satesadversely affect our financial condition ancutesof operations.

If we are found to have violated laws protectingetibonfidentiality of patient health information, weould be subject to civil
or criminal penalties, which could increase our lidlities, damage our reputation and harm our busis®

There are a number of federal and state laws potethe confidentiality of individually identifide patient health
information, including patient records, and resinig the use and disclosure of that protected mé&dion. In particular, the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services promulgpétiént privacy rules under the Health Insuranoeability and
Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA. These privacyles protect medical records and other persogaltt information by
limiting their use and disclosure, giving individsighe right to access, amend and seek accountithgio own health
information and limiting most use and disclosurEleaalth information to the minimum amount reasdpalecessary to
accomplish the intended purpose. Although we ddebieve that we are subject to the HIPAA rules, ékact scope of these
rules has not been clearly established. If we @aued to be in violation of the privacy rules unédgPAA, we could be subject
to civil or criminal penalties, which could increagur liabilities and harm our reputation or ousibess.

The use of our products could result in product tigity claims that could be expensive, damage oaputation and harm our
business.

Our business exposes us to an inherent risk ohgateroduct liability claims related to the maaofuring, marketing and
sale of medical devices. The medical device ingusstorically has been litigious, and we face fioi@al exposure to product
liability claims if the use of our products weredause or contribute to injury or death. Our NG-atad ADVANCE systems,
NC-stat DPNCheck, and SENSUS products may be stilsisefo claims of injury because their use invaltke electric
stimulation of a patient’s nerves. Although we ntaiim product liability insurance for our productsdaother commercial
insurance, the coverage limits of these policieg h@ be adequate to cover future claims. As sahelsuse of our products
increase, we may be unable to maintain sufficieatlpct liability or other commercial insurance ateptable terms or at
reasonable costs, and this insurance may not praxsdvith adequate coverage against potentialitiabi A successful claim
brought against us in excess of, or outside ofjmaurance coverage could have a material advéiesgt en our financial
condition and results of operations. A productiligbclaim, regardless of its merit or eventuatocame, could result in
substantial costs to us, a
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substantial diversion of management attention aveéi@e publicity. A product liability claim couldsa harm our reputation
and result in a decline in revenues and an increasgpenses.

Our products are complex in design, and defects may be discovered prior to shipment to customevkjch could result in
warranty obligations or product liability or otheclaims, reducing our revenues and increasing ourst® and liabilities.

We depend upon third parties for the manufactureuofproducts or components. Our products, pagitybur electrodes,
require a significant degree of technical expetiisproduce. If these manufacturers fail to prodoigeproducts to specification,
or if the manufacturers use defective materialwarkmanship in the manufacturing process, the béiig and performance of
our products will be compromised.

If our products contain defects that cannot beiregajuickly, easily and inexpensively, we may aigrece:
* loss of customer orders and delay in order foiféint;

e damage to our brand reputation;

» increased cost of our warranty program due talpecorepair or replacement;

* inability to attract new customers;

« diversion of resources from our manufacturing eeskarch and development departments into ouicestepartment;
and

* legal action.

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd harm our reputation and materially reducereuenues and
increase our costs and liabilities.

If we lose any of our officers or key employeesr moanagement and technical expertise could be wesdsignificantly.

Our success largely depends on the skills, expegieand efforts of our officers, including Shai®bzani, M.D., Ph.D., our
founder, Chairman, President and Chief Executiviic&f Thomas T. Higgins, our Senior Vice Presidemd Chief Financial
Officer; Krishnamurthy Balachandran, our Senioré/Rresident and Chief Operating Officer, Neurodistios; Guy Daniello,
our Senior Vice President of Information Technologiyd Michael Williams, Ph.D., our Senior Vice Rdest of Engineering
and Chief Technology Officer. We do not maintaiy kerson life insurance policies covering any of employees. The loss
of any of our officers could weaken our managenagt technical expertise significantly and harm lmusiness.

If we are unable to recruit, hire and retain skillband experienced personnel, our ability to manage expand our business
will be harmed, which would impair our future reveres and profitability.

We are a small company with 39 employees as of Dbee 31, 2012, and our ability to retain our skillabor force and
our success in attracting and hiring new skillegbkayees will be a critical factor in determiningrduture performance. We
may not be able to meet our future hiring need®@in existing personnel, particularly given thaltenges our business has
recently faced. We will face challenges and riskkiring, training, managing and retaining engiirggeand sales and marketing
employees. Failure to attract and retain persometicularly technical and sales and marketingg@enel would materially
harm our ability to compete effectively and grow business.

Failure to develop or enter into relationships telsproducts other than our existing products or leance our existing
products could have an adverse effect on our busmerospects.

Our future business and financial success will ddp@ part, on our ability to effectively markatranew products, such as
NC-stat DPNCheck, SENSUS and the ADVANCE Systemugpgtade these products in response to customeardeém
Developing new products and upgrades to existimfaiure products imposes burdens on our researthi@velopment
department and our management. This process iy cost
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and we cannot assure you that we will be able toessfully develop new products or enhance oueatiproducts. We also
may not be able to enter into relationships witieottompanies to sell additional products. In adidjtas we develop the
market for our products, future competitors mayedep desirable product features earlier than wevkich could make our
competitors’ products less expensive or more dffe¢han our products and could render our prodolot®lete or
unmarketable. If our product development efforts amsuccessful, we will have incurred significamdts without recognizing
the expected benefits and our business prospegtsufigr.

We currently compete, and may in the future neecctimpete, against other medical device companidh wotentially
greater resources, more established distributioranhels and other competitive advantages, and thecgss of these
competitors may harm our ability to generate revesu

We currently do, and in the future may need to, pei@ directly and indirectly with a number of otkempanies that may
have competitive advantages over us. We compelteasinpanies that sell traditional nerve conducsirly and
electromyography equipment including Cadwell Labanias, Inc. and Natus Medical Incorporated. Thesmpanies enjoy
significant competitive advantages, including:

e greater resources for product development, saldsnarketing;

* more established distribution networks;

e greater name recognition;

« more established relationships with health caoégssionals, customers and third-party payers; and

e additional lines of products and the ability ffeo rebates or bundle products to offer discoumntmcentives.

As we develop the market for diagnosis and treatmmediabetic neuropathy, we may be faced with cetitipn from these
companies or others that decide and are able & #1i$ market. Some or all of our future compesito the diabetes care
market may enjoy competitive advantages such aettescribed above. If we are unable to competetafély against
existing and future competitors, our sales willlalecand our business will be harmed.

Security breaches and other disruptions could commise our information and expose us to liabilityhweh could cause our
business and reputation to suffer.

In the ordinary course of our business, we cobext store sensitive data in our data centers, onetworks, including
intellectual property, our proprietary businessinfation, and that of our customers, supplierskarginess partners, and
personally identifiable information of our emploged@he secure processing, maintenance and tranemdafghis information
is critical to our operations. Despite our secunitgasures, our information technology and infrastme may be vulnerable to
attacks by hackers or breached due to employeg aradfeasance or other disruptions. Any such breacld compromise our
networks and the information stored there coulddimessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Amshsaccess, disclosure or
other loss of information could result in legaliola or proceedings, disrupt our operations, dansageeputation, and cause a
loss of confidence in our products and serviceschvbould have a material adverse effect on ouiness, financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows.

If future clinical studies or other articles are phlished, or physician associations or other orgaaiipns announce positions
that are unfavorable to our products, our sales@tfs and revenues may be negatively affected.

Future clinical studies or other articles regarding existing products or any competing producty bepublished that
either support a claim, or are perceived to suppaitim, that a competitor's product is more aateior effective than our
products or that our products are not as accuraéfective as we claim or previous clinical studieve concluded.
Additionally, physician associations or other origations that may be viewed as authoritative oretav economic interest in
nerve conduction studies and in related electrodiatic procedures or other procedures that mayelfermed using our
products could endorse products or methods thapetarwith our products or otherwise announce ositihat are
unfavorable to
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our products. We have experienced this with thégssional societies representing the neurology conityw Any of these
events may negatively affect our sales effortsrasdlt in decreased revenues.

As we expand into foreign markets, we will be affed by new business risks that may adversely impactfinancial
condition or results of operations.

Foreign markets represented approximately 7% ofexgnues in 2012. We are working to expand mgr&eetration,
particularly in Europe and Asia. Any such expansigihsubject us to the possibility of new busineisks, including:

» failure to fulfill foreign regulatory requiremento market our products;
« availability of, and changes in, reimbursemerthimi prevailing foreign health care payment systems
» adapting to the differing business practiceslamg in foreign countries;

- difficulties in managing foreign relationshipsdapperations, including any relationships that wilelish with foreign
distributors or sales or marketing agents;

< limited protection for intellectual property righin some countries;

- difficulty in collecting accounts receivable alathger collection periods;

« costs of enforcing contractual obligations inefign jurisdictions;

e recessions in economies outside of the UniteteSta

e political instability and unexpected changesiplamatic and trade relationships;
e currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

e potentially adverse tax consequences.

If we are successful in introducing our products fioreign markets, we will be affected by thesditional business risks,
which may adversely impact our financial conditmrresults of operations. In addition, expansido foreign markets imposes
additional burdens on our executive and adminis&giersonnel, research and sales departmentgjeargdal managerial
resources. Our efforts to introduce our produdis fareign markets may not be successful, in wisase we may have
expended significant resources without realizirgygkpected benefit.

Our loan and security agreement with a bank, whiale refer to as our credit facility, contains finara and operating
restrictions that may limit our access to credif.We fail to comply with covenants in the creditdiity, we may be required to
repay any indebtedness thereunder, which may hawvedverse effect on our liquidity.

Although we have not borrowed any funds under tieditfacility, provisions in the credit facilityripose restrictions on our
ability to, among other things:

e incur additional indebtedness;

» create liens;

< replace certain of our executive officers;

e enter into transactions with affiliates;

» transfer assets;

e pay dividends or make distributions on, or repase, our capital stock; and
e merge or consolidate.

In addition, we are required to meet certain finalhoovenants customary with this type of credéilfty, including
maintaining a minimum specified tangible net wofthe credit facility also contains other customemyenants. We may not be
able to comply with these covenants in the fut@ner. failure to comply
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with these covenants may result in the declaraifaan event of default and could cause us to bélarta borrow under the
credit facility. In addition to preventing additiainborrowings under the credit facility, an evehtlefault, if not cured or
waived, may result in the acceleration of the mptwf indebtedness outstanding under the creditifg at the time of the
default, which would require us to pay all amounmisstanding. If an event of default occurs, we matybe able to cure it
within any applicable cure period, if at all. lfetimaturity of our indebtedness is accelerated, &g mot have sufficient funds
available for repayment or we may not have thatghid borrow or obtain sufficient funds to replate accelerated
indebtedness on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

If we choose to acquire or invest in new businesge®ducts or technologies, instead of developihgrm ourselves, these
acquisitions or investments could disrupt our busss and could result in the use of significant anrds of equity, cash or a
combination of both.

From time to time we may seek to acquire or inesiusinesses, products or technologies, insteaewdloping them
ourselves. Acquisitions and investments involve atous risks, including:

« the inability to complete the acquisition or isttaent;

< disruption of our ongoing businesses and diversiomanagement attention;

- difficulties in integrating the acquired entitigsoducts or technologies;

- difficulties in operating the acquired businessfipably;

< the inability to achieve anticipated synergiasstsavings or growth;

e potential loss of key employees, particularlyshof the acquired business;

« difficulties in transitioning and maintaining keystomer, distributor and supplier relationships;
« risks associated with entering markets in whiehhave no or limited prior experience; and
e unanticipated costs.

In addition, any future acquisitions or investmemgsy result in one or more of the following:

« issuances of dilutive equity securities, whichyrba sold at a discount to market price;

« the use of significant amounts of cash;

» the incurrence of debt;

« the assumption of significant liabilities;

* increased operating costs or reduced earnings;

« financing obtained on unfavorable terms;

« large one-time expenses; and

« the creation of certain intangible assets, inclgdjoodwill, the write-down of which may resultsignificant charges to
earnings.

Any of these factors could materially harm our Etpdce, our business, or our operating results.

We may be required to raise additional funds todimce our operations and remain a going concern; way not be able to
do so when necessary, and/or the terms of any ficiags may not be advantageous to us.

We held cash and cash equivalents of $8.7 milloofédDecember 31, 2012. We believe that these ress@and the cash to
be generated from expected product sales will Hemnt to meet our projected operating requiretsdar at least the next
twelve months. We continue to face significant E@rajes and uncertainties and, as a result, ouladlgicapital resources may
be consumed more rapidly than currently expectedtdifa) decreases in sales of our products andnitertainty of future
revenues from new products; (b) changes we may taatke business that affect ongoing operating esg® (c) changes we
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may make in our business strategy; (d) regulatesetbpments affecting our existing products andyteln the FDA approval
process for products under development; (e) chaingasr research and development spending plank(faother items
affecting our forecasted level of expenditures asel of cash resources. Accordingly, we will needhtse additional funds to
support our operating and capital needs beyondeketwelve months. We may attempt to obtain addéi funding through
public or private financing, collaborative arrangmts with strategic partners, or through additiamadit lines or other debt
financing sources to increase the funds availabfanid operations. However, we may not be abletu® such financing in a
timely manner or on favorable terms, if at all. thermore, if we issue equity or debt securitiesatse additional funds, our
existing stockholders may experience dilution, #renew equity or debt securities may have rigtsferences and privileges
senior to those of our existing stockholders. Ifraise additional funds through collaboration, tisieg or other similar
arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquisiatéé rights to our potential products or propngtachnologies, or grant
licenses on terms that are not favorable to ushddit additional funds, we may be forced to delag/esback or eliminate some
of our sales and marketing efforts, research armdldpment activities, or other operations and pid#ip delay product
development in an effort to provide sufficient fertd continue our operations. If any of these eventurs, our ability to
achieve our development and commercialization goal#d be adversely affected.

If we sell additional shares, our stock price magdline as a result of the dilution which will occup existing stockholders.

Until we are profitable, we will need significardditional funds to develop our business and sustairoperations. Any
additional sales of shares of our common stockadiher securities exercisable into our common stoekikely to have a
dilutive effect on some or all of our then exististgckholders. Resales of newly issued sharesinpen market could also
have the effect of lowering our stock price, thgrattreasing the number of shares we may needgte is the future to raise
the same dollar amount and consequently furthatidg our outstanding shares.

The perceived risk associated with the possible sbh large number of shares could cause someraftockholders to sell
their stock, thus causing the price of our stocidoline. In addition, actual or anticipated downdvaressure on our stock price
due to actual or anticipated issuances or salstok could cause some institutions or individtalengage in short sales of our
common stock, which may itself cause the pricewfstock to decline.

If our stock price declines, we may be unable iseradditional capital. A sustained inability téseacapital could force us
to go out of business. Significant declines inpghiee of our common stock could also impair outligbio attract and retain
qualified employees, reduce the liquidity of ourmaoon stock and result in the delisting of our comratock from The
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, or NASDAQ.

The trading price of our common stock has been tiéaand is likely to be volatile in the future.

The trading price of our common stock has beenlyigblatile. Since our public offering in July 20@drough February 1,
2013 our stock price has fluctuated from a low2#$ to a high of $1,482.84. The market price far @ommon stock will be
affected by a number of factors, including:

< the denial or delay of regulatory clearancespmravals for our products under development oripted regulatory
approval of competing products;

e our ability to accomplish clinical, regulatorydanther product development milestones and to do accordance with
our timing estimates;

e changes in policies affecting third-party coveramd reimbursement in the United States and cthertries;
« changes in government regulations and stand#fefstiag the medical device industry and our prdaduc

e ability of our products to achieve market sucgess

« the performance of third-party contract manufeatsiand component suppliers;

e actual or anticipated variations in our resuftserations or those of our competitors;
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e announcements of new products, technologicahations or product advancements by us or our catopst
« developments with respect to patents and othelieéatual property rights;

« sales of common stock or other securities byrumio stockholders in the future;

e additions or departures of key scientific or nggraent personnel;

« disputes or other developments relating to progmnetights, including patents, litigation matterslaur ability to obtai
patent protection for our technologies;

e trading volume of our common stock;

e changes in earnings estimates or recommenddiipsscurities analysts, failure to obtain or mamsmalyst coverage
of our common stock or our failure to achieve asadarnings estimates;

e public statements by analysts or clinicians rdupay their perceptions of our clinical results loe Eeffectiveness of our
products;

« decreases in market valuations of medical desérepanies; and

< general market conditions and other factors abeel to our operating performance or the operagt@érfprmance of our
competitors.

The stock prices of many companies in the medieaiog industry have experienced wide fluctuatidrad have often been
unrelated to the operating performance of thesepemias. Periods of volatility in the market prideaccompany’s securities
can result in securities class action litigatioaiagt a company. If class action litigation isiatid against us, we may incur
substantial costs and our management’s attentignbmaliverted from our operations, which could #gigantly harm our
business.

If we fail to meet all applicable NASDAQ Capital Miet requirements and The NASDAQ Stock Market det@nes to delist
our common stock, the delisting could adverselyeaffthe market liquidity of our common stock, impdhe value of your
investment and harm our business.

Our common stock is currently listed on the NASDE&&pital Market. In order to maintain that listinge must satisfy
minimum financial and other requirements. On Ma2h2012, we received a notice from the Listing iQigations
Department of the NASDAQ Stock Market indicatingttifor the last 30 consecutive business daysithprice for our
common stock had closed below the minimum $1.0Gpare required for continued inclusion on The NAEDCapital
Market under NASDAQ Listing Rule 5550(a)(2). Thetification letter stated that pursuant to NASDAQting Rule 5810(c)
(3)(A) the Company would be afforded 180 calendsysg or until September 18, 2012, to regain compéavith the minimum
bid price requirement. On September 19, 2012, weived a letter from NASDAQ stating that we hadrbgeanted a six month
extension until March 18, 2013 to regain compliawdh the minimum bid price requirement for conallisting on The
NASDAQ Capital Market. During this grace periodengion, our common stock will continue to be listedThe NASDAQ
Stock Market. In order to regain compliance, shafemur common stock must maintain a minimum bikgig price of at least
$1.00 per share for a minimum of ten consecutiv@nass days.

In order to regain compliance, shares of the oammoon stock must maintain a minimum bid closing @€ at least $1.00
per share for a minimum of ten consecutive busidags. Therefore, on February 15, 2013, we fil&kdificate of
Amendment to our Restated Certificate of Incorgomatas amended, with the Secretary of State obthte of Delaware, to
effect a 1-for-6 reverse stock split of our comnstwck. This action had previously been approvedunystockholders at a
special meeting of stockholders held on Decemb2072. As a result of the reverse stock split, gget shares of our pre-
reverse split common stock were combined and reifiled into one share of our common stock. No foacl shares were
issued in connection with the reverse stock split.

If we do not regain compliance by March 18, 2013 30DAQ will provide written notification to us thaur common stock
will be delisted. At that time, we may appeal NASQA delisting determination to a NASDAQ Hearings&laWhile we
intend to engage in efforts to regain complianogl, thus maintain our
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listing, we may not be able to regain compliancerduthe applicable time period set forth abovevédffail to meet all
applicable NASDAQ Capital Market requirements ia fhture and NASDAQ determines to delist our comrstmck, the
delisting could substantially decrease tradingunapmmon stock and adversely affect the marketdity of our common
stock; adversely affect our ability to obtain ficarg on acceptable terms, if at all, for the comdition of our operations; and
harm our business. Additionally, the market priteur common stock may decline further and stoctteid may lose some or
all of their investment. The closing bid price eiraommon stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market was382n February 1,
2013.

Our recently implemented reverse stock split coatilversely affect the market liquidity of our commatock, impair the
value of your investment and harm our business.

On December 7, 2012, our stockholders approvedoged amendment to our restated certificate afrparation, as
amended, and authorized our Board of Directoiig, tifieir judgment they deemed it necessary, taceHaeverse stock split of
our common stock at a ratio in the range of 1:2:60 We implemented this reverse stock split orriraty 15, 2013 with a ratio
of 1:6, however, there are risks associated withréfverse stock split, including that the revesteek split may not result in a
sustained increase in the per share price of anmamn stock. We cannot predict whether the revemsek split will increase the
market price for our common stock on a sustainaisbd@he history of similar stock split combinatidior companies in like
circumstances is varied, and we cannot predict hanet

« the market price per share of our common stotek &fie reverse stock split will rise in proportimnthe reduction in the
number of shares of our common stock outstandifgré¢he reverse stock split;

« the reverse stock split will result in a per harice that will attract brokers and investors wdloonot trade in lower
priced stocks;

« the reverse stock split will result in a per harice that will increase our ability to attraotaretain employees and
other service providers; or

« the market price per share will either exceetkarain in excess of the $1.00 minimum bid priceeagiired by
NASDAQ, or that we will otherwise meet the requists of NASDAQ for continued inclusion for tradiog The
NASDAQ Capital Market

The low trading volume of our common stock may atsady affect the price of our shares.

Although our common stock is listed on the NASDA@p@al Market, our common stock has experiencedttading
volume. The 50 day average trading volume througlirirary 1, 2013 as reported by NASDAQ was approteind 3,667
shares. Limited trading volume may subject our camistock to greater price volatility and may matiifficult for investors
to sell shares at a price that is attractive tonthe

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational doowents and Delaware law, and the shareholder rightan that we
previously adopted in 2007, may discourage or pré\@change of control, even if an acquisition walibe beneficial to our
stockholders, which could affect our stock pricewadsely and prevent attempts by our stockholdersefdace or remove our
current management.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contpiovisions that could delay or prevent a changeootrol of our
company or changes in our Board of Directors thiatstockholders might consider favorable. Somées$é provisions:

« authorize the issuance of preferred stock wharhlme created and issued by the Board of Direetith®ut prior
stockholder approval, with rights senior to thoseuwr common stock;

« provide for a classified Board of Directors, withch director serving a staggered three-year term;

« prohibit our stockholders from filling board vaxdes, calling special stockholder meetings, oinglaction by written
consent;

« provide for the removal of a director only withuse and by the affirmative vote of the holdergs$f or more of the
shares then entitled to vote at an election ofdingctors; and
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e require advance written notice of stockholdemosals and director nominations.

We have also adopted a shareholder rights plarcthddl make it more difficult for a third party ézquire, or could
discourage a third party from acquiring, us orrgaablock of our common stock. A third party thatjaires 15% or more of our
common stock could suffer substantial dilutiontefawnership interest under the terms of the slddehrights plan through
the issuance of common stock to all stockholdensrathan the acquiring person.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions oftfe® 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Latich may prohibit
certain business combinations with stockholdersiogvh5% or more of our outstanding voting stocke3éand other
provisions in our certificate of incorporation, byls and Delaware law could make it more difficalt $tockholders or potential
acquirers to obtain control of our Board of Direstor initiate actions that are opposed by our-fuiement Board of Directors,
including a merger, tender offer, or proxy contaesblving our company. Any delay or prevention afteange of control
transaction or changes in our Board of Directordadcause the market price of our common stocletdile.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooanital stock. We currently intend to retainalhilable funds and any
future earnings for use in the operation and expansf our business and do not anticipate payingaash dividends in the
foreseeable future. In addition, the terms of aedit facility precludes us from paying any dividisnAs a result, capital
appreciation, if any, of our common stock will b& stockholders’ sole source of potential gaintfar foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is located in an approximatel§@®Dsquare foot facility in Waltham, Massachusettich we occupy
under an office lease expiring in March 2014. Whelve that our existing facilities are adequatedur current needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

While we are not currently a party to any matdeghl proceedings, we could become subject to legaleedings in the
ordinary course of business. We do not expect aoly potential items to have a significant impacban financial position.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock was traded on the NASDAQ Globalkeiafrom its initial listing in July 2004 until Mah 23, 2011.
Since March 24, 2011, our common stock has tradeti@ NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “NUROhe price
range per share reflected in the table below isitle and low sales prices of our common stoclepsnted by NASDAQ
(rounded to the nearest penny) for the periodsepites and has been adjusted to reflect a 1-fow&se stock split of our
common stock completed on February 15, 2013.

Years ended December 31,

2012 2011

High Low High Low
First quarter $ 94t $ 3.9€¢ $ 248/ $ 15.4¢
Second quarter 4.9¢ 3.6¢€ 22.6¢ 14.7¢
Third quarter 5.1C 3.12 19.8( 9.6(
Fourth quarter 3.6¢€ 2.4C 12.3( 6.9(C

Stockholders

On February 1, 2013, there were approximately &&ksiolders of record of our common stock. This neandpes not
include stockholders for whom shares were held“imminee” or “street” name. On February 1, 201, last reported sale
price per share of our common stock on the NASD/A«Qital Market was $2.88.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaitufe earnings, if
any, to finance the expansion and growth of ouirtass and do not expect to pay any cash dividentleiforeseeable future.
Payment of future cash dividends, if any, will hehee discretion of our board of directors afteirig into account various
factors, including our financial condition, opergtiresults, current and anticipated cash needspland for expansion.
Additionally, the credit facility restricts our dity to pay dividends.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We reacquired 75 shares of our common stock, avarage price of $3.78 per share, during the quenged December
31, 2012, in connection with the vesting of certaistricted shares issued pursuant to our Fourtendiad and Restated 2004
Stock Option and Incentive Plan. We reacquiredelsbsres as part of the settlement of minimum fthhwelding obligations
by participants under our Fourth Amended and Redt2004 Stock Option and Incentive Plan. The folhgutable sets forth
these reacquisitions that we made during the quantded December 31, 2012 and has been adjustefietct a 1-for-6 reverse
split of our common stock completed on February208,3:

Maximum Number
(or Approximate

Total Number of Dollar Value) of
Total Shares Purchased Shares that May Yet
Number Average as Part of Publicly ~ Be Purchased Under
of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans the Plans or
Period Purchased per Share or Programs Programs
October 1, 2012 — October 31, 2012 — — N/A N/A
November 1, 201- November 30, 2012 — — N/A N/A
December 1, 2012 — December 31, 2012 75 $  3.7¢ N/A N/A
Total 7% $  3.7¢ N/A N/A
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data are derivexhf our audited financial statements, which hawenleudited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registaiblic accounting firm. The selected financetiadbelow should be
read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Rission and Analysis of Financial Condition and Rssaf Operations,”
Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosursisout Market Risk” and our financial statements agldted notes for the
years ended 2012, 2011, and 2010 appearing elsewh#ris Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues $ 7,57t $10,39° $1390(C $26,137 $ 31,12
Cost of revenues 3,58¢ 4,722 7,05( 7,53¢ 9,012
Gross profit 3,98¢ 5,67¢ 6,85( 18,60: 22,10¢
Operating expenses:

Research and development 3,54¢ 3,871 5,85¢ 5,611 5,58¢

Sales and marketing 5,72 6,68¢ 11,07: 10,84: 14,641

General and administrative 4,73¢ 5,112 7,23 9,11¢ 12,01¢

Goodwill impairment — — — — 5,83:

Charge for legal settlement — — — — 3,70¢

Intangible asset impairment — — — — 1,76¢

Gain from deconsolidation of joint ventu — — — — (2,100

Total operating expenses 14,00¢ 15,67¢ 24,16( 25,57 41,45¢

Loss from operations (10,027 (20,009 (17,310 (6,970 (29,350
Loss on available-for-sale investment — — — — (2,500
Interest and other income 14 22 29¢ 227 721
Warrants fair value adjustment — — — (5,175 —
Loss from continuing operations (10,009 (9,98)) (17,019 (12,919 (21,129
Loss from discontinued operations — — — — (6,607)
Loss before taxes (10,009 (9,98)) (17,019 (11,919 (27,730)
Income tax benefit — — 121 — —
Net loss $(10,00 $ (9,98]) $(16,89)  $(11,919 $(27,730)
Loss per common share from continuing

operations, basic and diluted $ (522 $ (1557 $ (26.4) $ (25.5€) $ (55.39)
Loss per common share from discontinuec

operations, basic and diluted $ — 3 — 3 —  $ —  $(17.29

Net loss per common share, basicand dil $ (5.22) $ (1559 $ (26.4]) $ (25.5¢) $ (72.6¢)

As of December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents, and short-term
investments $ 869¢ $ 10,29¢ $ 16,987 $ 30,43. $ 19,79



Total assets 10,871 14,22: 23,06¢ 40,567 31,14%
Total liabilities 2,077 3,132 2,867 4,857 8,31¢
Total stockholders’ equity 8,80( 11,08¢ 20,19¢ 35,71( 22,83:
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouarficial condition and results of operations in camgtion with our
selected financial data, our financial statemeats] the accompanying notes to those financial states included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussiontains forward-looking statements that involisks and uncertainties.
For a description of factors that may cause ouwattresults to differ materially from those antiatpd in these forward-
looking statements, please refer to the sectitedtitRisk Factors”, contained in Item 1A of this Aual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a medical device company focused on thendgg and treatment of the neurological complicetiof diabetes.
People with diabetes do not effectively regulatgrtblood glucose, or sugar, levels leading to olualy high levels of glucose
in the blood, called hyperglycemia, and occasigniadiuts of low glucose in the blood, called hypagimia. The primary
reason that glucose levels are not effectively leggd in people with diabetes is that those withdisease do not produce
insulin (Type | diabetes) or are resistant to themal physiological action of insulin (Type Il dietes). Many Type |l diabetics
eventually require insulin because production eftibrmone by their pancreas decreases with timee Tdiabetes usually
affects children and teenagers whereas Type lletisbhas typically been a disease of adults oeeagdle of 50. However, over
the past decade, Type Il diabetes is occurringoimger adults, which can probably be attributekigder levels of obesity in
this age group.

We believe that there are large and important umeetls in both the diagnosis and treatment of tmbeuropathies. As a
medical device company with both unique and sulistizexperience in devices to measure and altépiperal nerve function,
we believe we are in the unique position to addilessierve-related complications of diabetes thinaihg development of novel
proprietary medical devices. Therefore, we are $eduwon developing and marketing medical devicethiodiagnosis and
treatment of diabetic neuropathies. We believewsare the only medical device company with aegjia focus on the
diabetic neuropathy market and our goal is to kedthminant player in this field.

Since we shifted our strategic focus to the diabetiuropathy market in 2011, we have launched twdyzts with the
potential to change medical practice. NC-stat DP&Rhour diagnostic test for diabetic peripheralropathy has now been on
the market for over a year since launch in latel2®evenues in 2012 were nearly $1.5M. Importarily were able to test
product acceptance in several market segmentsaredriow focused on the managed care market asdsieattractive near-
term revenue opportunity. Within managed care, reespecifically targeting Medicare Advantage. MadécAdvantage
providers assume financial responsibility and tbsoaiated risks for the health care costs of {heients. For Medicare
Advantage providers, NC-stat DPNCheck presentsrwpediing clinical case with early detection of nepathy allowing for
earlier clinical intervention to help mitigate tafects of neuropathy on both patient quality t& And cost of care. Also, the
diagnosis and documentation of neuropathy proviieNC-stat DPNCheck helps clarify the patient Heplofile which, in
turn, has a direct, positive effect on the Medidagantage premium received by the provider. Theliglre Advantage
market encompasses approximately 15 million covéived or about 27% of the total Medicare populatid/e believe that this
represents an attainable market in the range ob$i@35150 million. We have a small, senior levehowercial operations team
focused on developing the Medicare Advantage market

SENSUS, our therapeutic device for relief of chepimtractable pain was launched in January 2018 bdlieve this
product will be attractive to endocrinologists, fadsts, primary care physicians, and other phgaithat are challenged with
trying to manage pain in their patients with paimfimbetic neuropathy. The prevalence of painfabeiic neuropathy is 16 —
26% of people with diabetes representing a 4 Hlompatient group. The attainable market for SEM)5, we believe, could
be 10% of this patient group representing annutdri@l revenue in the range of $150 — $200 milllBENSUS is a
prescription product and our initial challengedasbtain broad, national physician exposure. Wenidtto create demand by
contracting with a number of independent durabldins equipment (DME) suppliers employing salegespntatives who
detail physicians. Physician prescriptions willfbHilled by the DME suppliers who will maintainstock of SENSUS devices
and consumables. We have seven regional DME distrib with 30 sales representatives as of Febrlyr2013. Our goal in
building national coverage is 100 sales
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representatives by mid-2013 and 250 sales repesars by the end of 2013. Further, during 2013eee set a goal of 2,000
patients treated with SENSUS resulting in $1 millio product revenue.

During the course of 2012 we modified our operastrgcture to focus more narrowly on the high-valpgortunities for
NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS that can be pursueddegpendent distributors plus a small commerqigrations team.
This has reduced operating expenses and, mordisagtiy, improved our future flexibility to gendgaincreased sales volume
without the cost of adding sales representativesfiaid clinical support. Our operating expensesrdn2012 totaled $14.0
million. We forecast 2013 operating expenses tmlibe range of $11 to $12 million, a reductiorldfb to 21%. We believe
we can maintain and leverage this approximate tipgraxpense level over the next several yearsiadiabetes business
grows.

We continue to manage our historical neurodiagosd$tusiness which is centered on the ADVANCE sysfems business
generated $6.1 million in revenue during 2012 witbss margins exceeding 50%. There are few digsit operating expenses
of the business. The neurodiagnostic businessd&sib decline for several years and reimbursegmmditions that might lead
to reversing the trend are not existent. We seehtihsiness as continuing to decline as we opertiedash flow.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2012 and sgber 31, 2011
Revenues

The following table summarizes our revenues:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Revenues $ 7,575.0 $ 10,396.8 $(2,821.) 27.1%

Revenues include sales from our initial diabeteslpct, NC-stat DPNCheck which was commercially thed late in
2011, and our legacy neurodiagnostics businessn®thie year ended December 31, 2012 we shipped&36tat DPNCheck
devices plus consumable biosensors and recordeduevrom these products of $1,443,000. This coegpaith NC-stat
DPNCheck revenue of $84,800 for the year ended mbee31, 2011. Revenues from medical device andwoables sales of
our legacy neurodiagnostic products totaled $6llianiin 2012, compared to $10.3 million in 2011er$4.2 million reduction
in neurodiagnostics revenue reflects the contindiegine of this business which we manage for €iashand not growth. In
addition, neurodiagnostic revenue in 2012 was adheraffected by our discontinuance of servicelti2ioNC-stat products
linked to our onCall system. While many NC-stataous transitioned to the ADVANCE platform, we @idperience a drop in
testing accounts shortly after we shut down theadingystem.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

The following table summarizes our cost of reverarss gross margin:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues $ 3,588.& $ 4,722 $(1,133.) (24.0%
Gross profit $ 3,986 $ 5,674 $(1,688.) (29.7)

Our cost of revenues decreased $1.1 million to &8l&n, or 47.4% of revenues, for the year en@etember 31, 2012,
compared to $4.7 million, or 45.4% of revenuestiieryear ended December 31, 2011. Included inafasivenues in 2012 was
$234,800 in non-cash charges for excess invenadayed to our neurodiagnostics business. Our gnasgin percentage of
52.6% of revenues for 2012 decreased from 54.6Bévanues for 2011. The decreased gross marginrgageein 2012
reflected in part discounts and promotions aimegkpanding market penetration, as well as non-chalges to write-off
excess inventory.
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Operating Expenses

The following table presents a breakdown of ourafieg expenses:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 3,645 $ 3,877t $ (331.9) (8.6)%

Sales and marketing 5,727.! 6,688.¢ (961.7) (14.9

General and administrative 4,735.. 5,111.¢ (376.9 (7.9
Total operating expenses $ 14,008.! $ 15,677.° $(1,669.) (10.6)

Research and Development

Research and development expenses for the yeasd @®&tember 31, 2012 and 2011 were $3.5 million$@ million,
respectively. The comparative results included eleses of $214,100 in technology licenses and feeeaarrowed our
product development focus, $192,500 related togitde asset impairment charges, $120,000 in ressgucosts for new hires
in 2011, $58,800 in stock-based compensation, &40 in depreciation and amortization. Theseebsas were partially
offset by a $187,000 increase in personnel costeeaacreased headcount to support developmenENSES and product
modifications to NC-stat DPNCheck, plus a $136,B@0ease in engineering fees related to these medupts.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $5i@mhdf the year ended December 31, 2012 from &6lifon for the year
ended December 31, 2011. During 2012, we reducedependence on field clinical educators to supporineurodiagnostic
business and we shifted our NC-stat DPNCheck engpt@sard managed care allowing us to eliminate our
endrocrinolgy/podiatry direct sales representatifegal sales and marketing headcount was redugd® Ipositions as a result.
Personnel costs, including compensation, benetfiisracruiting costs in 2012 were $967,500 lowentima2011. This spending
reduction was partially offset by an increase dd#100 for outside consulting support related terimational markets and for
U.S. distribution channel development for SENSUS.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreasedZar§fion for the year ended December 31, 201nffR5.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2011. Personnel ces¢sraduced in 2012 with $348,100 attributabledclscompensation and
$142,900 attributable to incentive compensatiosutance costs were reduced by $90,300 due to a kmwerage amount and
reduced insurance rates. Bad debt expense andrearstoedit processing fees were reduced by $98,3%® Company
expanded investor outreach and publicity whicheased costs by $196,000.

Interest and other income

Interest income was $14,500 and $21,900 for thesyereded December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectinédyest income
was earned from investments in cash equivalents.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2011 and sgber 31, 2010
Revenues

The following table summarizes our revenues:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Revenues $ 10,396. $ 13,899. $(3,502.9 (25.2)%
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Revenues include sales of medical equipment camgisf sales of the ADVANCE device and, in 201G NC-stat device,
accessories, extended service agreements, and$atazsumables consisting of various electroddschvare used with our
ADVANCE and NC-stat Systems, and EMG needles whrehused with our ADVANCE System. In 2011, revenalee
included $85,000 from sales of our initial diabgtesduct, NC-stat DPNCheck, which was launchedie 2011. Revenues for
the year ended December 31, 2011 declined $3.®omtlb $10.4 million, compared with $13.9 millioorfthe year ended
December 31, 2010, reflecting a 22.7% contractfoouo neurodiagnostic installed base that contatub lower electrodes
sales.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin

The following table summarizes our cost of reveramss gross margin:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues $ 4,722 $ 7,050 $(2,328.) (33.0%
Gross margin $ 5674 $ 6,849 $(1,174.9 (17.2)

Our cost of revenues decreased $2.3 million to $#llfon, or 45.4% of revenues for the year endet@&@nber 31, 2011,
compared with $7.1 million, or 50.7% of revenues,the year ended December 31, 2010. This decreaselue primarily to
lower neurodiagnostic shipment volume, partiallisef by the impact of higher electrode costs, winciheased due to lower
production volumes, compared with the year endetkBer 31, 2010. In addition, gross margin for 2idtuded inventory
charges of $1.8 million related to a strategic ¢f@aim direction of our business that was announcedanuary 4, 2011. Our
gross margin of 54.6% of revenues for the year @dkrember 31, 2011 increased from 49.3% of revefardahe same period
in 2010. The lower gross margin percentage for 2@%Qlted primarily from the inventory charges woadove.

Operating Expenses

The following table presents a breakdown of ourrafieg expenses:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 3877 $ 58550 $(1,977.9 (33.9)%

Sales and marketing 6,688.¢ 11,072.. (4,383.9) (39.6)

General and administrative 5,111.¢ 7,231.¢ (2,120.9) (29.9)
Total operating expenses $ 15,677 $ 24,159.. $(8,481.) (35.))

Research and Development

Research and development expenses for the yeagd Ertember 31, 2011 and 2010 were $3.9 million$&n@ million,
respectively. The comparative results included elzses of $1.1 million in personnel related costd,13000 in clinical studies
and product development costs, $315,000 in costsmgulting and outside services, $125,000 fonkes and fees, $124,000
for stock-based compensation, $53,000 for amoitizatf intangible assets, $50,000 for facilitiestsp and $39,000 for
supplies and equipment costs. These decreasepantialy offset by an impairment charge of $19®,%0the second quarter
of 2011 to write off the remaining value of intablg assets following our decision to terminate dmwa@ent efforts relating to
certain technological and intellectual propertyeésscquired in 2009, and a $101,000 increasecmitig costs.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses decreased to $6i@mfdl the year ended December 31, 2011 from $dfllion for the
year ended December 31, 2010. Personnel costsadecr8§3.4 million and travel and entertainmentscdstreased $764,000
reflecting the January 2011 termination of our dimeurodiagnostics sales force in conjunction \&itrategic initiative to
more efficiently focus on our installed base ofvaeaccounts, partially offset by the implementatad a lower cost sales force
focused on the endocrinology and
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podiatry markets beginning in the third quarteR011. In addition, recruiting costs decreased $Z¥&,internal meeting costs
decreased $135,000, and stock-based compensaticraded $93,000. These decreases were partiaigt &ff increases of
$170,000 in advertising and promotions costs amswalting costs of $76,000 largely related to oabétes initiative.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses decreasedta$lion for the year ended December 31, 201inf&¥.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2010. This decreaselétt$625,000 from personnel costs, reflectingiced headcount,
$500,000 from professional fees, $242,000 fromriewsce costs, $143,000 from supplies and equipneets,c$131,000 from
stock-based compensation, $121,000 from taxesidesand fees, $105,000 from bad debt expens&QrBBom facilities
costs, $57,000 from consulting and temporary lalsts, and $45,000 from recruiting costs.

Interest and other income

The following table presents a breakdown of ouebothcome and expenses:

Years Ended December 31,

2011 2010 Change % Change

(in thousands)

Other income and expenses:

Interest income $ 21¢ % 53.6 $ (319 (59.9%
Federal grant income — 244t (244.5) (200.0
Total other income and expenses $ 21.¢ $ 2987 $ (276.9) (92.7)

Interest income was $22,000 for the year ended mbee31, 2011 and $54,000 for the year ended Deeefih 2010. In
addition, in 2010 we received a $244,000 U.S. Quiali Therapeutic Discovery Project grant undettisec48D of the Internal
Revenue Code.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of liquidity is our cash arablk equivalents. As of December 31, 2012, casltasitd equivalents
totaled $8.7 million. Our ability to generate reuerwill largely depend on the success of our debusiness initiative and our
ability to manage our legacy neurodiagnostic bissirte optimize cash flow. A low level of marketargst in NC-stat
DPNCheck or SENSUS, an accelerating decline imeurodiagnostics consumables sales, or unantidpateeases in our
operating costs would have an adverse effect otiquidity and cash generated from operations. foflewing table sets forth
information relating to our cash and cash equivalen

December 31, December 31,
2012 2011 Change % Change

($ in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,699 $ 10,290.. $(1,590.9 (15.5%

In order to supplement our access to capital, wearty to a Loan and Security Agreement, or tleditfacility, with a
bank. As of December 31, 2012 the credit faciligyrpitted us to borrow up to $7.5 million on a resnd) basis. The credit
facility was recently amended on January 28, 201Bthe amount of the credit facility was set a638illion. The amended
credit facility was extended, until its new expiate of January 31, 2014. Amounts borrowed undectédit facility will bear
interest equal to the prime rate plus 0.5%. Anydeings under the credit facility will be securegddur cash, accounts
receivable, inventory, and equipment. The credilifg includes traditional lending and reportingvenants. These include
certain financial covenants applicable to liquiditat are to be maintained by us. As of DecembeRB12, we were in
compliance with these covenants and had not bod@mg funds under the credit facility. The amour$225,000 of the credit
facility limit is restricted to support a letter ofedit issued in favor of our landlord in connentivith the lease of our facilities
in Waltham, Massachusetts. Consequently, the amauailable for borrowing under the credit facildg of December 31, 2012
was $7,275,000 and was subsequently reduced td%R@0 on January 28, 2013, as noted above.
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During the year ended December 31, 2012, our cadltash equivalents decreased by $1.6 million, gmiljndue to net
cash of $9.2 million used in operating activitiehich was largely offset by net proceeds of $7.Bioni provided by our public
offering in February 2012. In connection with tpisblic offering, we issued 1,421,735 shares of comistock and warrants to
purchase 710,868 shares of common stock and receffering proceeds, net of discounts, commissant expenses, of
approximately $7.5 million. In addition, the placemt agent for the offering was issued warrantanchmse 71,087 shares of
common stock.

In managing our working capital, two of the finaalaneasurements we monitor are days sales outstgrati DSO, and
inventory turnover rate, which are presented intéfsde below for the years ended December 31, 2082011

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011
Days sales outstanding (days) 33 4C
Inventory turnover rate (times per year) 3.2 2.4

The improvement in DSO reflects continuing vigilane managing customer collections and increaseftamh payments.
The improvement in inventory turnover reflects @ouing vigilance in managing inventory balances.

The following sets forth information relating tousoes and uses of our cash:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activit $(9,175.() $(6,778.9) $(13,307.)
Net cash provided by investing activiti 122.( 67.5 7,188.!
Net cash provided by financing activiti 7,462.¢ 14.F 168.(

Our operating activities used $9.2 million in treay ended December 31, 2012. The primary drivethi®use of cash in our
operating activities during 2012 was our net Ids$1®.0 million. This net loss included non-caslargfes of $319,400 for
stock-based compensation, $297,100 for depreciatidnamortization, and $234,800 for an excess tavgiprovision. In
addition, cash used in operating activities refldatorking capital changes including a $694,300eks®e in inventories, a
$530,100 decrease in accrued expenses and comipansa$371,900 decrease in accounts payable, 88d%300 decrease in
accounts receivable.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, our imgesictivities included a $229,500 benefit in tekease of formerly
restricted cash upon the signing of an amendmemiitdacility lease, partially offset by $107,5Qtest for the acquisition of
fixed assets.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, our fimgnactivities included $7.5 million in net proceetiom our public
offering of equity securities in February 2012.

We held cash and cash equivalents of $8.7 milloofédDecember 31, 2012. We believe that these ress@and the cash to
be generated from expected product sales will Hemnt to meet our projected operating requiretsdar at least the next
twelve months. We continue to face significant Erajes and uncertainties and, as a result, ouladlaicapital resources may
be consumed more rapidly than currently expectedtdifa) decreases in sales of our products andnitertainty of future
revenues from new products; (b) changes we may taatke business that affect ongoing operating esg® (c) changes we
may make in our business strategy; (d) regulatesetbpments affecting our existing products andyteln the FDA approval
process for products under development; (e) chawgesay make in our research and development spgpians; and (f)
other items affecting our forecasted level of exjiemes and use of cash resources. Accordinglywileneed to raise
additional funds to support our operating and ehpieeds beyond the next twelve months. We maynattéo obtain additional
funding through public or private financing, coltabtive arrangements with strategic partners, muigph additional credit lines
or other debt financing sources to increase thdgavailable to fund operations. However, we méaybecable to secure
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such financing in a timely manner or on favoraklarts, if at all. We have filed a shelf registratgiatement with the SEC to
register shares of our common stock and other giesufor sale, giving us the opportunity to raisading when needed or
otherwise considered appropriate at prices anémnstto be determined at the time of any suchiaffer Pursuant to the
instructions to Form S-3, we currently have thditgttio sell shares under the shelf registrati@tesnent, during any 12-month
period, in an amount less than or equal to onetiblithe aggregate market value of the common dtetk by non-affiliates. If
we issue equity or debt securities to raise aduiifunds, our existing stockholders may experiafitgion, and the new equity
or debt securities may have rights, preferenceganideges senior to those of our existing stodkees. If we raise additional
funds through collaboration, licensing or otherifamarrangements, it may be necessary to relituéduable rights to our
potential products or proprietary technologiesyi@nt licenses on terms that are not favorablest®\ithout additional funds,
we may be forced to delay, scale back or elimisatae of our sales and marketing efforts, researdidavelopment activities,
or other operations and potentially delay prodestedlopment in an effort to provide sufficient furtdscontinue our operations.
If any of these events occurs, our ability to aghieur development and commercialization goals dibel adversely affected.

As of December 31, 2012, we have federal and s&tteperating loss, or NOL, carryforwards availableffset future
taxable income of $89.4 million and $38.0 millisaspectively, and federal and state tax credi&ldd million and $901,000,
respectively, which may be available to reduceritaxable income and the related taxes thereanfdderal NOL'’s begin to
expire in 2019 and the state NOL's begin to expire013. The federal and state research and dewelopcredits both begin to
expire in 2018. A full valuation allowance has bg@eavided against our NOL carryforwards and researtd development
credit carryforwards and, if an adjustment is reepli this adjustment would be offset by an adjustn@the valuation
allowance. Thus, there would be no impact to tHartz® sheet or statement of operations if an adgist were required.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obiigest, and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
As of December 31, 2012, we did not have any oféfize sheet financing arrangements.

The following table summarizes our principal conteal obligations as of December 31, 2012 and ffeets such
obligations are expected to have on our liquiditd aash flows in future periods.

Payments due in

Contractual Obligations Total 2013 1-3years 3 -5years
Operating lease obligations $ 793,75¢ $ 635,000 $ 158,75. $ —
Capital lease obligations 18,44¢ 18,44¢ — —
Purchase order obligations 566,62¢ 566,62¢ — —
Total contractual obligations $1,378,82 $1,220,07 $ 158,75. $ =

As of December 31, 2012, we have no contractuadjatibns that extend beyond two years.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are based on the seleatidrapplication of generally accepted accountimgjples, which
require us to make estimates and assumptions &ltou¢ events that affect the amounts reportediirfinancial statements and
the accompanying notes. Future events and theictsftannot be determined with certainty. Therefibie determination of
estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Acesllts could differ significantly from those asttes, and any such
differences may be material to our financial stateta. We believe that the policies set forth beteay involve a higher degree
of judgment and complexity in their applicationtthaur other accounting policies and represent titieal accounting policies
used in the preparation of our financial statemdhtifferent assumptions or conditions were tev@il, the results could be
materially different from our reported results. Gignificant accounting policies are presented wifttiote 2 to our Financial
Statements.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

We recognize revenue when the following criterigehbeen met: persuasive evidence of an arrangeswists, delivery has
occurred and risk of loss has passed, the sefiecs to the buyer is fixed or determinable, anllection is reasonably assured.

40




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Revenues associated with the sale of the ADVANCEHc#s to customers and distributors are recognigesh shipment,
provided that the selling price is fixed or detarable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement eg@tsction of receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasoastiyable, and no continuing obligations exist. Tédwenues from the sale of
an ADVANCE communication hub together with accesbléuroMetrix information systems are considereel onit of
accounting and deferred and recognized on a strliighbasis over the estimated period of time thatprovide the service
associated with the information systems of thresgg.eThe resulting deferred revenue and deferrsts @ve presented as
separate line items on the accompanying balana.9Revenues related to extended service agreemoerte devices are
recognized ratably over the term of the extendeda®agreement.

Revenues associated with the sale of the NC-sthtdbieéck devices are recognized upon shipment, pedvikdat the selling
price is fixed or determinable, persuasive evidesfan arrangement exists, collection of receivalidaeasonably assured,
product returns are reasonably estimable, and ntinting obligations exist.

Revenues also include sales of consumables, imgugingle use nerve specific electrodes, EMG needled other
accessories. These revenues are recognized ugonestti provided that the selling price is fixeddeterminable, persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, collection cdixables is reasonably assured, and product eetumreasonably estimable.

When multiple elements are contained in a singlergement, we allocate revenue between the elerhasésl on their
relative selling prices. We determine selling prising vendor specific objective evidence, or VS®E,is available, third-
party evidence, or TPE, if VSOE is not availableg dest estimate of selling price, or BESP, ifm&itVSOE nor TPE are
available. We generally expect that we will notaliide to establish TPE due to the nature of the etaik which we compete,
and, as such, we will typically determine sellingce using VSOE or if not available, BESP. The cobje of BESP is to
determine the selling price of a deliverable otaadalone basis. Our determination of BESP invodvesighting of several
factors based on the specific facts and circumstn€an arrangement. Specifically, we considects to produce the
deliverable, the anticipated margin on that delbédg, the selling price and profit margin for simiparts, our ongoing pricing
strategy, the value of any enhancements that hese built into the deliverable, and the charadiesof the varying markets
in which the deliverable is sold.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includisgessments of expected returns and expected cuslatonship
periods. We analyze various factors, includingwéesg of specific transactions, our historical retsiraverage customer
relationship periods, customer usage, customenbata and market and economic conditions. Chamgesigments or
estimates on these factors could materially impiaetiming and amount of revenues and costs rezednShould market or
economic conditions deteriorate, our actual returbhad debt experience could exceed our estimate.

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedada@mount and do not bear interest. Certain ptcghies are made with
a 30-day right of return. Since we can reasonagtiynate future returns, we recognize revenues &gsdowith product sales
that contain a right of return upon shipment anthatsame time we record a sales return reseniehwéduces revenue and
accounts receivable by the amount of estimatedngtu

The allowance for doubtful accounts is our bestreste of the amount of probable credit losses inexisting accounts
receivable. We review our allowance for doubtful@mts and determine the allowance based on apsimalf customer past
payment history, product usage activity, and recentmunications between us and the customer. khaiicustomer balances
which are past due and over 90 days outstandingeai@wved individually for collectibility. Accourtialances are written-off
against the allowance when we feel it is probalséereceivable will not be recovered. We do not hawe off-balance sheet
credit exposure related to our customers.
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Inventories

The realizable value of inventories is based upertypes and levels of inventories held, forecadsdand, pricing,
competition, and changes in technology. Our confilmsehave an eighteen-month shelf life. Shouldenirmarket and
economic conditions deteriorate, our actual redesesould be less than our estimates.

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncemest

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8par FASB, issued Accounting Standards UpdatéQid, No. 2011-
04, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) — Amendmémtschieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disci®
Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSr ASU 2011-04. The amendments in ASU 2011-0dlré@s common fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements in GAARragathational Financial Reporting Standards, & 3F Consequently, the
amendments change the wording used to describe afdahg requirements in GAAP for measuring fairneahnd for disclosing
information about fair value measurements. We agtbttiis new guidance prospectively beginning omdanl, 2012.
Adoption has not had a material effect on our faialhstatements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011*@®mprehensive Income (Topic 220) — PresentatioBahprehensive
Income”, or ASU No. 2011-05. ASU No. 2011-05 requires @ilhhonowner changes in stockholders’ equity esented
either in a single continuous statement of comprsive income or in two separate but consecutivterstants, eliminating the
option to present other comprehensive income irsthment of changes in equity. Under either e)diems that are
reclassified from other comprehensive income tameime are required to be presented on the fatieedfnancial statements
where the components of net income and the compeoénther comprehensive income are presentddetember 2011, the
FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments ®oRhesentation of Reclassifications of
Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Indgormecounting Standards Update No. 2011-Q%Vhich defers the
requirement within ASU No. 2011-05 to present amfdice of the financial statements the effecteofassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income on the coems of net income and other comprehensive indomal periods
presented. During the deferral, entities shouldinae to report reclassifications out of accumuaiéher comprehensive
income consistent with the presentation requiremineffect prior to the issuance of ASU No. 20EBL0/e adopted this new
guidance retrospectively beginning on January 122@8doption has not had a material effect on marfcial statements.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures @out Market Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun iovestment portfolio and have no foreign excleaogntracts. Our
financial instruments consist of cash and cashvedgmts. We consider investments that, when puathdsave a remaining
maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivaldrte. primary objectives of our investment stratagy to preserve principal,
maintain proper liquidity to meet operating neetsj maximize yields. To minimize our exposure t@edwerse shift in interest
rates, we invest mainly in cash equivalents andtgbon investments with a maturity of twelve mantir less and maintain an
average maturity of twelve months or less. We ddbetieve that a notional or hypothetical 10% cheamginterest rate
percentages would have a material impact on theréhile of our investment portfolio or our intere@stome.
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ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item may be fowmdpages F1 through F-23 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K with
the exception of the unaudited summarized quarfgrncial data which is presented below. Net jssscommon share is
calculated independently for each of the perio@sg@nted. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly rsstp@r common share
amounts will not necessarily equal the total fa il fiscal year. Per common share data and stva@unts reflect a 1-for-6
reverse split of our common stock completed on Erayr 15, 2013.

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Qngtter Second Quarter Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter Total
Revenues $2,081,54. $2,20583 $1,764,76. $1,523,15. $ 7,575,28
Cost of revenues 1,134,94. 983,35( 793,99( 676,52. 3,588,800
Gross profit 946,59¢ 1,222,48 970,77: 846,63( 3,986,48:
Net loss (2,752,33) (2,772,12) (2,610,25) (1,872,83) (10,007,55)
Net loss per common share, basic
diluted $ 1.99 $ (1.32) $ (129 $ 0.89 $ (5.22)
Year Ended December 31, 2011
First
Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter Total
Revenues $2,904,841 $2,571,84 $2560,220 $2,359,86. $10,396,77
Cost of revenues 1,255,57! 1,110,07: 1,156,11! 1,200,30. 4,722,06!
Gross profit 1,649,27. 1,461,76 1,404,10 1,159,56. 5,674,701
Net loss (2,697,25) (2,436,71) (2,430,84) (2,416,28) (9,981,10)
Net loss per common share, basic
diluted $ (4.20) $ (3.80) $ (3.7¢) $ (3.7¢) $ (15.5%)

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountas on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There have been no changes in or disagreementaedthuntants on accounting and financial disclomaters in the last
fiscal year.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedura

Our principal executive officer and principal fir@al officer, after evaluating the effectivenessaf disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rulaslb8) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the partaered by this Form 10-
K, have concluded that, based on such evaluationdisclosure controls and procedures were effed¢tvensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in thgarts that we file or submit under the Exchangeig\cecorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time perio@gxied in the SEC’s rules and forms, and is acdated and communicated
to our management, including our principal exeautind principal financial officers, or persons perfing similar functions,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regardimuired disclosure.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fhancial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(Rlemthe Exchange Act. Because of its inherent ditiaitis, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or deta@statements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls megoime inadequate because of changes in condititisat the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritatate. Under the supervision and with the partition of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officed @ur Chief Financial Officer, we conducted anleation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting as of December 31, 2012 based on fterierin Internal Control —

Integrated Frameworlkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway
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Commission (“COSQ"). Based on our evaluation urtderframework innternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by
the COSO, our management concluded that our inteomdrol over financial reporting was effective@d<December 31, 2012.

This Annual Report does not include an attestatmort of our independent registered public acdagrfirm regarding
internal control over financial reporting. Managere report was not subject to attestation by adependent registered public
accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC thlahpt us to provide only management's report ia Ainual Report.

(c) Changes in internal control over financial repating.

There have been no changes to our internal coowesl financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13¢fland 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) during the quarter endezk®der 31, 2012 that have materially affectedyer@asonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over finaaaeporting.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table and biographical descriptiors forth information regarding our executive offis@nd directors, based
on information furnished to us by each executiiecef and director, as of February 8, 2013:

Name Age Position
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D. 48  Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer,

President and Secretary
Thomas T. Higgins 61  Senior Vice Presidente€hinancial Officer and Treasurer
Guy Daniello 68  Senior Vice President of Infation Technology
Krishnamurthy Balachandran 54  Senior Vice Biers, Chief Operating Officer, Neurodiagnostics
Michael Williams, Ph.D. 56  Senior Vice PresitiEngineering, Chief Technology Officer
David E. Goodman, M.B1) @ 56  Director
Allen J. Hinkle, M.D.(2) 3) 62  Director
Nancy E. Katz 53  Director
Timothy R. Surgend®) (4 53  Director

(1) Member of Audit Committee
(2) Member of Compensation Committee
(3) Member of Nominating and Corporate GovernancmRittee

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.Dfounded our company in 1996 and currently serveshasrman of our Board of Directors and
as our President, Chief Executive Officer and SacyeSince founding our company in 1996, Dr. GoZxeas served in a
number of positions at our company including Chaimrsince 1996, President from 1996 to 1998 and 062 to the present,
Chief Executive Officer since 1997 and SecretangesiJuly 2008. Dr. Gozani holds a B.A. in compst@ence, an M.S. in
Biomedical Engineering and a Ph.D. in Neurobioldgym the University of California, Berkeley. Hesalreceived an M.D.
from Harvard Medical School and the Harvard-M.Division of Health Sciences at M.I.T. Prior to fang our company, Dr.
Gozani completed a neurophysiology research feldguvis the laboratory of Dr. Gerald Fischbach atwéad Medical School.
Dr. Gozani has published articles in the areasasfdand clinical neurophysiology, biomedical eegiring and computational
chemistry. The Board has concluded that Dr. Goghould serve as a director because Dr. Gozani&eite knowledge of
engineering and neurophysiology, combined withuhigue understanding of our technology and busihedsas gained as our
founder and as a key executive, provides invalugisight to our Board and to the entire organizatio

Thomas T. Higginshas served as our Senior Vice President, ChiehiahOfficer and Treasurer since September 2009.
Prior to joining NeuroMetrix, from January 2005Ntarch 2008, Mr. Higgins was Executive Vice Presidamd Chief Financial
Officer at Caliper Life Sciences, Inc, a providétechnology and services for life sciences reseaefore Caliper, Mr.

Higgins was Executive Vice President, Operatiorts @hief Financial Officer at V.I. Technologies, Iif¥itex), a
biotechnology company addressing blood safety. ge¥itex, Mr. Higgins served at Cabot Corporatiorvarious senior
finance and operations roles. His last positioBatot was President of Distrigas of Massachusettpdtation, a subsidiary
involved in the liquefied natural gas business, pindr to that he was responsible for Cabot’'s A&ific carbon black
operations. Before joining Cabot, Mr. Higgins wathwPricewaterhouseCoopers where he started héecavir. Higgins holds
a BBA with honors from Boston University.

Guy Daniello has served as our Senior Vice President of Infaonatechnology since July 2003 and, prior to tiratt as
our Vice President of Information Technology andetor of Information Technology since 1998. Ptimjoining
NeuroMetrix, Mr. Daniello was an independent sofeveonsultant, the Senior Vice President of Engingeat Shiva
Corporation from 1996 to 1997, and the Chief Tedbgy Officer and Vice President of Product Devel@minat Gandalf
Technologies from 1993 to 1996. In 1991 he foundetivork Architects, a software company. Prior tartshg Network



Architects, he served as President and
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Chief Executive Officer of Datamedia Corp. and Ehieector of Small Systems Development at Honeywegtrmation
Systems. Mr. Daniello holds a B.S. in business adstration from Northeastern University.

Krishnamurthy Balachandran has served as our Senior Vice President and GeMarsger, International since April
2010. In January 2011 he assumed additional re#plitiess as Chief Operating Officer, Neurodiagriost Prior to joining
NeuroMetrix, from November 2007 to April 2010, MBalachandran was Vice President and General Martdgeardinal
Health’s NeuroCare Division, a provider of techrgyl@nd services to the neurophysiology industnfoBejoining Cardinal
Health, Mr. Balachandran worked at with Hewlett lgad as Senior Director, Global Alliances from A@®999 to December
2006. Prior to joining Hewlett Packard, Mr. Balaotean was Vice President, International Sales aatckbting for Nicolet
Biomedical, the leading business in EMG and nepredaction testing which was subsequently acquise@drdinal Health and
became its NeuroCare division. Mr. Balachandrariedahis career in sales with Blue Star, Ltd ofigndlr. Balachandran, an
electrical engineer from the National InstituteT@chnology in India, holds an MBA in Marketing fraime Indian Institute of
Management in Ahmedabad, India.

Michael Williams, Ph.D. has served as our Senior Vice President of Engimggand Chief Technology Officer since
September 2011 and, prior to that time, as ourds&fice President of Engineering since July 2008 as Vice President of
Engineering since May 2000. From March 1996 to dan@000, Dr. Williams served as Division Presid@nRadionics, where
he was responsible for all software-based prodiratkjding treatment planning and image-guided sryrgPrior to Radionics,
he served as an engineer at Hughes Aircraft Spacer@munications Group. Dr. Williams received a Briohysics and
mathematics from University of Puget Sound and a8.Mnd Ph.D. in Physics from Brown University.

David E. Goodman, M.D.has served as a member of our Board of Directacesiune 2004. Dr. Goodman currently
serves as an independent consultant and pracpbiggjcian. During 2010, Dr. Goodman has servedrasitent and Chief
Executive Officer of SEDIine, Inc., a research-feed company with the mission to expand the scogepplications for
neuromonitoring. From 2008 to 2009, Dr. Goodmaresgias Executive Vice President of Business Dewveéor for Masimo
Corporation, a manufacturer of non-invasive patreanitors. From 2006 to 2008, Dr. Goodman serveahasdependent
consultant providing product design, regulatory andlytical consulting services to medical deviad hiopharmaceutical
companies and also served in this capacity fron826@004 and from 2001 to 2002. From 2005 to 2@6Goodman served
as President and Chief Executive Officer of Bar@®einc., a medical device company focused on dpired minimally
invasive devices for the long-term treatment ofsifye From 2004 to 2005, Dr. Goodman served asidRresand Chief
Executive Officer of Interventional Therapeutic @@ns, Inc., an implantable drug delivery syst@mspany. From 2002 to
2003, Dr. Goodman served as Chairman, Presidenthied Executive Officer of Pherin Pharmaceuticalpharmaceutical
discovery and development company. From 1994 td 2D8. Goodman held various positions, includingeC Executive
Officer, Chief Medical Officer and director, forfeMasters Supported SelfCare, Inc., a disease nreamagt services company
that Dr. Goodman founded. Dr. Goodman also sersesdirector of Sound Surgical Technologies LL@rigate manufacturer
of aesthetic surgical tools. Dr. Goodman holds/A 8. in applied science and bioengineering and &.El.in bioengineering
from the University of Pennsylvania. He also reedian M.D. from Harvard Medical School and the taavM.l.T. Division
of Health Sciences and Technology. The Board hasleded that Dr. Goodman should serve as a diréetoause Dr.
Goodman’s medical and engineering background amthhny years of executive experience in the medwake industry
provide important experience and expertise to thare.

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D. has served as a member of our Board of Directareslanuary 2006. From December 2010 through
the present, Dr. Hinkle has served as the Chiefidé®fficer of MVP Health Care, a not-for-profiehlth insurer. Dr. Hinkle
was the Chief Medical Officer and Senior Vice Pdesit for Tufts Health Plan in Massachusetts, athéasurance provider,
where he was responsible for medical managemegtgres and initiatives from 2004 to 2009. Prior é@diming the Chief
Medical Officer of Tufts Health Plan, Dr. Hinkle w&enior Medical Director and Vice President of lke@are Quality, Policy
and Innovations at Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massaetts, a health insurance provider, from 200duiiin September 2004.
From 1995 to 2001, Dr. Hinkle was the Chief MediGélicer and Senior Vice President of Quality — Hleeare Management
for Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield of New Hampslainel Matthew
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Thornton Plan, health insurance provider orgarirati Dr. Hinkle has over 30 years of experiendfénhealthcare field. Dr.
Hinkle received a B.S. from the University of Magsasetts at Amherst and an M.D. from Albert Einsteéollege of Medicine
in New York. He is board certified in pediatricsdaanesthesiology and is an Associate Professonegihesiology and
Pediatrics at Dartmouth Medical School. He also ®geveral U.S. patents on medical devices. ThedBuas concluded that
Dr. Hinkle should serve as a director because hkle's years of experience as a physician andckatetive positions in the
health insurance industry provide the Board witluahle insights in the areas of product developraedtreimbursement.

Nancy E. Katzhas served as a member of our Board of Directareddecember 2010. Since May 2011, Ms. Katz has
served as Vice President, Consumer Marketing attideit, Inc., a medical technology company. Froty 2005 to July 2010,
Ms. Katz was Senior Vice President, Bayer Diab&ase — North America. Prior to this position, sheswPresident and Chief
Executive Officer of Calypte Biomedical Corporati@enmanufacturer of HIV diagnostics, President itd Pharmaceutical, Inc,
a manufacturer of oral care products, and heldsenarketing positions with the Lifescan divisiodhJohnson & Johnson
(blood glucose diabetes products), Schering-Plddegithcare Products, and with American Home Prad&tie has previously
served on the Boards of Directors of Neoprobe Qatan (AMEX: NEOP), Calypte Biomedical CorporatjdrXN
Corporation and Pepgen Corporation. She receiB&ain business from the University of South FlariThe Board has
concluded that Ms. Katz should serve as a dirdmoause her experience in diabetes care and nrayheto the diabetes sector
provides valuable insight to the Board and manageimeour diabetes strategy.

Timothy R. Surgenor has served as a member of our Board of Directaceshpril 2009. Since April 2009, Mr. Surgenor
has been a partner at Red Sky Partners, LLC, admosgf general management consulting servicekediotechnology and
medical device industries. Since July, 2012 Mr.geuaor has also served as a director of Precisiotuves, a developer of
medical and consumer devices. From 2003 to 2009SMigenor served as President, Chief Executivie€fand director of
Cyberkinetics Neurotechnology Systems(OTC: CYKN.PKinedical device company. From January 1999rtoalg 2003,

Mr. Surgenor was Executive Vice President at Haetios Corporation, which is a medical device conypd&nom 1994 to
1999, Mr. Surgenor was President of Genzyme TiBamir, the cell therapy division of Genzyme Coagpion. Previously,

Mr. Surgenor was Executive Vice President and Chiefncial Officer of BioSurface Technology, Inadaalso held various
positions in operations at Integrated Genetics.irgenor received a B.A. in Biochemistry from Vdiths College and an
M.B.A. from Harvard Business School. The Board t@scluded that Mr. Surgenor should serve as atdirbecause Mr.
Surgenor’s long career in the medical device antebhnology business as both an entrepreneur asghior executive
positions in public companies provides the Boarthwnportant industry experience as well as valedinlance, accounting and
executive management expertise.

BOARD MATTERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board of Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorpmmatis amended, provides for a classified boadire€tors consisting of
three staggered classes of directors (Class Is@land Class Ill). The members of each classuofBoard of Directors serve
for staggered three-year terms, with the termauof@ass I, Class Il and Class Il directors exgirupon the election and
qualification of directors at the annual meetingstockholders to be held in 2014, 2015, and 28dyectively. Currently:

e our Class | directors are Allen J. Hinkle, M.daTimothy R. Surgenor;
» our Class Il director is Shai N. Gozani, M.D.,.Bh and
e our Class Ill directors are David E. Goodman, MaBd Nancy E. Katz.

Our Board of Directors has determined that Dr. Goax, Dr. Hinkle, Mr. Surgenor, and Ms. Katz aresipendent directors
for purposes of the corporate governance rulesagued in the NASDAQ Marketplace Rules, or the NASDAIles.

Our Board of Directors has an Audit Committee, anpensation Committee, and a Nominating and Corpdsatvernance
Committee.
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The Audit Committee currently consists of Mr. Surge Chairman, and Dr. Goodman, and Ms. Katz. ThditACommittee
operates pursuant to a charter that was approvedibBoard of Directors, a copy of which is avaiéabn our website at
http://www.neurometrix.comnder the heading “Investor Relations” and subheptiCorporate Governance”. The purposes of
the Audit Committee are to, among other functi@ssist the Board of Directors in overseeing theammn of a comprehensive
system of internal controls covering the integafyour financial statements and reports, compliamite laws, regulations and
corporate policies, and the qualifications, perfance and independence of our registered publicuaticg firm. Mr. Surgenor,
Dr. Goodman, and Ms. Katz are all “independentthas term is defined in the rules of the SEC amdatpplicable NASDAQ
rules relating to audit committee members. Our BadDirectors has determined that Mr. Surgenolifiea as an “audit
committee financial expert” as such term is defimethe rules of the SEC. The Audit Committee Held meetings during
2012.

Procedures by which Stockholders may Nominate Dir¢ors

There have been no changes to the proceduress#sdiio our proxy statement for the 2012 annual imgeff stockholders
by which stockholders may nominate directors.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsHtiat applies to all of our directors, officensl@mployees,
including our principal executive officer, princlfamancial officer, principal accounting officer eontroller and persons
performing similar functions. A current copy of tBede of Business Conduct and Ethics is availableuwr website at
http://www.neurometrix.comnder the heading “Investor Relations” and subheptCorporate Governance,” and we intend to
disclose on this website any amendment to, or waif;eany provision of the Code of Business Conduntt Ethics applicable
to our directors or executive officers that woutdeywise be required to be disclosed under the IS#S, to the extent
permitted, by the NASDAQ rules. A current copy loé tCode of Business Conduct and Ethics may alsbtaéned, without
charge, upon written request directed to us atrdMatrix, Inc., 62 Fourth Avenue, Waltham, Massass#its 02451, Attention:
Compliance Officer.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires ourctiims and executive officers and holders of moas th0% of our
common stock (collectively, “Reporting Persons”fite with the SEC initial reports of ownership areports of changes in
ownership of our common stock. Such Reporting Reyswe required by regulations of the SEC to flwrnis with copies of all
such filings. Our records reflect that all repavtsich were required to be filed pursuant to Secti6(a) of the Exchange Act
were filed on a timely basis, except that 5 Formgede not filed on a timely basis as a result ehimdistrative error for one
transaction for each of Krishnamurthy Balachand@uy Daniello, Dr. Shai N. Gozani, Thomas T. Higgiand Dr. Michael
Williams in connection with the surrender of resied shares upon vesting of such restricted shangsy taxes.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be coimizd in our definitive proxy statement for our 2048nual Meeting of
Stockholders under the captions “Compensation etHtive Officers” and “Director Compensation Tabl2012” and is
incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

PRINCIPAL AND MANAGEMENT STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain informatiooncerning beneficial ownership as of February0lL3? except as noted
below, of our common stock by:

* each of our directors;

* each of our named executive officers;
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- all of our directors and executive officers agraup; and
< each stockholder known by us to beneficially owaore than five percent of our common stock.

The number of common shares “beneficially ownedehgh stockholder is determined under rules isbydtle SEC
regarding the beneficial ownership of securitidsisTinformation is not necessarily indicative ohbécial ownership for any
other purpose. Under these rules, beneficial ovliieisf common stock includes (1) any shares astticiwthe person or entity
has sole or shared voting power or investment pandr(2) any shares as to which the person orydri the right to acquire
beneficial ownership within 60 days after Februbgr2013, including any shares that could be puedhay the exercise of
options or warrants on or within 60 days after kaby 1, 2013. Each stockholder’s percentage owiistbased on 2,140,871
shares of our common stock outstanding as of Fepfy®013 plus the number of shares of commorkstoat may be
acquired by such stockholder upon exercise of optar warrants that are exercisable on or withinl®&gs after February 1,
2013.

Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowleddjepersons named in the table have sole votimgimrestment power
with respect to their shares of common stock, extefhe extent authority is shared by spousesmemt@munity property
laws.

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership

Percent of Clas

Name and Address?Y of Beneficial Owner C%?g?lgn Options @ Total Tc())tfal
Directors and Executive Officers
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D. 41,55 11,99 53,54¢ 2.5%
David E. Goodman, M.D. 25C 1,764 2,014 *
Allen Hinkle, M.D. 25C 1,90: 2,15 *
Nancy E. Katz 25C 53¢ 78¢ *
Timothy R. Surgenor 25C 903 1,152 *
Krishnamurthy Balachandran 6,73¢ 1,56: 8,301 *
Guy Daniello 4,10¢ 5,56¢ 9,67( *
Thomas T. Higgins 7,71 1,56: 9,27¢ *
Michael Williams, Ph.D. 4,93¢ 6,10: 11,04 *
All Current Directors and Executive Officers as a

group (9 persons) 66,04¢ 31,89¢ 97,94¢ 4.5%

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership
Percent of

Name and Address?Y of Beneficial Owner C%T)Tlgn Options @ Total C‘:'E:)StzIOf
Beneficial Owner of 5% or More Other than

Directors and Executive Officers
Chayn Mousd3 198,81! — 198,81! 9.2%

* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding sledigsmmon stock.

(1) Unless otherwise indicated, the address of stmtkholder is c/o NeuroMetrix, Inc., 62 Fourthelwe, Waltham,
Massachusetts 02451.

(2) Includes all options that are exercisable owithin 60 days from February 1, 2013 by the besiafiowner, except as
otherwise noted.

(3) This information is based solely on informatmntained in a Schedule 13D filed on November22d,2 by Chayn Mousa.
Chayn Mousa'’s address is 13455 Cutten Road Suit¢ibtston, Texas, 77069.



49




TABLE OF CONTENTS

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth information as ofd@enber 31, 2012 regarding the number of secutiié® issued upon
exercise, and the weighted average exercise pficetstanding options, warrants, and rights underegjuity compensation
plans and the number of securities available farrfuissuance under our equity compensation plans.

Equity Compensation Plan Information as of DecembeB1, 2012

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to Weighted average future issuance under
be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column a)
@ (b) (©
Equity compensation plans approved
security holder§? 49,46¢ $ 76.0¢ 198,642
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holdef® 2,08¢ 9.6( 11,80¢
Totals 51,54¢ $ 73.3¢ 210,45:

(1) Includes information related to our Amended &edtated 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock Plamended and Restated
1998 Equity Incentive Plan, Fourth Amended and &edt2004 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, and Zfloyee Stock
Purchase Plan.

(2) As of December 31, 2012, there were 176,88esthavailable for future grant under the Fourth Adedd and Restated 2004
Stock Option and Incentive Plan and 21,765 sharatable under the 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Rla new stock
grants or awards will be made under the AmendedResdated 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock PidheoAmended
and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan.

(3) Includes information related to our 2009 NQnalified Inducement Stock Plan, which is desigteegrovide equity grants:
new employees. Pursuant to this plan, we were aa#tbto issue Non-Qualified Stock Options, RestdcStock Awards
and Unrestricted Stock Awards.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transadbns, and Director Independence

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Pursuant to our audit committee charter curremtlgffect, the audit committee is responsible fetewing and approving,
prior to our entry into any such transaction, hsactions in which we are a participant and ifctvlany parties related to us
has or will have a direct or indirect material net&t. As required under SEC rules, transactiontsinkralve an amount in excess
of $120,000, in which we are a participant andlatee person is determined to have a direct oréotimaterial interest, are
disclosed in our proxy statement.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
See Item 10, “Directors, Executive Officers andg2wate Governance — Board Matters and Corporatefaance”.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

ACCOUNTING FEES

Aggregate fees for professional services rendeyd@ricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the years endeember 31, 2012
and 2011 are as follows:

Audit Fees

The audit fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP fiofggsional services rendered for the 2012 audiuofannual financial
statements and the review of the financial statésnecluded in our quarterly reports on Form 10se€ied $469,000, of which



$340,000 was billed in 2012 and $129,000 was bile2D13.
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The audit fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP fofggsional services rendered for the 2011 audiiofannual financial
statements and the review of the financial statésniecluded in our quarterly reports on Form 10e@led $408,000, of which
$265,000 was billed in 2011 and $143,000 was bile2D12.

Audit-Related Fees
There were no audit related fees for Pricewater®@uospers LLP in 2012 and 2011.
All Other Fees

Fees for PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for servidesrdhan audit-related services were $16,800 fa22thd $21,800 for
2011, and included annual fees of $15,000 and $20@spectively, in connection with our Corporategrity Agreement
with the Office of Inspector General of the Uni®thtes Department of Health and Human Servicesdieggthe previously-
disclosed investigation into certain of our pasésand marketing practices relating to our NC-Stattem and $1,800 in both
years for a software subscription used to reviegoanting literature.

Tax Fees
There were no tax fees for PricewaterhouseCoopdpsih. 2012 and 2011.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee approved all audit and non-aselivices provided to us by PricewaterhouseCodgdPsduring the
2012 and 2011 fiscal years.

51




TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(@) 1. Financial Statements
The consolidated financial statements are listaiéraccompanying index to financial statementpame F-1 .
2. Financial Statement Schedule

The Schedule on page Sis filed as part of this report. Other financiatsiment schedules required under this Item and
Item 8 are omitted because they are not applicatiiee required information is shown in the corgatied financial statements
or the footnotes thereto.

3. Exhibit Index

The following is a list of exhibits filed as paftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit Number Description
2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement dated November 7, 20@8dbpetween NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
Advanced Diagnostics, LLE)
3.11 Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incoaion of NeuroMetrix, Inc(®
3.1.2 Certificate of Designations for Series A Junior Quative Preferred Stock, par value $0.001
per sharé?
3.1.3 Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificaténabrporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc. dated
September 1, 20149
3.14 Certificate of Amendment to Restated Certificaténabrporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc. dated
February 15, 20189
321 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of NeuroMetrix ©)
3.2.2 Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and Restat&hByof NeuroMetrix, Inct®)
4.1 Specimen Certificate for Shares of Common Stbck
42.1 Shareholder Rights Agreement, dated as of Mar@937, between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rigkgent®
422 Amendment to Shareholder Rights Agreement, datpteBwer 8, 2009, between
NeuroMetrix, Inc. and American Stock Transfer & $r€Company, as Rights Age(11)
4.3 Form of Unit Warrant to purchase Common St&8ék
4.4 Form of Placement Agent Warrdfd)
10.1.1 Lease Agreement, dated October 18, 2000, betweert-Avenue LLC and NeuroMetrix,
Inc. @
10.1.2 Amendment Number One to Lease, dated February@®g, between Fourth Avenue LLC
and NeuroMetrix, Inc{t9)
10.1.2 Amendment Number Two to Lease, dated June 6, 2i#t®een Fourth Avenue LLC and
NeuroMetrix, Inc.(25)
10.2.1 Loan and Security Agreement between NeuroMetrig, amd Comerica Bank, dated March 5,
2010019)
10.2.2 First Modification to Loan and Security Agreemeptween NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Comerica
Bank, dated March 1, 20149
10.3+ Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option/Restrigteck Plari?)
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Exhibit Number

Description

10.4.1+
10.4.3+
10.5+
10.6.1+
10.6.2+

10.7+

10.8+

10.9+
10.10.1+

10.10.2+

10.10.3+

10.10.4+

10.11.1+

10.11.2+

10.12.1+
10.12.2+

10.13.1+

10.13.2+

10.14.1+

10.14.2+

10.15

10.16t

10.17

Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Blan
Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998/Haecentive Plard?
Second Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optioinaedtive Plari®)

Third Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optionlacehtive Plarf1?

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant torthied Amended and Restated 2004 Stock
Option and Incentive Pld#®

2010 Employee Stock Purchase Ffdh
2009 Non-Qualified Inducement Stock P{&H
Form of Indemnification Agreement between NeurtiMelInc. and each of its directofs

Employment Agreement, dated June 21, 2004, by atwlden NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Shai N.
Gozani, M.D., Ph.D®)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated Déegr81, 2008, by and between
NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph(®)

Indemnification Agreement dated June 21, 2004,na/tzetween Shai N. Gozani, M.D.,
Ph.D., and NeuroMetrix, InéY

NeuroMetrix, Inc. No-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (pursuant toAheended and
Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan), dated asiioé 21, 2004, by and between Shai N.

Gozani M.D., Ph.D., and NeuroMetrix, Ir&)

Letter Agreement, dated February 5, 2008 betweanrdWetrix, Inc. and Michael Williams,
Ph.D.(1%)

First Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated DecerBlheP008, between NeuroMetrix, Inc.
and Michael Williams, Ph.D?

Letter Agreement, dated February 5, 2008, betidmroMetrix, Inc. and Guy Daniel(é*)

First Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated DecerBlheP008, between NeuroMetrix, Inc.
and Guy Danielld?

Letter Agreement, dated August 31, 2009, betweardéetrix, Inc. and Thomas T. Higgins
(12)

Indemnification Agreement, dated September 10, 200@nd between NeuroMetrix, Inc. &
Thomas T. Higginé!?

Letter Agreement, dated January 20, 2010, betwesmdWetrix, Inc. and Krishnamurthy
Balachandraft)

Indemnification Agreement, dated April 19, 2010,dnd between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and
Krishnamurthy Balachandratf)

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, dated Séyete®) 2009 between the Company and
each investoft?)

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement, dated as ofustig, 2006, by and between Parlex
Polymer Flexible Circuits, Inc. and NeuroMetrixcIf?

Deferred Prosecution Agreement dated February @ B§ and between NeuroMetrix, Inc
and the United States Attorney’s Office for thetBis of Massachusettd)
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Exhibit Number Description

10.18 Settlement Agreement and Release dated Febru26809,by and among NeuroMetrix, Inc.
and the United States of America acting throughith#ed States Attorney’s Office for the
District of Massachusetts and the Office of Inspe@eneral of the United States Department
of Health and Human Servic€d

10.19.1 Engagement Letter by and between NeuroMetrix, dnd. Dawson James Securities, Inc.,
dated December 30, 20§22)

10.19.2 First Amendment to Engagement Letter by and betwmmroMetrix, Inc. and Dawson Jan
Securities, Inc., dated January 30, 26%2

10.20+ Fourth Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optiorirasehtive Plari23)
10.21+ Amended and Restated 2010 Employee Stock Puréiasé?)
10.22+ Management Retention and Incentive Plan, dategligie, 201425)

*23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLPndapendent registered public accounting firm

*31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbar@sley Act
of 2002

*31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer purquao Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

*32 Certification of Principal Executive Officer andifgipal Financial Officer pursuant to Sect
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following materials from NeuroMetrix, Inc.’s Anal Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31, 2012, formatted in XBRL (eXtdedBusiness Reporting Language); (i)
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 2013tgiements of Operations for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, (iiilg8tants of Changes in Stockholders’
Equity for the years ended December 31, 2012, 281d 2010, (iv) Statements of Cash Fli
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, ab@d, 20d (v) Notes to Financial
Statements.**

*  Filed herewith.

** Pyrsuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, theehactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deknm filed or part of a
registration statement or prospectus for purpos&ections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1%8amended, are deemed
not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Se@siand Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andvateeare not subject
liability under those sections.

+ Indicates management contract or any compensptany contract or arrangement.

t Confidential treatment has been granted with respecertain portions of this Exhibit, which pont®have been omitted &
filed separately with the Securities and Exchangm@ission as part of an application for confiddrttieatment pursuant to
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(1) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filedvtay 13, 2004, as
amended (Registration No. 333-115440).

(2) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Aug@s22006 (File No. 000-
50856).

(3) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Sepbem17, 2007 (File No.
001-33351).

(4) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.'s Form 8-A12(b) filed on March 8, 2007 (Fi®. 001-33351).

(5) Incorporated hereby by reference to NeuroMetnig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Felmu&0, 2009 (File No.
001-33351).
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(6) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetng.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filedfagust 9, 2004 (File
No. 33:-118059).

(7) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Novemnl26, 2008 (File No.
001-33351).

(8) Incorporated herein by reference to Appendito AleuroMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedud@ filed on April 25,
2008 (File No. 001-33351).

(9) Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on Mar2@, 2009 (File No. 001-
33351).

(10)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A suMMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule filel on April 24,
2009 (File No. 001-33351).

(11)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed September260)9 (File No.
001-33351).

(12)Iincorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,' tnCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed September2®9 (File No. 001-
33351).

(13)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed Novembgr 2009 (File No.
001-33351).

(14)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Februar2608 (File No.
001-33351).

(15)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,’;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2008 (File No.
001-33351).

(16)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,';nQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 2810 (File No.
001-33351).

(17)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A suMMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule filedl on April 8,
2010 (File No. 001-33351).

(18)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,';nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Septemhbe2011 (File No.
001-33351).

(19)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,’;nCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Februaby 2013 (File No.
001-33351).

(20)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,'Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 8,12 (File No. 001-
33351).

(21)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed ameJ8, 2009 (File No.
333-159712).

(22)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig,'lmRegistration Statement on Form S-1 filed owéinber 23, 2011, as
amended (Registration No. 333-178165).

(23)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix A suMdMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule fitl on April 16,
2012 (File No. 001-33351).

(24)Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix B gufdMetrix, Inc.’s Proxy Statement on Schedule il on April 16,
2012 (File No. 001-33351).

(25)Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrig, ;nQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on Aug8s2012 (File No.
001-33351).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the usidgeed, thereunto duly authorized.

NEUROMETRIX, INC.
By:/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 25, 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following
persons on behalf of the registrant on Februar2@%3 in the capacities indicated below.

Name Title

/sl SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D. Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officem@&pal
Executive Officer)

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.

/sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer drrdasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourdiOfficer)

Thomas T. Higgins
/s DAVID E. GOODMAN, M.D. Director

David E. Goodman, M.D.
/s/ ALLEN J. HINKLE, M.D. Director

Allen J. Hinkle, M.D.
/s NANCY E. KATZ Director

Nancy E. Katz
/s/ TIMOTHY R. SURGENOR Director

Timothy R. Surgenor
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of N&detix, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheetstandelated statements of operations, of changstotkholders’ equity,
and of cash flows present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position of NeuroMetrix,.latDecember 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011, and the results of its operatiol its cash flows for each of the three yeatsameriod ended December
31, 2012 in conformity with accounting principlesngrally accepted in the United States of Ametitaddition, in our
opinion, the financial statement schedule listethsindex appearing under Item 15(a)(1) preseqitty fin all material
respects, the information set forth therein whextri@ conjunction with the related financial statens. These financial
statements and financial statement schedule aresipensibility of the Company’s management. Ospoasibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statememntdiaancial statement schedule based on our adtligsconducted our audits
of these statements in accordance with the stagaditthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@tdited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &dbtain reasonable assurance about whethdintrecial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includeamaing, on a test basis, evidence supporting theuats and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made agagement, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. Weebe that our audits provide a reasonable basiedo opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 25, 2013
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Balance Sheets

December 31,

2012 2011
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 869947 $ 10,290,44
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $151 &i® $299,914 at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively 566,45: 909,71t
Inventories 834,52t 1,763,701
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 462,50: 493,42:
Current portion of deferred costs 10,10¢ 38,02
Total current assets 10,573,06 13,495,30
Restricted cash — 229,50(
Fixed assets, net 293,89 483,53(
Deferred costs and other long-term assets 10,48¢ 12,44
Total assets $ 10,877,44 $ 14,220,78
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 257,36. $ 629,21!
Accrued compensation 647,28 929,11
Accrued expenses 948,84: 1,222,15!
Current portion of deferred revenue 134,18! 212,10¢
Current portion of capital lease obligation 17,92¢ 20,321
Total current liabilities 2,005,601 3,012,911
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 71,41¢ 101,41
Capital lease obligation, net of current portion — 17,92¢
Total liabilities 2,077,02! 3,132,26:
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 slargrized,
none outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 50,000,000 aw@dri2,140,871 ar
650,720 shares issued and outstanding at Decerhip20382 and
2011, respectively 214 65
Additional paid-in capital 147,393,15 139,673,84
Accumulated deficit (138,592,943 (128,585,390
Total stockholders’ equity 8,800,42. 11,088,52

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 10,877,44 $ 14,220,78




The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Revenues $ 7,575,228 $10,396,77 $ 13,899,67
Cost of revenues 3,588,801 4,722,06! 7,050,20!
Gross profit 3,986,48: 5,674,701 6,849,46.
Operating expenses:
Research and development 3,545,79i 3,877,52 5,855,35:
Sales and marketing 5,727,48; 6,688,59. 11,072,17
General and administrative 4,735,23 5,111,611 7,231,87
Total operating expenses 14,008,51 15,677,73 24,159,40
Loss from operations (10,022,02) (10,003,02) (17,309,93)
Interest and other income 14,47+ 21,92: 298,30:
Loss before taxes (10,007,55) (9,981,10) (17,011,63)
Income tax benefit — — 120,49(
Net loss $(10,007,55) $ (9,981,10) $ (16,891,14)
Net loss per common share, basic and dil $ 5.22) $ (1557 $ (26.4))
Weighted average number of common shares outsigni
basic and diluted 639,59

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottfirancial statements.

1,918,72.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

Additional
Number of Paid-In Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

Balance at December 31, 2009 638,04( $ 64 $137,422,94 $(101,713,13) $ 35,709,87
Issuance of stock from stock option

plans 16: — 10,27 — 10,27
Stock-based compensation expens — — 1,184,571 — 1,184,571
Issuance of common stock under

employee stock purchase plan 3,24¢ 1 162,56. — 162,56.
Other issuances of stock from optio

plan 2,92: — 22,84 — 22,84
Net loss — — — (16,891,14) (16,891,14)
Balance at December 31, 2010 644,37t 65 138,803,19 (118,604,28) 20,198,97
Stock-based compensation expens — — 837,04( — 837,04(
Issuance of common stock under

employee stock purchase plan 4,00: — 33,61« — 33,61«
Other issuances of stock from optio

plan 2,34 — — — —
Net loss — — — (9,981,10) (9,981,10)
Balance at December 31, 2011 650,72( 65 139,673,84 (128,585,39) 11,088,52
Stock-based compensation expens — — 319,36¢ — 319,36
Issuance of common stock and

warrants in public offering 1,421,73 142 7,376,901 — 7,377,04:
Issuance of common stock on

redemption of warrants 23,12 2 2 — —
Issuance of common stock under

employee stock purchase plan 8,89t 1 23,03" — 23,03¢
Other issuances of stock from optio

plan 36,39 4 4) — —
Net loss — — — (20,007,55) (10,007,55)

Balance at December 31, 2012 2,140,87 $ 214 $147,393,15 $(138,592,94) $ 8,800,422

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows for operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsed
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Intangible asset impairment
Stock-based compensation
Inventory charges
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and compensation
Deferred revenue, deferred costs, and other
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows for investing activities:
Maturities of investments
Purchases of fixed assets
Release of restricted cash
Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:

Net proceeds from issuance of common stock and
warrants, including public offering and equity man

Payments on capital lease
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equiva
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Equipment acquired under capital lease, net
Common stock issued in exchange for warrants

Warrants issued in public offering

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
$(10,007,55)  $(9,981,10) $ (16,891,14)
297,09 376,93 523,75t
— 192,50( —
319,36t 837,04( 1,184,571
234,84 98,55¢ 2,075,49.
343,26° 682,84t 1,733,76
694,32 550,54 71,30¢
(76,88() 110,40( (199,10
(371,85 370,06( (827,79)
(530,14:) 240,43 (753,991
(78,046 (256,60¢) (223,97
(9,175,56)  (6,778,39)  (13,307,11)
— — 7,495,001
(107,465 (110,98) (306,45
229,50 178,50( —
122,03! 67,51 7,188,54"
7,482,88. 33,61 195,67¢
(20,320 (19,097 (27,715
7,462,56. 14,52: 167,96«
(1,590,96)  (6,696,36) (5,950,60)
10,290,44  16,986,80 22,937,41
$ 869947 $10,29044 $ 16,986,80
$ — % — 60,41
$ 127,88 $ — —
$ 237326 $ — —
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentatio

NeuroMetrix, Inc., or the Company, a Delaware coagion, was founded in June 1996. The Companynigdical device
company focused on the diagnosis and treatmeihteafi¢urological complications of diabetes. The Camyybelieves that its
substantial experience in developing medical devioestimulate and measure peripheral nerve fumetioquely position it to
address unmet medical needs related to diabetiopathy. Neuropathy is a common and serious, gféenful, complication of
diabetes that may lead to foot ulcers and limb aatmn. The Company has over a decade of experiarmeuropathy
detection starting with approval in 1998 by thetddiStates Food and Drug Administration, or FDAthef NC-stat System, a
point-of-care device for the performance of genptapose nerve conduction studies. The Compangetlyrmarkets products
for the detection, diagnosis, monitoring and tresitrof diabetic neuropathies such as diabetic perg neuropathy and
median neuropathy (carpal tunnel syndrome).

The Company launched NC-stat DPNCheck in late 2R Ctstat DPNCheck is a fast, accurate, and quéinttaerve
conduction test for diabetic peripheral neuropatbgigned to be used at the point of care. Salestefor NC-stat DPNCheck
are currently targeted at opportunities in the ngadacare market. In the first quarter of 2013,Gloenpany completed product
development and launched the SENSUS pain manageaystemm which is designed for relief of chroni¢raetable pain. The
Company believes this product will be attractivetmocrinologists, podiatrists, primary care arfteophysicians that are
challenged with trying to manage pain in their @ats$ with painful diabetic neuropathy. The Comparhistorical
neurodiagnostic business is based on the ADVAN®ECS/EMG System, or the ADVANCE System, which is a
comprehensive platform for the performance of tradal nerve conduction studies and invasive ed@ayrography procedures
and which is primarily used in physician officeglastinics. The ADVANCE System contributes the m#yoof the Company’s
revenues.

The Company held cash and cash equivalents ofrillign as of December 31, 2012. The Company bebehat these
resources and the cash to be generated from expactduct sales will be sufficient to meet its prigd operating
requirements for at least the next twelve month& Company continues to face significant challemgebuncertainties and, as
a result, the Company’s available capital resouncayg be consumed more rapidly than currently exgeedtie to (a) decreases
in sales of the Company’s products and the uncytaff future revenues from new products; (b) clendne Company may
make to the business that affect ongoing operatipgnses; (c) changes the Company may make instadss strategy; (d)
regulatory developments affecting the Company’sting products and delays in the FDA approval pssder products under
development; (e) changes in the Company’s researdhdevelopment spending plans; and (f) other it&ffiesting the
Company’s forecasted level of expenditures andfisash resources. Accordingly, the Company widlchéo raise additional
funds to support its operating and capital neegsi the next twelve months. The Company may atteémpbtain additional
funding through public or private financing, coltabtive arrangements with strategic partners, muiggh additional credit lines
or other debt financing sources to increase thddwavailable to fund operations. However, the Campaay not be able to
secure such financing in a timely manner or onfable terms, if at all. Furthermore, if the Compéassues equity or debt
securities to raise additional funds, its exisstgckholders may experience dilution, and the ngwitg or debt securities may
have rights, preferences and privileges senidnded of the Company’s existing stockholders. IfGomenpany raises additional
funds through collaboration, licensing or otherifamarrangements, it may be necessary to relitguaguable rights to its
potential products or proprietary technologiesg@nt licenses on terms that are not favorablegdompany. Without
additional funds, the Company may be forced toydedeale back or eliminate some of its sales andketiag efforts, research
and development activities, or other operationspotdntially delay product development in an efforprovide sufficient funds
to continue its operations. If any of these evestaurs, the Company’s ability to achieve its depaient and
commercialization goals would be adversely affected

Certain prior period amounts have been adjustedftect the Company's 1-for-6 reverse stock splitsoccommon stock
completed on February 15, 2013 (see Note 15, Re&trk Splits, for further details).
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith United States generally accepted accourgiigciples requires
management to make significant estimates and agsmmaphat affect the reported amounts of assetdiahilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and the redainounts of revenue and
expenses during reporting periods. Actual resutdccdiffer from those estimates.

The Company bases its estimates on historical &qes and various other assumptions that it bedi¢vde reasonable
under the circumstances and regularly assessesdlgmates, but actual results could differ maligrirom these estimates.
Effects of changes in estimates are recorded ipé¢hied in which they occur.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith an original maturity of ninety days or lesstte cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are recorded at cost which appetes fair value. The Company invests cash prignaria money market
account and other investments which managemergvesliare subject to minimal credit and market risk.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose tlenfany to concentrations of credit risk consistnariily of cash and cash
equivalents in bank deposit accounts and tradevaales. The Company invests its funds in hightgdanstitutions and limits
its investment in any individual account so thaytldo not exceed FDIC limits. The Company has rRpegenced significant
losses related to cash and cash equivalents aschdb®elieve it is exposed to any significant éresks relating to its cash
and cash equivalents.

At December 31, 2012, one customer accounted &% bf accounts receivable. For the years endeémbker 31, 2012,
2011, and 2010, no single customer accounted foe ithan 10% of revenue.

The Company relies on in-house assembly and thiekpgarty manufacturers to manufacture the magotipn of its
current products and product components. The dismupr termination of the supply of these produmts significant increase
in the cost of these products from these sourcelsl¢t@mve an adverse effect on the Company’s busjfieancial position, and
results of operations.

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of purchased comgnts, are stated at the lower of cost or ma@@st is determined
using the first-in, first-out method. The Compamngtes down inventory to its net realizable valuedgcess or obsolete
inventory.

Fair Value

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financiatrimaents, which include cash equivalents, accowgusivable, accounts
payable, and accrued expenses approximate theirdfaie at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the followiitgria have been met: persuasive evidence of mmgement exists,
delivery has occurred and risk of loss has paghedseller’s price to the buyer is fixed or deterafile, and collection is
reasonably assured.

Revenues associated with the sale of the ADVANCEces to customers and distributors are recognigeeh shipment,
provided that the selling price is fixed or detematile, persuasive evidence of an arrangement ge@lsction of receivables is
reasonably assured, product returns are reasoastifgable, and no
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continuing obligations exist. The revenues fromgake of an ADVANCE communication hub together vétitess to
NeuroMetrix information systems are considered wmie of accounting and deferred and recognized simaaght-line basis
over the estimated period of time that the Compgamoyides the service associated with the infornmagigstems of three years.
The resulting deferred revenue and deferred costprasented as separate line items on the accgmparalance sheet.
Revenues related to extended service agreemerttsefdievices are recognized ratably over the tdrthheoextended service
agreement.

Revenues associated with the sale of the NC-stBt@bleck devices are recognized upon shipment, pedvildat the selling
price is fixed or determinable, persuasive evidesfcan arrangement exists, collection of receivaldaeasonably assured,
product returns are reasonably estimable, and ntinting obligations exist.

Revenues also include sales of consumables, imgugingle use nerve specific electrodes, EMG needled other
accessories. These revenues are recognized ugmomesttiprovided that the selling price is fixed etedminable, persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, collection cdixables is reasonably assured, and product eetumreasonably estimable.

When multiple elements are contained in a singlengement, the Company allocates revenue betweegldments based
on their relative selling prices. The Company detaes selling price using vendor specific objectwédence, or VSOE, if it is
available, third-party evidence, or TPE, if VSO available, and best estimate of selling priceBESP, if neither VSOE
nor TPE are available. The Company generally espibett it will not be able to establish TPE du¢h nature of the markets
in which it competes, and, as such, it will typigaletermine selling price using VSOE or if not éalble, BESP. The objective
of BESP is to determine the selling price of awdetable on a standalone basis. The Company’s ditation of BESP involves
a weighting of several factors based on the spef@fits and circumstances of an arrangement. $gabif the Company
considers the cost to produce the deliverableatitieipated margin on that deliverable, the selprige and profit margin for
similar parts, its ongoing pricing strategy, théueaof any enhancements that have been built healeliverable, and the
characteristics of the varying markets in whichdleéverable is sold.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includisgessments of expected returns and expected cuswlateonship
periods. The Company analyzes various factorsydtiey a review of specific transactions, its higtalrreturns, average
customer relationship periods, customer usagepmestbalances, and market and economic conditidmsnges in judgments
or estimates on these factors could materially chg#e timing and amount of revenues and costgrézed. Should market or
economic conditions deteriorate, the Company’saatturn or bad debt experience could exceedttmate.

Certain product sales are made with a 30-day nfheturn. Since the Company can reasonably estifo&tre returns, it
recognizes revenues associated with product daésdntain a right of return upon shipment anthatsame time it records a
sales return reserve, which reduces revenue amdiatscreceivable by the amount of estimated returns

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedada@mount and do not bear interest. Accountsvabks on the balance
sheet are recorded net of the allowance for dobatitounts receivable and the reserve for estimateens. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate@amount of probable credit losses in its existiccounts receivable. The
Company reviews its allowance for doubtful accowamd determines the allowance based on an analfysisstomer past
payment history, product usage activity, and recenimunications between the Company and the custdtast due balances
are reviewed individually for collectibility. Accot balances are written-off against the allowanbemthe Company feels it is
probable the receivable will not be recovered. Tohenpany does not have any off-balance sheet argdsure related to its
customers.
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Income Taxes

The Company records income taxes using the asddiadnility method. Deferred income tax assets keduilities are
recognized for the future tax consequences ataillatto differences between the financial stateroanying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respeciicome tax bases, and operating loss and tak cexdyforwards. The
Company’s financial statements contain certainmedetax assets, which have arisen primarily assalt of operating losses, as
well as other temporary differences between firalrend tax accounting. In accordance with the ioms of the Income
Taxes topic of the Codification, the Company isuiegd to establish a valuation allowance if thelifkood of realization of the
deferred tax assets is reduced based on an ewaldtobjective verifiable evidence. Significantmagement judgment is
required in determining the Company’s provisionifarome taxes, the Company’s deferred tax assetfiabilities and any
valuation allowance recorded against those nericefeax assets. The Company evaluates the welfigtiitavailable evidence
to determine whether it is more likely than nottth@ame portion or all of the net deferred incomeassets will not be realized.

Utilization of the NOL and research and developneeatlit carryforwards may be subject to a substhatinual limitation
due to ownership change limitations that have aeclpreviously or that could occur in the future paovided by Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as well miai state provisions. Ownership changes may fh@tamount of NOL and
tax credit carryforwards that can be utilized ttsef future taxable income and tax, respectivelygéneral, an ownership
change, as defined by Section 382, results fronms#éetions increasing the ownership of certain $twdders or public groups in
the stock of a corporation by more than 50 peregntmints over a three-year period.

If the Company has experienced a change of conttitization of its NOL or tax credits carryforwazdvould be subject to
an annual limitation under Section 382. Any limtatmay result in expiration of a portion of the NOr research and
development credit carryforwards before utilizati8ubsequent ownership changes could further inthadimitation in future
years. Further, until a study is completed andlaniation known, no amounts are being presenteanasgncertain tax position.

A full valuation allowance has been provided agatine Company’s NOL carryforwards and researchdewlopment
credit carryforwards and, if an adjustment is reepli this adjustment would be offset by an adjustn@the valuation
allowance. Thus, there would be no impact to tHerlz® sheet or statement of operations if an audgist were required.

Management performed a two-step evaluation ofalpositions, ensuring that these tax return postimeet the “more
likely than not” recognition threshold and can beasured with sufficient precision to determineliraefit recognized in the
financial statements. These evaluations provideagament with a comprehensive model for how a comphould recognize,
measure, present, and disclose in its financiéistents certain tax positions that the Companytdieen or expects to take on
income tax returns.

Research and Development

Costs incurred in the research and developmeiteo€bmpany’s products are expensed as incurrelddied in research
and development costs are wages, benefits, proésagn consulting, and other operating costs ssdhadilities, supplies, and
overhead directly related to the Company’s reseanthdevelopment efforts.

Product Warranty Costs

The Company accrues estimated product warrantg edshe time of sale which are included in costadés in the
statements of operations. The amount of the acamaedanty liability is based on historical inforrimat such as past experience,
product failure rates, number of units repaired estimated cost of material and labor. The liibdifor product warranty
costs of $18,629 and $32,308 at December 31, 20d2@11, respectively, are included in accrued esgg in the
accompanying balance sheets.
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Fixed Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and deprecisitegl the straight-line method over the estimatexfuldife of each asset.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are cdmexpense as incurred. On disposal, the rekssets and accumulated
depreciation are eliminated from the accounts aydresulting gain or loss is included in the Compsustatement of
operations. Leasehold improvements are amortizedthe shorter of the estimated useful life ofithprovement or the
remaining term of the lease.

The Company periodically evaluates the recovetsthifi its fixed assets and other long-lived assdtsnever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that an eveimigdirment may have occurred. This periodic revieay result in an
adjustment of estimated depreciable lives or asgeirment. When indicators of impairment are pnésthe carrying values of
the asset are evaluated in relation to the aspetating performance and future undiscounted dastsfof the underlying
assets. If the future undiscounted cash flowses® than their book value, an impairment may extst.impairment is
measured as the difference between the book vallighe fair value of the underlying asset. Faiuealare based on estimates
of the market prices and assumptions concerningri@unt and timing of estimated future cash flond assumed discount
rates, reflecting varying degrees of perceived risk

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost is generally recednmatably over the requisite service period. Tbew@any uses the
Black-Scholes option pricing model for determinthg fair value of its stock options and amortizestock-based
compensation expense using the straight-line methloel Black-Scholes model requires certain assumgtihat involve
judgment. Such assumptions are the expected shiaeevplatility, expected life of options, expectadnual dividend yield, and
risk-free interest rate (See Note 3 — Stock-Basemiznsation and Equity).

Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is computed bdidiyinet loss by the weighted average number ofncomshares
outstanding during the period. Unvested restristeares, although legally issued and outstandimgnair considered
outstanding for purposes of calculating basic os$ per share. Diluted net loss per common sha@mguted by dividing net
loss by the weighted average number of common shanstanding during the period plus the dilutiffe@ of outstanding
instruments such as options, warrants, and restrigtiock. Because the Company has reported assetdoall periods
presented, diluted loss per common share is the sarbasic loss per common share, as the effetilining the fully diluted
share count would have reduced the net loss pemoanshare. Therefore, in calculating net loss paresamounts, the
following shares underlying potentially dilutiveromnon stock equivalents were excluded from the ¢aticun of diluted net
income per common share because their effect wasliautive for each of the periods presented:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Options 53,99¢ 91,41: 89,07¢
Warrants 741,54¢  238,41. 238,41:
Unvested restricted stock 31,69¢ 4,72°¢ 1,48¢

Total 827,24,  334,54! 328,97¢

Warrants outstanding at December 31, 2012 weredssuthe public offering completed on February 22 (see Note 14,
Public Offering of Common Stock and Warrants, fatlier details). Warrants outstanding at DecembieP811 and 2010 were
redeemed in March 2012 in exchange for 23,127 shafreommon stock.
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Advertising and Promotional Costs

Advertising and promotional costs are expensed@asied. Advertising and promotion expense was B $426,000,
and $256,000 in the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2010, respectively.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Items

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, at® #te Company had no components of other compséleincome
or loss other than net loss.

Segments

The Company operates in one segment for the satedical equipment and consumables. Substantihibf the
Company’s assets, revenues, and expenses fordne ¢reded December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 weatetbat or derived
from operations in the United States. Revenues Bales outside the United States accounted fooappately 7% of total
revenues in 2012, 6% of total revenues in 2011,28aaf total revenues in 2010.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to risks common to compani@se medical device industry, including, but fiotited to,
development by the Company or its competitors @f texhnological innovations, dependence on keygmeral, customers’
reimbursement from third-party payers, protectibproprietary technology, and compliance with regians of the FDA and
other governmental agencies.

In late 2011, the Company launched NC-stat DPNChwhbich is a fast, accurate, and quantitative nepreduction test for
the assessment of systemic neuropathies such asIBeBrly 2013 the Company launched SENSUS fotrgregment
intractable pain, including pain associated withbditic neuropathy. The future prospects of the Gomare closely tied to its
success with NC-stat DPNCheck and SENSUS in madadptance and growth in future revenues.

Recently Issued or Adopted Accounting Pronouncensent

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8par FASB, issued Accounting Standards Updaté2id, No. 2011-
04, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) — Amendmémtschieve Common Fair Value Measurement and Disci®
Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSr ASU 2011-04. The amendments in ASU 2011-0dlré@s common fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements in GAARraathational Financial Reporting Standards, &3 Consequently, the
amendments change the wording used to describe afdahg requirements in GAAP for measuring fairneabhnd for disclosing
information about fair value measurements. The Gomg@dopted this new guidance prospectively begindanuary 1, 2012.
Adoption has not had a material effect on the Camijsafinancial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011*@mmprehensive Income (Topic 220) — Presentatio@ahprehensive
Income”, or ASU No. 2011-05. ASU No. 2011-05 requires #ilhhonowner changes in stockholders’ equity lesented
either in a single continuous statement of comprsive income or in two separate but consecutivierstants, eliminating the
option to present other comprehensive income irsthiement of changes in equity. Under either &dgiems that are
reclassified from other comprehensive income tam=ime are required to be presented on the fatteedinancial statements
where the components of net income and the compeoénther comprehensive income are presentddetember 2011, the
FASB issued ASU No. 2011-12Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments ®Rhesentation of Reclassifications of
Items Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive IndormAecounting Standards Update No. 2011-Q%Vhich defers the
requirement within ASU No. 2011-05 to present omféice of the financial statements the effecteofassifications out of
accumulated other comprehensive income on the coemts of net income and other comprehensive indome| periods
presented. During the deferral, entities shouldinae to report reclassifications out of accumuaiéher comprehensive
income consistent
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with the presentation requirements in effect praothe issuance of ASU No. 2011-05. The Companytadbthis new guidance
retrospectively beginning January 1, 2012. Adoptias not had a material effect on the Companyaniiial statements.

3. Stock-Based Compensation and Stockholders’ Equyit

Stock-Based Compensation

During 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stocio®pind Incentive Plan, as amended and restat2@0é, 2008 and
2009. At the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held\tay 14, 2012, the stockholders of the Company @t the Company’s
Fourth Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Optionacehtive Plan (the “2004 Stock Plan”), which, amotiger things,
increased the number of shares of the Company’srmonstock authorized for issuance thereunder by6Bg6shares. The
2004 Stock Plan, among other things, provides faniing of incentive and nonqualified stock optard stock bonus awards to
officers, employees and outside consultants. Oudétg options under the 2004 Stock Plan generaist wver three or four
years and terminate 10 years after the grant datsgrlier if the option holder is no longer an @xtéve officer, employee,
consultant, advisor or director, as applicablehefCompany. As of December 31, 2012, 276,279 stafreommon stock were
authorized for issuance under the 2004 Stock Pfamhich 9,272 shares had been issued, 47,907 shane subject to
outstanding options at a weighted average exepeise of $72.06 per share and 176,882 shares waikable for future grant.

During May 2009, the Company adopted the 2009 Naahfed Inducement Stock Plan (the “2009 Induceni®an”). The
2009 Inducement Plan is intended to encourage aalble employees, including prospective employefetheoCompany upon
whose judgment, initiative, and efforts the Compkamgely depends for the successful conduct diusiness to acquire a
proprietary interest in the Company. The 2009 Irdoent Plan, among other things, provides for thatyrg of awards,
including non-qualified stock options, restrictédck, and unrestricted stock. As of December 312223,889 shares of
common stock were authorized for issuance unde2@8 Inducement Plan, of which no shares had isseed, 2,083 shares
were subject to outstanding options at a weightedame exercise price of $9.60 per share, and @ERéres were available for
future grant.

The exercise price of each stock option issued m#e1996 and 1998 Stock Plans was specified &ytard of Directors
at the time of grant. The exercise price of stogkoms awarded under the 2004 Stock Plan and the R@lucement Plan may
not be less than the fair market value of the comstock on the date of the option grant. For halddémore than 10% of the
Company’s total combined voting power of all claseéstock, incentive stock options may not be @t less than 110% of
the fair market value of the Company’s common statcthe date of grant and for a term not to exdedyears.

In June 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Empisieek Purchase Plan (the “2004 ESPP”). All of@menpany’s
employees who had been employed by the Compargt feast 60 days and whose customary employménit inore than 20
hours per week and for more than five months in@aigndar year were eligible to participate and employee who owned
5% or more of the voting power or value of the Camys stock was not eligible to participate. Th@2E&ESPP authorized the
issuance of up to a total of 10,417 shares of tra@any’s common stock to participating employees.

In May 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Empl&teek Purchase Plan (the “2010 ESPP"). The 201(PEGiRally
authorized the issuance of up to a total of 6,98es, of the Company’s common stock to partiaiygagimployees plus an
annual increase on the first day of each of the @omy's fiscal years beginning in 2011, equal tdekser of (i) 6,945 shares,
(i) 1 percent of the shares of common stock ontitay on the last day of the immediately precediscal year, or (iii) such
lesser number of shares as is determined by thelBAtithe Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholdeetd on May 14,
2012, the stockholders of the Company approve€tirapany’s Amended and Restated 2010 Employee $octhase Plan
(the “Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP”), which, gnotimer things, increased the number of shardseo€bmpany’s
common stock authorized for issuance thereundd6k§67 shares. All of the Company’s
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full-time employees and certain part-time employaeseligible to participate in the Amended andt&esl 2010 ESPP. For
part-time employees to be eligible, they must hanstomary employment of more than five months in @alendar year and
more than 20 hours per week. Employees who, afencising their rights to purchase shares undeAthended and Restated
2010 ESPP, would own shares representing 5% or afdhe voting power of the Company’s common staak, ineligible to
participate.

Under the Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP, patii@pgemployees can authorize the Company to withlaplto 10% of
their earnings during consecutive six-month paynpemiods for the purchase of the shares. At thelosion of each period,
participating employees can purchase shares atd33B& lower of their fair market value at the beghg or end of the period.
The Amended and Restated 2010 ESPP is regardecoaspensatory plan. For the years ended Decembh&032 and 2011
the Company issued 8,895 and 4,090 shares ofritsnom stock, respectively, under the Amended andafes2010 ESPP and
the 2010 ESPP, respectively. As of December 312 2biere were 21,765 remaining shares to be issoddr the Amended and
Restated 2010 ESPP.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricingehfor determining the fair value of shares ahogon stock issued
or to be issued under the 2010 ESPP and the AmeamikRestated 2010 ESPP. The following assumpéionssed in
determining fair value: The risk-free interest ragsumption is based on the United States Treasaoyistant maturity rate for
a six month term (corresponding to the expectetoperm) on the date the option was granted. Kpeeted dividend yield is
zero because the Company does not currently pagetigls nor expects to do so during the expectadrofgrm. An expected
term of six months is used based on the durati@aoh plan offering period. The volatility assuroptis based on a
consideration of stock price volatility over the shoecent period of time corresponding to the etqueterm and is also based
on expected future stock price volatility.

The weighted average grant-date fair value uséldeirtalculation of stock-based compensation expiende
accompanying statement of operations for the yeaded December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 is cadclleging the following
assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Risk-free interest rate 0.6% —0.9% 0.9% -2.3% 1.0% —2.8%
Expected dividend yield — — —
Expected option term 5 years 5—6 year 5 years
Volatility 70.0% 70.0% 70.0%

The risk-free interest rate assumption is basetthetnited States Treasury’s constant maturity fiata five year term
(corresponding to the expected option term) ordtte the option was granted. The expected divigéid is zero as the
Company does not currently pay dividends nor exptcto so during the expected option term. Theebgal option term of
five years is estimated based on an analysis ahhoption exercises and a review of comparableicaédevice companies.
The volatility assumption is based on weekly histdrvolatility during the time period that corresls to the expected option
term, a review of comparable medical device comgmand expected future stock price volatility. Phe-vesting forfeiture
rate is based on the historical and projected aeetarnover rate of employees.
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A summary of option activity for the year ended Braber 31, 2012 is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Number of Average Contractual Life Aggregate
Options Exercise Price (in years) Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 56,43: $ 80.8:
Granted 617 4.62
Exercised — —
Forfeited (5,39)) 143.4(
Expired (209 81.0(
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 51,55( 73.3¢ 6.8C $ —
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2(  50,87: 74.1C 6.77 —
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 40,78¢ 85.6: 6.4¢ —

Expected to vest options are determined by applfiegre-vesting forfeiture rate to the total cansling options.
Aggregate intrinsic value represents the totaltpreintrinsic value (the aggregate difference betwihe closing stock price of
the Company’s common stock as of December 31, 288 applicable, and the exercise price for th&@rhoney options) that
would have been received by the option holder8 tha in-the-money options had been exercised eoenber 31, 2012.

The weighted average per share grant-date faiesadfioptions granted during the years ended Deee81 2012, 2011,
and 2010 was $2.67, $11.34, and $28.44, respegtivel

The aggregate intrinsic value of options issueexarcised during the years ended December 31, 2012, and 2010 was
$0, $0, and $3,000, respectively.

Total unrecognized stock-based compensation celstted to non-vested stock options was $251,74ihwielated to
49,043 shares with a per share weighted fair vel#5.16 as of December 31, 2012. This unrecogripstlis expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of apmibely 0.6 years.

Stock options granted to non-employees are recatfadr value and adjusted to market over theinggieriod. The
Company determines fair value using the Black-Sehoption pricing model, an expected term equ#iecption term, a risk-
free interest rate corresponding to the expecten, ta stock price volatility over the most receatipd of time corresponding to
the expected term and also based on expected fthaok price volatility, and a dividend yield ofree There were no options
granted to non-employees during the year endedrbleee31, 2012.

Beginning in 2010, certain employees have beentgdamstricted stock. During 2012, 2011, and 2@i® Company
granted 37,167, 3,630, and 2,616 shares of resdratock, respectively. The fair value of restdcttock is calculated based on
the closing sale price of the Company’s commonkstocthe date of issuance.

A summary of restricted stock activity for the yeaded December 31, 2012 is presented below:

Weighted Average

Restricted Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Restricted shares at December 31, 2011 4,48¢ $ 28.3:
Granted 37,167 4.2C
Vested (3,33)) (24.3¢6)
Canceled (52 (20.1¢)

Restricted shares at December 31, 2012 38,27: $ 5.2t
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During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2@tthin employees, in lieu of paying withholdingda on the vesting
of restricted stock, authorized the withholdingpafaggregate of 721 and 147 shares, respectiviatpnomon stock to satisfy
the minimum tax withholding requirements relatedtich vesting. Shares withheld were calculatedyusia market price of
the common stock on the vesting dates.

During 2010, certain employees received bonus pajgrie the form of common stock. A total of 307 Isstares were
issued with a total intrinsic value of $23,000.

Cash received from option exercises and purchasdsr uhe 2004 ESPP and the 2010 ESPP for the grdesl December
31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 was $23,000, $34,000$468,000, respectively. The Company issues neveshgron option
exercises, purchases under the Company’s ESPPseatiidg of restricted stock.

The Company recorded stock-based compensation sméi$319,000, $837,000, and $1.2 million foryhars ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Stockholders’ Equity

On February 13, 2012, the Company completed a poKring of 1,421,735 Units at a price of $6.@&0 pnit. Each Unit
consists of one share of the Company’s common stodkone warrant to purchase one half of a shatteea€ompany’s
common stock. The Company issued 1,421,735 shaeesronon stock and warrants to purchase 781,95 sld common
stock and received offering proceeds, net of distgicommissions and expenses, of approximatelyifiilion. See Note 14,
Public Offering of Common Stock and Warrants, fatlier details.

In March 2012, the Company issued 23,127 sharés ocbmmon stock, $0.0001 par value per sharegtisfaction of the
Company’s obligation to redeem certain warrantsddsoy the Company pursuant to Securities Purchgssements dated as
of September 8, 2009. No cash was paid to redeewahrants.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had 50,000:886:s of common stock authorized and 2,140,83eskhssued and
outstanding. Each share of common stock entitiehithder to one vote on all matters submittedvota of the Company’s
stockholders. Common stockholders are not entitlgeceive dividends unless declared by the Bo&Rirectors.

At December 31, 2012, the Company has reserved@dzgid shares of common stock for future issuasdelows:

Warrants 781,95:
Outstanding stock options 51,54¢
Possible future issuance under stock option plans 188,68
Possible future issuance under employee stock paecplan 21,76¢
Total 1,043,95!

On March 7, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directatepted a Shareholder Rights Plan and declareddedd
distribution of one preferred stock purchase righteach outstanding share of the Company’s comstaek to shareholders of
record as of the close of business on March 8, 2886f December 31, 2012 and 2011, there was ef@ped stock
outstanding.

4. Intangible Assets

In January 2009, the Company acquired certain tdofical and intellectual property assets from Cilmetics
Neurotechnology Systems, Inc., or Cyberkinetics, Andara Life Science, Inc., a wholly-owned submigiof Cyberkinetics,
for $350,000 in cash. The Company had been amugtihiese intangible assets using the straightdiiethod over their
economic lives, which was estimated to be five geResearch and development expenses includedizatiort of this
technological and intellectual property of $17,560the quarter March 31, 2011. Following its demmisto terminate
development work
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related to this technology, the Company recordetiwresearch and development expense in the separter of 2011 an
impairment charge of $192,500 for the remainingnooiized balance of these assets. There was ndiaatmn expense in the
year ended December 31, 2012. Amortization expirgbe year ended December 31, 2010 was $70,000.

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 2011

Gross Accumulated Net
Intangibles Amortization Impairment Intangibles
Technological and intellectual property $ 350,00 $ (157,500  $(192,500 $ —

5. Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,

2012 2011
Purchased components $ 187,56° $ 423,00
Finished goods 646,95¢ 1,340,69:

$ 834,52t $ 1,763,700

The decrease in the inventory balance at Decentheé2(® 2, reflects the Company’s efforts to manageritory balances.
6. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consist of the following:

Estimated December 31,
Useful Life
(Years) 2012 2011
Computer and laboratory equipment 3 $2,689,51! $2,597,96
Furniture and equipment 3 644,03: 774,53:
Production equipment 7 997,29 1,061,18!
Leasehold improvements * 179,99° 179,99°

4,510,84 4,613,68.
Less — accumulated depreciation (4,216,95|) (4,130,159

$ 293,897 $ 483,53

* Lesser of life of lease or estimated useful life.

Depreciation expense was $239,168, $359,432, ab8, $86 for the years ended December 31, 2012, 201112010,
respectively.

A capital lease is included as a component of furaiand equipment at December 31, 2012 and 20hbr#zation of
assets under this capital lease is included inedégion expense. See Note 10 — Commitments amtir@encies for more
information regarding this capital lease.

F-17







TABLE OF CONTENTS

NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

7. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following for tearg ended December 31, 2011 and 2010:

December 31,

2012 2011
Technology fees $ 450,000 $ 450,41t
Professional services 248,75¢ 298,28:
Supplier obligations 105,13: 236,59:
Sales taxes 62,38¢ 65,217
Other 82,561 171,64

$ 948,84! $ 1,222,15!

8. Restructuring Related Activity

In January 2011, the Company announced it hacusated its neurodiagnostic activities to moreaifintly focus its
efforts on its installed base of active accourtsHift distribution to independent sales represtérdgs, and to reduce cash
consumption. Twenty-five positions were eliminatpdarily in sales. Charges totaled $2.2 milliefated to severance costs
and inventory. Approximately $2.0 million, consimgiof $0.2 million in severance and $1.8 milliorinmentory charges, was
recorded as of December 31, 2010 and the balarmgpobximately $0.2 million in severance was reedroh 2011. The full
amount of the charge was paid as of December 311,.20

During the third quarter of 2010, the Company impdaited a reduction in workforce that resulted amdélimination of 25
positions and recorded a charge of $172,000 priynagliated to severance expenses. The full amodutiteocharge was paid as
of September 30, 2010.

The following table provides a rollforward of thability balance for these restructuring actionfystantially all of which
were recorded as sales and marketing expense @aimpany’s Statement of Operations.

Year Ended
December 31,
2011
Balance at beginning of period $ 208,33
Accrual for severance 184,65¢
Severance payments made (392,989
Balance at end of period $ —

9. Income Taxes

Current income tax expense (benefit) attributableantinuing operations consists of the following the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010.

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Federal — — (120,49
State — — —
Total — — (120,490

The Company’s effective income tax rate differgrrthe statutory federal income tax rate as follfavghe years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010.
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9. Income Taxes — (continued)

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Federal tax provision (benefit) rate (34.0% (34.0% (34.0%
State tax provision, net of federal provision (3.5 (3.9 (3.5
Permanent items 0.€ 1.¢ 14
Federal research and development credits — (0.5 (0.6)
Valuation allowance 36.7 36.C 36.C
Effective income tax rate —% —% (0.9%

The Company’s deferred tax assets consist of thenfimg:

December 31,

2012 2011

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $30,514,46  $ 26,907,39

Research and development credit carryforwards 1,547,37. 1,494,80:

Accrued expenses 643,95. 297,50:

Stock-based compensation 593,13: 571,65:

Other 1,048,54. 1,215,73!
Total gross deferred tax assets 34,347,46 30,487,08
Valuation allowance (34,347,46) (30,487,08)
Net deferred tax asse $ —  $ —

At December 31, 2012, the Company has federal &ate set operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”) ofo$8 million and
$38.0 million, respectively, as well as federal atate tax credits of $1.0 million and $901,008pestively, which may be
available to reduce future taxable income and ¢feged taxes thereon. This amount includes taxflieé $3.7 million and
$71,000 attributable to NOL and tax credit carryfards, respectively, that result from the exerofsemployee stock options.
The tax benefit of these items will be recorded asedit to additional paid-in capital upon rediiza of the deferred tax asset
or reduction in income taxes payable. The fedef@L begin to expire in 2019 and the state NOL'gihdo expire in 2013.
The federal and state research and developmentschedh begin to expire in 2018.

In accordance with the provisions of the Incomeékatopic of the Codification, the Company has eataid the positive and
negative evidence bearing upon the realizabilitiiofleferred tax assets, which are comprised ipatlg of net operating
losses. Management has determined that it is nilazly khan not that the Company will not recogniize benefits of federal
and state deferred tax assets and, as a resalijaion allowance of approximately and $34.3 willand $30.5 million has
been established at December 31, 2012 and 201Eatasely.

Utilization of the NOL and research and developneeatlit carryforwards may be subject to a substhatinual limitation
due to ownership change limitations that have aecupreviously or that could occur in the future paovided by Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as well miai state provisions. Ownership changes may fh@tamount of NOL and
tax credit carryforwards that can be utilized ttsef future taxable income and tax, respectivelygéneral, an ownership
change, as defined by Section 382, results frons#éetions increasing the ownership of certain $twdders or public groups in
the stock of a corporation by more than 50 peregntmints over a three-year period.

If the Company has experienced a change of conttitization of its NOL or tax credits carryforwagdvould be subject to
an annual limitation under Section 382. Any limtatmay result in expiration of a portion of the NOr research and
development credit carryforwards before utilizati8ubsequent ownership
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9. Income Taxes — (continued)

changes could further impact the limitation in fietyears. Further, until a study is completed andlianitation known, no
amounts are being presented as an uncertain t&iopos

A full valuation allowance has been provided agatine Company’s NOL carryforwards and researchdewlopment
credit carryforwards and, if an adjustment is reepli this adjustment would be offset by an adjustn@the valuation
allowance. Thus, there would be no impact to tHerlz® sheet or statement of operations if an audgist were required.

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases
Lease Agreement with Fourth Avenue LLC

In June 2012, the Company amended the Lease Agreéelated October 18, 2000 between Fourth Avenue ah€the
Company for office and engineering laboratory sgacextend the term of the lease through Marct2814. Base rent for the
period January 2013 through March 2014 is $52,%7onth.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelg@mbng leases as of December 31, 2012 are asvioll

2013 $ 635,00«
2014 158,75:
Total minimum lease payments $ 793,75

Total recorded rent expense was $709,164, $764ar1$764,754 for the years ended December 31, 2014, and 2010,
respectively. The Company records rent expensésdadility lease on a straight-line basis overldase term.

Capital Lease

In October 2010, the Company entered into a nocealable capital lease for copiers located at itp@@te headquarters
valued at $60,410, expiring in September 2013.

Future minimum lease payments under the capitaklea of December 31, 2012 are as follows:

2013 $ 18,44t
Total minimum lease payments 18,44¢
Less: Amount representing imputed interest 517

Present value of future minimum lease payments $  17,92¢

Other Commitments

At December 31, 2012, other commitments, comprifgalirchase orders, totaled approximately $566,628.

11. Fair Value Measurements

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures TdpticeoCodification defines fair value, establislesamework for
measuring fair value in applying generally acceecbunting principles, and expands disclosurestdiag value
measurements. This Codification topic identifies &inds of inputs that are used to determine thevédue of assets and
liabilities: observable and unobservable. Obsepsaiputs are based on market data or independantesowhile unobservable
inputs are based on the Company’s own market aggumspOnce inputs have been characterized, thifiCation topic
requires companies to prioritize the inputs usemhéasure fair value into one of three broad levddr. values determined by
Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjustedactive markets for identical assets or liab#itiBair values identified by
Level 2 inputs utilize observable inputs other thanel 1 prices, such as quoted prices for sinsitsets or
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11. Fair Value Measurements — (continued)

liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are active or other inputs that are observable or @odiroborated by observable
market data for substantially the full term of tleéated assets or liabilities. Fair values ideetifby Level 3 inputs are
unobservable data points and are used to measurlize to the extent that observable inputs ateamailable. Unobservable
inputs reflect the Company’s own assumptions ati@iaissumptions that market participants wouldatiggicing the asset or
liability.

The following tables present information about @@mpany’s assets and liabilities that are measairéair value on a
recurring basis for the periods presented and a&tegcthe fair value hierarchy of the valuation tégbes it utilized to determine
such fair value. In general, fair values determibgd.evel 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjd¥ta active markets for
identical assets or liabilities. Fair values detiered by Level 2 inputs utilize data points that abservable such as quoted
prices, interest rates, and yield curves. Fairaslletermined by Level 3 inputs are unobservatikepmizints for the asset or
liability, and include situations where there ildj if any, market activity for the asset or lidp.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2012 Using

Quoted Prices in

Active Markets  Significant Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
December 31, Assets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 519,24: $ 519,24: $ — 3 —
Total $ 519,24 $ 519,24. $ — % —
Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2011 Using
Significant
Quoted Prices in Other Significant
Active Markets Observable Unobservable
December 31, for Identical Inputs Inputs
2011 Assets (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 559,42° $ 559,42° $ — 3 —

Total $ 559,42° $ 559,42° % — 3 —

12. Retirement Plan

The Company established a 401(k) defined contdugiavings plan for its employees who meet cedeimice period and
age requirements. Contributions are permitted tpdanaximum allowed under the Internal RevenueeGddach covered
employee’s salary. The savings plan permits the 2oy to contribute at its discretion. For the yearded December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010 the Company made no conwifmito the plan.

13. Credit Facility

The Company is party to a Loan and Security Agreenae the Credit Facility, with a bank. As of Dedger 31, 2012 the
Credit Facility permitted the Company to borrowta$7.5 million on a revolving basis. The CreditHity was subsequently
amended on January 28, 2013 and the amount ofrdditEacility was set at $2.5 million. The amendaallity was extended,
until its new expiry date of January 31, 2014. Amsiborrowed under the Credit Facility will beateirest equal to the prime
rate plus 0.5%. Any borrowings under the Creditiligavill be secured by the Company’s cash, acdsurceivable, inventory,
and equipment. The Credit Facility includes tradil lending and reporting covenants. These inctgdtain financial
covenants applicable to liquidity that are to bentaaned by the Company. As of December 31, 2042 Gompany was in
compliance with these covenants and had not bod@mg funds under the Credit Facility. The amour$225,000 of the
Credit Facility limit is restricted to support dtkr of credit issued in favor of the Company’sdinnd in the lease of its facilities
in Waltham, Massachusetts. Consequently, the
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13. Credit Facility — (continued)

amount available for borrowing under the CreditiRgtas of December 31, 2012 was $7,275,000 ansl sudsequently
reduced to $2,275,000 on January 28, 2013, as abiedk.

14. Public Offering of Common Stock and Warrants

On February 13, 2012, the Company completed a pofring of 1,421,735 Units at a price of $6.@9 pnit (the
“Offering”). Each Unit consists of one share of empany’s common stock and one warrant to purcbaséalf of a share of
the Company’s common stock. The Company issuedL1788 shares of common stock and warrants to psechf0,868
shares of common stock and received offering pagaeet of discounts, commissions and expenseqpmbximately $7.4
million. Each warrant entitles the holder to puishat any time during the period commencing 183 ddter the date of the
Offering until the date five years following thesing date of the Offering, one half of a sharéhefCompany’s common stock.
Two warrants would need to be exercised to acauieeshare of the Company’s common stock at an isegpcice of $6.90
(115% of the aggregate offering price for a unit)addition, the placement agent for the Offerirgpvissued warrants to
purchase 71,087 shares of common stock (equaD® bf the number of shares of common stock includede Units sold in
the Offering) at an exercise price of $7.50 perel{a25% of the aggregate offering price for a Yrihe placement agent’s
warrants will be exercisable at any time beginrong year after the date of issuance and will exgiréhe fifth anniversary of
the effectiveness of the registration statemeumtedlto the Offering.

The fair value of the warrants was estimated at #illion using a Black-Scholes model with the éoling assumptions:
expected volatility of 73.5%, risk free interesteraf 0.85%, expected life of five years, and nadénds. The volatility
assumption is based on weekly historical volatilitying the time period that corresponds to thezetgdl option term, a review
of comparable medical device companies, and exgpdatare stock price volatility. The relative faialue of the warrants was
recorded as equity.

15. Reverse Stock Splits

The Company’s common stock is quoted on the NASOZgpital Market under the symbol “NURO.” One of the
requirements for continued listing on the NASDAQ@al Market is maintenance of a minimum closing price of $1.00 per
share. Because the Company’s common stock hadtizebng below a price of $1.00 per share, and wagest to delisting
from The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, or NASDAQ as a&udt, on September 1, 2011, the Company filed &ifidate of
Amendment to its Restated Certificate of Incorporgtas amended, with the Secretary of State obthte of Delaware, to
effect a 1-for-6 reverse stock split of its comnstwock, or the Reverse Stock Split. This action ieviously been approved by
the Company'’s stockholders at the Company’s anme&tting held on May 16, 2011. As a result of thedRee Stock Split,
every six shares of the Company’s pre-reverse gplitmon stock were combined and reclassified inmghare of its common
stock. No fractional shares were issued in conoedtiith the Reverse Stock Split. Stockholders wireavise would have
been entitled to receive a fractional share in ection with the Reverse Stock Split received a gasiment in lieu thereof. The
par value and other terms of the common stock wetaffected by the Reverse Stock Split.

The Company'’s shares outstanding immediately poidne Reverse Stock Split totaled 23,331,646, Wwihiere adjusted to
3,888,607 shares outstanding as a result of therBestock Split. The Company’s common stock bégaling at its post-
Reverse Stock Split price at the beginning of trgdin September 2, 2011. On September 19, 201Cdhwany received a
letter from NASDAQ indicating that it had regaineainpliance with the minimum bid price requirementler NASDAQ
Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) for continued listing onerNASDAQ Capital Market. The Company’s common stooktinued to be
listed on NASDAQ.

On March 22, 2012, the Company received a notm® fthe Listing Qualifications Department of the N2&Q Stock
Market indicating that, for the last 30 consecutiwsiness days, the bid price for its common stazk closed below the
minimum $1.00 per share required for continuedusicin on The NASDAQ Capital Market under NASDAQtlrig Rule 5550
(a)(2). The notification letter stated that purdutarNASDAQ Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A) the Compawpuld be afforded 180
calendar days, or until
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15. Reverse Stock Splits — (continued)

September 18, 2012, to regain compliance with tirémnum bid price requirement. On September 19, 2@ Company
received a letter from NASDAQ stating that it hagkb granted a six month extension until March 088320 regain
compliance with the minimum bid price requirememtdontinued listing on The NASDAQ Capital MarkBuring this grace
period extension, the Company’s common stock waititmue to be listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market.

In order to regain compliance, shares of the Colyisarommon stock must maintain a minimum bid clggimice of at least
$1.00 per share for a minimum of ten consecutivarass days. Therefore, on February 15, 2013, ¢timep@ny filed a
Certificate of Amendment to its Restated Certifcat Incorporation, as amended, with the SecreifBtate of the State of
Delaware, to effect a second 1-for-6 reverse séptik of its common stock, or the Second ReverselSEplit. This action had
previously been approved by the Company’s stocldrsldt a special meeting of stockholders held czeBéer 7, 2012. As a
result of the Second Reverse Stock Split, everglsates of the Company’s pre-reverse split comrnmeksvere combined and
reclassified into one share of its common stockfridctional shares were issued in connection vigh8econd Reverse Stock
Split. Stockholders who otherwise would have beatitled to receive a fractional share in connectigth the Second Reverse
Stock Split received a cash payment in lieu ther€bé par value and other terms of the common siarke not affected by the
Second Reverse Stock Split.

The Company’s shares outstanding immediately poidhe Second Reverse Stock Split totaled 12,8485,PRese were
adjusted to 2,140,871 shares outstanding as & mfthk Reverse Stock Split. The Company’s comstook began trading at
its post-Second Reverse Stock Split price at tlggninéng of trading on February 19, 2013. Share,gbare, and stock option
amounts for all periods presented within this ahnegort on Form 10-K and the amounts for commaoglstind additional
paid-in capital have been retroactively adjusteckftiect the Second Reverse Stock Split.

16. Management Retention and Incentive Plan

On August 2, 2012, the Company adopted the ManageRetention and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), undlich a portion
of the consideration payable upon a change of abtmansaction, as defined in the Plan, would bd pacash to certain
executive officers and key employees and recordembmpensation expense within the Statement ofalipas during the
period in which the change of control transactionurs. The Plan is structured to work in conjurnctigth, and not replace, the
Company’s other incentive programs and is desigagulovide market-based incentives which will béuged over time by any
future equity grants to participants.
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Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Balance at Chargedto  Charged to
Beginning of costs and other Recoveries/ Balance at

Description Period expenses accounts (Deductions) End of Period
December 31, 2012

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 28661 $ (12,999 $ — $ (143610@ $  130,00(

Sales Returns Reserve 13,30: — 180,06t (171,759 @ 21,61¢

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan  30,487,08 3,900,38: — (40,006¢) (©) 34,347,46
December 31, 2011

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 379,100 $ 30,82 $ — $ (123319@ ¢ 286,61

Sales Returns Reserve 26,86 — 272,60° (286,17() @ 13,30:

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan  28,670,03  3,803,22: —  (1,986,17)® 30,487,08
December 31, 2010

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 370,00( 657 — 8,44:1) 379,10(

Sales Returns Reserve 144,36: — 655,89( (773,38) @ 26,86¢

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowan 22,513,21 6,147,63: — 9,18((3) 28,670,03

(1) Net recoveries
(2) Net write-offs.

(3) Expiration of Federal and State Net Operatingd Carryforwards and other reductions.




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:-BL8059, 333-
135242, 333-151195, 333-159712, 333-159713, 333-8®,7333-173769 and 333-183071) and on Form S-3.(BR&3-150087,
333-162303, 333-165784 and 333-178165) of Neurdbjdtrc. of our report dated February 25, 2013tietato the financial
statements and financial statement schedule, vappears in this Form 10-K. We also consent toéference to us under the
heading “Selected Financial Data” in this Form 10-K

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 25, 2013




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Shai N. Gozani, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16ffeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleadir
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaard for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures designed und
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entitiestigularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the temig's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrafes financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorgldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardioéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 25, 2013 /sI SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Thomas T. Higgins, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16ffeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiomny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleadir
with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaard for, the periods
presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) and internal control over firiaheporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d)15¢r the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures designed und
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entitiestigularly during the period in which this rep@tbeing prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over financigloréing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeradsurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentidsineport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the temig's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrsts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimaport) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, the registrant’s internal contrafes financial reporting;
and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditorgldhe audit committee of the registrant’s boardioéctors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weadses in the design or operation of internal corvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizd report financial
information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: February 25, 2013 /sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS

Thomas T. Higgins
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer afmasurer




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18,
United States Code), each of the undersigned offisENeuroMetrix, Inc., a Delaware corporatiore(titompany”), does
hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report for the year ended December @12 Zthe “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully compliesgth the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéeasrExchange Act of 1934, as amended, and tlwerirdtion contained in the
Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respetit® financial condition and results of operatiohthe Company.

Date: February 25, 2013 /s SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D.

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 25, 2013 /sl THOMAS T. HIGGINS

Thomas T. Higgins
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer afmasurer

This certification is being furnished and not fileshd shall not be incorporated into any documenafy purpose, under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securitiesof 1933.




